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MANAGER

Quill Capita Management Sdn. Bhd.
(Company No. 737252-X)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF THE 
MANAGER

Level 33A, Menara NU 2,  
No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan, 
Kuala Lumpur Sentral,  
50470 Kuala Lumpur.
  
Telephone No. : 603-2786 8080
Facsimile No. : 603-2780 7668

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
OF THE MANAGER

Level 35, Menara NU 2,  
No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan, 
Kuala Lumpur Sentral,  
50470 Kuala Lumpur.
  
Telephone No. : 603-2786 8080
Facsimile No. : 603-2780 7988

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE MANAGER

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon  
Dato' Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.  
Dato' Michael Ong Leng Chun 
Datuk Dr. Roslan Bin A. Ghaffar 
Foong Soo Hah   
Ann Wan Tee  
Kwan Joon Hoe  
Aminuddin Bin Mohd Arif  

SECRETARY
OF THE MANAGER

Mohamed Noor Rahim Bin Yahaya
(MAICSA 0866820) 

 
Irene Ho Ngan Chui
(MAICSA 7014785)  

BANKERS

Malayan Banking Berhad

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Main Market of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad

WEBSITE

www.mrcbquillreit.com

TRUSTEE

Maybank Trustees Berhad 
8th Floor, Menara Maybank,
100, Jalan Tun Perak,
50050 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

Telephone No. : 603-2078 8363
Facsimile No. : 603-2070 9387

PROPERTY MANAGERS

Zaharin Nexcap Property Management  
Sdn. Bhd.   
Suite 23-5, Oval Tower Damansara, 
Menara Permata Damansara,  
No. 685, Jalan Damansara,  
60000 Kuala Lumpur. 
 
Telephone No. : 603-7733 2122
Facsimile No. : 603-7733 2103

REGISTRAR

Symphony Share Registrars Sdn. Bhd.
Level 6, Symphony House,
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1,
Jalan PJU 1A/46,
47301 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia.

Telephone No. : 603-7841 8000
Facsimile No. : 603-7841 8151/8152

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Level 23A, Menara Milenium,
Jalan Damanlela,
Pusat Bandar Damansara,
50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

Telephone No. : 603-7495 8000
Facsimile No. : 603-2095 5332

TAX AGENT

Ernst & Young Tax Consultants
Sdn. Bhd.  
Level 23A, Menara Milenium, 
Jalan Damanlela,  
Pusat Bandar Damansara, 
50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.  

Telephone No. : 603-7495 8000
Facsimile No. : 603-2095 5332/7043

INTERNAL AUDITOR

BDO Governance Advisory Sdn. Bhd. 
Level 8, BDO @ Menara CenTARa, 
360 Jalan Tuanku Abdul Rahman, 
50100 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.  

Telephone No. : 603-2616 2888
Facsimile No. : 603-2616 2829

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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SALIENT FEATURES OF MRCB-QUILL REIT

Category of Fund Real Estate Investment Trust

Type of Fund Income and growth

Termination Date/

Duration of the Fund

The earlier of:

a) The occurrence of any events listed in clause 26.2 of the Trust Deed; or

b) The expiration of a period of twenty one (21) years after the death of the last 

survivor of the issue now living of his majesty, the current Yang Di Pertuan 

Agung in Malaysia or until such further period as the law may permit

Approved Fund Size 1,100,000,000

Investment Objective To acquired and invest in commercial properties primarily in Malaysia with a view to 

provide long term growth and sustainable distribution of income to unitholders and 

to achieve long term growth in net asset value per unit of MQREIT

Distribution Policy Semi-annual distribution

Manager’s Fee

Trustee’s Fee

Financial Year End

Board Lot 100 units per board lot

Listing 

Stock Name MQREIT

Stock Code

Date of Listing 8 January 2007
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To acquire and invest in 

commercial properties primarily 

in Malaysia with a view to 

provide long-term growth and 

sustainable distribution of 

income to unitholders to achieve 

long-term growth in the net 

asset value (“NAV”) per Unit. 

 Listed as Quill Capita Trust 

on 8 January 2007.

 Changed its name to its 

present name on 2 April 

2015 following change in 

sponsors.

Maybank Trustees 

Berhad (“Trustee”)

Distribution in the form 

of dividends & other 

distributions

Investment in MQREIT

Management

services

Management

fee

Trustee’s fee

Acts on behalf of 

Unitholders

Unitholders

Ownership of assets 

(vested in Trustee)

Rental and other 

income

MRCB-Quill 

Management Sdn Bhd

(“Manager”)(1)

Property 

management

services

Property 

management

fee

Zaharin Nexcap Property 

Management Sdn Bhd

(“Property Manager”)

REIT

Portfolio Assets

Quill Building 1 – DHL1

Quill Building 4 – DHL2

Quill Building 2 – HSBC

Quill Building 3 – BMW

Wisma Technip

Part of Plaza Mont’ Kiara

Quill Building 5 – IBM

Tesco Penang

Platinum Sentral

Menara Shell

Note:  

(1)  Shareholders of the Manager comprise of Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad (“MRCB”) (41%), Quill Resources Holding Sdn Bhd (39%), 

and Global Jejaka Sdn Bhd (20%).

Investment 
Objective

Background 
of MQREIT

TRUST STRUCTURE
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Audit

Committee

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.

Dato‘ Michael Ong Leng Chun

Datuk Dr. Roslan bin A. Ghaffar

Foong Soo Hah

Ann Wan Tee

Kwan Joon Hoe

Aminuddin bin Mohd Arif

Yong Su-Lin

Investment

Finance
Investor

Relations

Asset

Management

Leasing

Legal & 

Compliance

Nomination

and

Remuneration

Committee

BOARD OF

DIRECTORS

CHIEF

EXECUTIVE

OFFICER

ORGANISATION STRUCTURE OF THE MANAGER
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER

TAN SRI SAW CHOO BOON

Chairman and Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date appointed to the Board

22 January 2016

Board Committee Membership(s)

Nil

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership

 

Present Directorship(s)

Working Experience: 

He served in various capacities in manufacturing, supply, 

trading and planning in Malaysia, Singapore and Netherlands. 

(Downstream) Shell Malaysia and MD of Shell Refining 

2010 as Senior Advisor, position he held till his retirement on 

 

DATO’ DR. LOW MOI ING, J.P. 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date appointed to the Board
12 June 2006

Board Committee Membership(s)

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership
 Doctor of Philosophy in Design, Millennium 

 Doctor of Philosophy in Entrepreneurship (Honoris 

Present Directorship(s)

Working Experience:
Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. started her career with MAA 

properties, which includes integrated property development, 
construction, interior design and architectural services. 

development, building construction and renovation, 

Dato’ Dr Low is a director and substantial shareholder of Quill 

shareholder of MQM.

Awards

 

 
 Woman Entrepreneur of the Year Award (2011) by the 
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DATO’ MICHAEL ONG LENG CHUN
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date appointed to the Board
12 June 2006

Board Committee Membership(s)
Nil

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership

Present Directorship(s)

Working Experience:

includes integrated property development, construction, 

strength lies in the integration of IT services into the building 

responsible for and has extensive experience in the design, 

substantial shareholder of MQM.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER
(cont’d)

FOONG SOO HAH 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date appointed to the Board 

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Board Committee Membership(s)

 Member of the Nomination & Remuneration 

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership
 

Present Directorship(s)

 Aviva Ltd

Other Memberships/Appointments/Involvements
 Perbadanan Insurans Deposit Malaysia (PIDM)
 Private Pension Administrator (PPA) Malaysia

Working Experience:

President overseeing marketing, agency management and 
new businesses and subsequently, was appointed as Director 
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER
(cont’d)

AMINUDDIN BIN MOHD ARIF

Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date appointed to the Board

1 April 2016

Board Committee Membership(s)

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership

 Association for Investment Managers and Research 

Present Directorship(s)

Working Experience:

and thereafter, as Marketing Executive with Sime AXA 

of Youth and Sports, Private Secretary to the Minister of 

Education and Minister of Home Affairs and Principal Private 

Secretary to the Minister of Transport. Aminuddin is currently 

DATUK DR. ROSLAN BIN A. GHAFFAR
Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender
Malaysian/67/Male
 
Date appointed to the Board

Board Committee Membership(s)

 Member of the Nomination & Remuneration 

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership

Present Directorship(s)

Other Memberships/Appointments/Involvements

Working Experience:

Minister’s Department.

Investment and Economic Research Department, Employees 
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGER
(cont’d)

ANN WAN TEE
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date appointed to the Board

Board Committee Membership(s)

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership

 Member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA)

Present Directorship(s)

Working Experience:
Ann Wan Tee has more than 18 years’ experience spanning 

acquisitions as well as corporate recovery.

2006 to May 2012.

KWAN JOON HOE
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality/Age/Gender

Date appointed to the Board 

Board Committee Membership(s)
Nil

No. of Board Meetings Attended in 2018

Academic/Professional Qualification/Professional Membership

Present Directorship(s)

Working Experience:

2017.

their respective audit and advisory functions.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:

1. Save as disclosed, none of the Directors have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholders of the 

Manager and/or major unitholders of MQREIT.

2. None of the Directors has any conflict of interest with the Manager and/or MQREIT.
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THE MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE MANAGER

From left to right:

Alex Low Kam Seng Manager, Asset Management

Jean Wong Wen Looi Manager, Legal

Christie Pun Nyuk Len Manager, Lease Administration

Phuah Ngah Yuin Senior Executive, Finance

Stephanie Tang Pit Yen General Manager, Investment and Asset Management

Tracy Wong Senior Executive, Finance

Yong Su-Lin Chief Executive Officer

Alice Yap Soh Ping Manager, Lease Administration

Joyce Loh Mun Ching General Manager, Investment and Investor Relations

Leong Foong Yin Senior Executive, Finance

Shirley Tam Soot Lee General Manager, Finance

Chan Fong Hin General Manager, Asset Management
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YONG SU-LIN

Date of appointment as Chief Executive Officer:

Length of service as CEO:

Academic/Professional Qualification(s)/
Professional Membership(s):

Present Directorship(s):
Nil

THE MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE MANAGER
(cont’d)

Working Experience:

corporate consultant, she was involved in corporate advisory projects for various industry sectors. 

operations of MQREIT, and led the investment and investor relations functions as part of the core team since May 

MQREIT. She does not have personal interest in any business arrangements involving MQREIT and has not been 

convicted of any offences within the past 10 years. 
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Fund Performance 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

 2,271,385,292 

 1,372,289,531 

-After income distribution  1,331,025,885 

 1,071,783,000  1,068,000,000  1,068,000,000 

 1.2804 

 1.3018 

 1.2612 

Highest traded price per unit (RM)  1.25  1.20 

Lowest traded price per unit (RM)  1.00  1.22  1.06  1.01  1.01 

 8.08 

-Interim  4.23  1.88 

-2nd Interim  -    -    -    2.22  -   

 3.85 

Dates of Distribution

-Interim 19-Sep-18 18-Sep-17 8-Sep-16

-2nd Interim  -    -    -    -   

28-Feb-19

 1.2804 

-After Distribution (RM)  1.2419 

 1.06  1.20  1.08  1.17 

Distribution yield (per annum) (a) 7.62%

MER (b) 1.09%

Average Total Returns 

-for 1 year ((c)(i)) 6.85% (e)

((c)(ii)) 18.80%
((c)(iii)) 34.28%

Annual Total Returns (d) (RM)  84,653,758 

 41,263,646 

(a) Based on the closing price on the last trading day of the respective financial years.

(b)  Management Expense Ratio (“MER”) is computed based on total fees including Manager’s fee, Trustee’s fee, valuation fees and administration 

expenses charged to MRCB-Quill REIT (“MQREIT“) divided by the average net asset value during the year.

 Since the average net asset value of the Trust is calculated on a monthly basis, the MER of MQREIT may not be comparable to the MER of other 

real estate investment trust/unit trusts which may use a different basis of calculation. The computation of MER has been verified by the auditors.

(c) (i) Average Total Returns for 1 year is computed based on the Annual Total Returns for financial year ended 2018 divided by the weighted 

average unitholders capital for the financial year ended 2018.

 (ii) Average Total Returns for 3 financial years is computed based on the Annual Total Returns for last 3 financial years/periods divided by the 

weighted average unitholders capital for the last 3 financial years/periods.

 (iii) Average Total Returns for 5 financial years is computed based on the Annual Total Returns for last 5 financial years/periods divided by the 

weighted average unitholders capital for the last 5 financial years/periods.

(d) Annual Total Returns is defined as the Net Realised Income for the respective financial years.

(e) The percentage average total return for 2016 is lower than other years as MQREIT did not recognise full year income from Manara Shell in 2016, 

in view that the property was acquired on 22  December 2016, notwithstanding the increase in its average unitholders capital upon completion 

of the acquisition of the said property.

Warning statement - The past performance is not necessarily indicative of future performances and that unit prices and investment returns may fluctuate.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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QUILL
BUILDING 1 

- DHL 1

Sepang, State of Selangor

basement and a basement car park

security agent

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

Tenant

Note:

* On 14 August 2008, the respective pieces of land on which Quill 

Building 1 – DHL 1 and Quill Building 4 – DHL 2 are situated have 

been amalgamated pursuant to the condition imposed by the 

Securities Commission during the Initial Public Offering of MQREIT 

(then known as Quill Capita Trust). As such, the valuations of Quill 

Building 1 – DHL 1 and Quill Building 4 – DHL 2 have been carried 

out based on the amalgamated properties. The total valuation of 

the 2 properties amounted to RM133,000,000.
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QUILL
BUILDING 4

- DHL 2

of Sepang, State of Selangor

basement and 2 levels basement car park

security agent

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)

Tenant

Note:

* On 14 August 2008, the respective pieces of land on which Quill 

Building 1 – DHL 1 and Quill Building 4 – DHL 2 are situated have 

been amalgamated pursuant to the condition imposed by the 

Securities Commission during the Initial Public Offering of MQREIT 

(then known as Quill Capita Trust). As such, the valuations of Quill 

Building 1 – DHL 1 and Quill Building 4 – DHL 2 have been carried 

out based on the amalgamated properties. The total valuation of 

the 2 properties amounted to RM133,000,000.
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QUILL
BUILDING 2 

- HSBC

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)

of Sepang, State of Selangor 

basement car park

security agent

Tenant

RM1,782,880
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QUILL
BUILDING 3

- BMW

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)

of Sepang, State of Selangor

of sub-basement and a level of basement car park
Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant : Agensi Inovasi Malaysia

Tenancy Period :

Tenant : Huawei Technologies (Malaysia) Sdn. 

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :
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QUILL
BUILDING 3

- BMW

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)

 

Oil & Gas
12%

Government
13%

IT
25%

Automobile
50%

 

Oil & Gas
11%

Government
12%

IT
20%

Automobile
57%
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WISMA
TECHNIP

Lumpur

floor and three split-levels basement car park 

as security agent Tenant

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)
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PART OF
PLAZA MONT’

KIARA

years

commercial 

as security agent

sectors, including banking, food & beverages, beauty & 

RM2,878,712

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)
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PART OF
PLAZA MONT’

KIARA

Food &

Beverage 
37%

Banking
14%

Fashion
11%

Convenient

Mart 
23%

Misc
7%

Fitness/Lifestyle
8%

Retail 
50%

Car Park
50%

Revenue

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)
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QUILL
BUILDING 5

- IBM

Sepang, State of Selangor

level of sub-basement and 1 ½ levels of basement car park

as security agent

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)
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TESCO
BUILDING
- PENANG

Penang

Jelutong, North East District, Penang

security agent

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)
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PLATINUM
SENTRAL

and 2 levels of car park

security agent

Major Tenants and Tenancy Details :

Tenant : Small and Medium Enterprise 

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant : Suruhanjaya Pengangkutan Awam Darat

Tenancy Period :

Remaining 

Tenants

:

tenants from various sectors including 

and convenient stores

Tenancy Period :

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)
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PLATINUM
SENTRAL

Oil & Gas
16%

73%

Education
7%

Retail
4%

Government

Oil & Gas
16%

Government
77%

Education
5%

Retail
2%

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)
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MENARA
SHELL

security agent

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant :

Tenancy Period :

Tenant : ReMark Malaysia Pte. Ltd.

Tenancy Period :

Remaining 

Tenants

: Retail tenants from various sectors 

including banking, food & beverages, clinic, 

childcare centre and convenient stores

Tenancy Period :

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)



MRCB-Quill REIT26

MENARA
SHELL

Oil & Gas

63%

IT
5%

Insurance
23%

Retail

4%

Manufacturing/

Services 

5%

Oil & Gas

55%

IT

2%

Insurance

18%

Retail
3%

Manufacturing/
Services

22%

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
(cont’d)
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QUILL
BUILDING 8
- DHL XPJ

Petaling, State of Selangor

single storey detached warehouse

Tenant

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

(cont’d)

PROPERTY DISPOSED DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- OPERATIONAL REVIEW

OVERVIEW – OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

economies is expected to be supported by strong domestic 

to new trade restrictive policies. The International Monetary 

easing global trade due to higher trade policy uncertainties 

as well as weaknesses in the European economies.

remains positive despite the challenging environment, both 

domestically and externally. Although economic growth 

has been slower, it remains on a steady growth path while 

inflation moderates. Domestic demand continues to drive 

Malaysia’s growth with steady growth path spearheaded by 

the private sector together with moderate inflation. Private 

sector continues to be the main driver of economic activities 

supported by favorable labour market conditions and strong 

consumer and business sentiments. 

has recorded resilient key macroeconomic numbers for 2018. 

Malaysia’s economy registered fourth quarter growth of 

effort in managing government spending to pare down 

debts and to stay on track to achieve a balanced budget over 

is a budget that balances between ensuring growth amid 

a challenging environment, and committing to fiscal 

consolidation. We expect near term growth to moderate as 

the rebound in consumer spending is likely to be offset by 

lower public sector spending and compounded by external 

business friendly environment, introduced new approach to 

encourage private sector participation in economic activities 

and increased opportunities for small medium enterprises.  

It is expected that the above initiatives will pave the way for 

a healthy growth of the economy and put the country in a 

stronger footing in the future. 

expected to remain supportive of economic growth while 

ensuring price stability. In the most recent development, 

(Sources: Malaysian Ministry of Finance Economic Report 2018/2019, 

Bank Negara Malaysia updates)

Investor sentiment in the domestic financial markets 

remained defensive during the year. The tightening cycle in 

current environment of tightening monetary policy globally 

remain reasons for capital flight from the emerging markets, 

including Malaysia. In addition, flattish earning trends 

coupled with prospects for a slower growth environment 

have compelled investors to take a more cautious view 

points recorded in April 2018 and thereafter it settled at 

as trade tensions, capital outflows from emerging markets, 

currency pressures and a slowing global economy, coupled 

with subdued commodity prices will continue to impact the 

points.

Despite the above, the Malaysian Real Estate Investment 

some positive developments in 2018. The M-REIT investment 

landscape remained fairly active this year with several 

M-REITs announcing their respective investment activities 

and corresponding equity funding exercises. In addition, the 

and grow the M-REIT sector and in turn, attract higher foreign 

participation to invest in this sector. 
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OVERVIEW – OPERATING ENVIRONMENT  (cont’d)

This initiative by the relevant authorities is aimed at 

improving market efficiency and efficacy, streamlining 

to enhance the attractiveness and competitiveness of the 

M-REIT. These changes are expected to facilitate growth 

in a maturing M-REITs in a manner that promotes strong 

corporate governance practices and instils greater market 

and we view that such changes are necessary to drive 

competitiveness in the Malaysian capital markets to be on par 

with the global capital markets.

 

Despite the volatility in the Malaysian equity market which 

attractive sector and is a suitable investment option for 

investors seeking defensive exposure.  The average dividend 

rate unchanged, has kept M-REITs relatively attractive and 

has in turn encouraged fund flows into M-REIT by investors 

looking for safe havens for investments. In addition, we 

believe that well managed M-REIT players with strong 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Decreased by

-5.2%
Decreased by

-4.0%
Decreased by

-3.7%

Gross Revenue (RM million)

Decreased by

-0.7%
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fundamentals will continue to make the M-REIT sector an 

attractive investment option for investors who are looking for 

relatively low risk investment opportunities with sustainable 

income and capital growth.

continues to be subdued due to the imbalance in the 

million sq. ft. under construction, bringing total supply to 170 

of occupiers’ demand compared to the escalating supply of 

improving consumer sentiment could be positive for the 

M-REIT sector the oversupply of available space in the market 

market facing greater risk.

(Source: Property Market Report 2018 prepared by Nawawi Tie Leung 

Property Consultant Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as DTZ Nawawi Tie Leung 

Property Consultants Sdn. Bhd.) for MQREIT dated December 2018)
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE  (cont’d)

The performance was impacted mainly due to lower revenue 

recorded from Platinum Sentral and the loss of revenue from 

to lower net property income and lower interest income, 

the non-cash adjustment for amounts previously not 

Taking into account the increasingly challenging operating 

satisfactory. The stable result recorded was attributable to the 

quality and resilience of MQREIT’s portfolio of commercial assets, 

Additionally, it was also contributed by implementation of the 

Manager’s planned marketing and asset management strategies 

in 2018 which focused on tenant retention, while managing 

MQREIT’s operational cost effectively. 

Distribution to Unitholders

semi-annually. 

distribution and growth in total return to unitholders, the 

2007 until December 2018, translating into a compounded 

MQREIT’s unit price trading performance during the year 

was within a healthy range with the unit price opening 

RM1.26 in end January 2018 before retreating to RM1.06 at 

price experienced some pressure, with many other M-REITs 

counters experiencing similar downward pressure on their 

respective unit prices. The M-REIT was not spared from the 

spillover effects arising from the negative developments in 

wars. Due to the decline in its unit price, MQREIT recorded a 

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

(A) Portfolio Highlights

8 – DHL XPJ, a single storey detached warehouse with 

It continued to receive steady income from these 

December 2018.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE  (cont’d) 

(A) Portfolio Highlights  (cont’d)

Name of Properties

Fair value as at 

31 Dec 2017

(RM’000)

Fair Value as at 

31 Dec 2018

(RM’000)

% of

Investment

122,000 122,000

Wisma Technip 

118,200

^ - -

Platinum Sentral 

Menara Shell 

Total Investment Properties 2,204,200 2,177,600

respectively). The changes are due to the net change in fair values of investment properties, i.e. a revaluation loss of 

Tax on the fair value gain in the investment properties.

Notes:

* After taking into account the accrued rental income of RM18.84 million as required under MFRS 140, paragraph 50, the 

investment properties amount as shown in the Statement of Financial Position is RM2.16 billion.
^ Disposed on 12 April 2018.

Portfolio details FY 2018 FY 2017

(1) 10 11(2)

 (RM’000) 2,177,600

NLA (sq. ft.)

Weighted Average Lease Expiry (years)

80.0

Notes:
(1) MQREIT’s composition of investment portfolio consist of only real estate assets.
(2) Includes Quill Building 8 – DHL XPJ which was disposed on 12 April 2018.
(3) After taking into account the accrued rental income of RM18.84 million as required under MFRS 140, paragraph 50, the investment 

properties amount as shown in the Statement of Financial Position is RM2.16 billion.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE  (cont’d)

(A) Portfolio Highlights  (cont’d)

 Geographical Diversification (by Valuation)

Selangor and Penang.

Cyberjaya
17%

KL City Centre
8%

KL Sentral
63%

Penang
6%

Mont' Kiara
6%

Penang

Note:  
(1) Based on valuation dated 31 December 2018

 A Well Balance Tenancy Mix (By Net Lettable Area) 

 

Oil & Gas

29.2%

IT/Electronics

5.0%

Services

0.7%
Insurance

6.1%

FMCG

0.3%
Manufacturing

0.2%

Retail

20.4%

Education

0.9%
Banking

9.3%

Automotive

2.7%

Logistics

9.7%

Government Linked
Office

15.5%

 Diversified Segmental Contributions (By Valuation)

 

Office 

88%

Retail
Assets 

10%

Car Park 

2%

 

Notes:  
(1) Office comprises Quill Buildings, Platinum Sentral, Menara 

Shell and Wisma Technip 
(2) Retail Assets refers to retail portion of Plaza Mont’ Kiara & 

TESCO Building Penang  
(3) Car Park refers to car parking bays in Plaza Mont’ 
(4) Based on valuation dated 31 December 2018

(B) Investment and Asset Management Strategies

 The investment objective of MQREIT is to acquire 

and invest in commercial properties primarily in 

Malaysia with a view to provide long-term growth and 

sustainable distribution of income to unitholders and 

to achieve long-term growth in the net asset value per 

unit of MQREIT.

 

 MQREIT’s investments are subject to the investment 

MMLR and MQREIT shall continue to comply with these 

guidelines and other requirements imposed by the 

relevant authorities from time to time.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE  (cont’d)

(B) Investment and Asset Management Strategies  (cont’d)

 We shall remain focused in achieving MQREIT’s key 
investment objectives while seeking additional income 
growth and enhancement of MQREIT’s property 
portfolio over time through the following strategies:

1. Acq u i s i t i o n  g row t h  a n d  p o r t fo l i o 
management strategy

 As the Manager, we seek to selectively acquire 
additional properties that meet the investment 
criteria to enhance yields and return while 

strategy takes into consideration rental yield, 
occupancy and tenant characteristics, location, 
value-adding opportunities, and building and 

 MQREIT intends to hold the properties on a long-
term basis. However, at the appropriate time, 
the Manager will recommend an adjustment 
of the portfolio mix through acquisition or sale 
of one or more of the authorised investments 
or commercial properties with the objective 
of maximising total returns to unitholders. 
The proceeds from such sales would be either 
deployed to purchase other attractive authorised 
investments or, in the absence of appropriate 
investments, distributed to unitholders.

2. Active asset management strategy

 To increase the property yield of existing 
commercial space and correspondingly 
maximising returns from the existing commercial 
space, the following strategies have been 
implemented:

property related services;

exposure to certain business sectors that 

are more susceptible to general economic 

cycles;

plans;

expenses without compromising the 

quality and services; and

improving and maintaining the quality and 

physical condition of the properties. 

 There were no changes in the strategies 
adopted during the financial year compared 
to the strategies employed in the preceding 
years and are consistent with those stated in 
the prospectus dated 11 December 2006. As 

the above strategies remain relevant to MQREIT 
under the current operating environment and 
market condition, we will continue to adopt them 
in the coming year.

(C) Review of Operation Activities

 With the slower economic growth this year, we continue 
to experience a challenging and demanding operating 

an oversupply environment. New completions continue 
to overtake net absorption, as tenants remain cautious in 
its rental commitments amid the moderating economic 
growth. In order to maintain a sustainable performance 
for MQREIT, we must be vigilant and strive to keep up 
with the demands and rapid changes in the industry. In 

that planned strategies are well executed. In this regard, 
The Manager’s active leasing and asset management 
strategy throughout the year has ensured successful 

above, MQREIT’s portfolio occupancy rate remains stable 

market in a midst of an oversupply condition, we will 
intensify our marketing programmes and active leasing 
strategies to achieve a stable portfolio occupancy rate. 

 Similar to the previous year, strong tenant management 
and high tenant retention will continue to be the 

leverage on new and existing networks to market the 

focus on bringing in new tenants from the information 

 In order to attract new tenants and maintain existing 
ones, the consistent performance of our portfolio 
of properties is key. This requires a combination 
of strategies to be employed namely a proactive 
approach to asset, portfolio and prudent cost 
management. The Management will constantly 
look for creative ways to enhance the value of our 
properties, and ensure that our assets remain relevant, 
competitive and continue to appeal to existing and 
new tenants. We will embark on refurbishments and 
asset enhancement works mainly aimed at promoting 
a greener and sustainable environment and assist 
tenants to achieve their sustainability goals.

 This year, most of the enhancement works were carried 

included installation of a new plumbing system. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE  (cont’d)

(C) Review of Operation Activities  (cont’d)

for several properties, namely Wisma Technip, Quill 

washrooms and external facade of Wisma Technip will be 

undergoing some upgrading works. The air conditioning 

several common area facilities while the lift systems 

improvements will be initiated in Menara Shell.

(D) Capital Management

 We aim to optimise MQREIT’s capital structure and cost 

of capital within the borrowing limits set out in the 

of debt and equity to fund future acquisitions and 

improvement works. The strategies involve:

level;

strategy to manage risk associated with changes 

in interest rates; and

optimise the risk adjusted returns to unitholders

 while maintaining flexibility in MQREIT’s capital structure 

to meet future investment and/or capital expenditure 

requirements as well as changes in economic and 

operating conditions.

 During the financial year, we successfully extended 

is due in March 2020. The summary of MQREIT’s Debt 

 

TL

RM117mil

0

450
RM(mil)

400

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

MTN

RM130mil

CP

RM61mil

CP

RM144mil

MTN

RM20mil

CP

RM279mil

TL

RM110mil

TL

RM117mil

 Notes:

 CP - Commercial Papers MTN - Medium Term Notes  TL - Term Loan

Details FY2018 FY2017

Average Term to Maturity (years)
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE  (cont’d)

(E) Risk Management

 Risk management is an integral part of MQREIT’s 

business as it ultimately supports the business in 

meeting its business objectives and strategies, and 

consequently creating and preserving value for its 

unitholders. 

 Business Risk

 Strong competition, poor economic and market 

conditions and over supply are some of the key factors 

that could result in master lessees/key tenants not 

renewing their leases or reduced rental rates and 

adversely affect the leasing performance of MQREIT’s 

properties. To deal with such challenges, mitigating 

actions taken by the Manager are:

 Establishing a diversified tenant base across 

its portfolio with a good mix of high-quality 

multinational and large local conglomerate 

tenants from various sectors/industries;

 Active engagement of key strategic tenants to 

understand and meet their needs;

 Asset enhancement and maintenance initiatives 

to maintain the quality of MQREIT’s properties to 

be the preferred choice for tenants; and

 Lease negotiation well ahead of lease expiry and 

locking tenants in for longer lease term.

 Credit Risk

contractual lease obligations, as and when they fall 

due. There is a stringent collection policy in place to 

ensure that credit risk is minimised. In addition to the 

requirement for upfront payment of security deposit of 

an amount typically equivalent to three months’ rent, 

the Manager also establishes vigilant monitoring and 

debt collection procedures.

 Liquidity Risk

 Liquidity risk exposure arises principally from its various 

payables, loans and borrowings.

 MQREIT maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 

and bank facilities deemed adequate by the 

management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 

distribute income to unitholders, and to mitigate the 

effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

 Interest Rate Risk

 To mitigate interest rate fluctuations and to provide 

certainty of income contribution to MQREIT, it is our 

borrowings for all its existing debts. Regular reviews 

rate borrowings. If required, the Manager will enter into 

hedging transactions using interest rate swaps.

MQREIT from any potential rise in interest rates in this 

volatile market environment.

 Compliance Risk

 MQREIT is required to comply with the relevant 

who is required to proactively identify applicable laws 

and regulatory obligations, and any updates or changes 

therein and ensure that MQREIT’s day-to-day operations 

comply with these requirements. The Manager has in 

place a monitoring framework that tracks MQREIT’s 

compliance of these applicable legislations and 

MQREIT to ensure that there are no breaches to the 

covenants of the Trust Deed and any other contracts/

agreements entered into by MQREIT with third parties. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

is expected to remain positive despite a challenging 

environment. Although economic growth has been slower, it 

remains on a steady growth path while inflation moderates. 

Domestic demand will continue to drive Malaysia’s growth 

sector together with moderate inflation. The private sector 

continues to be the main driver of economic activities 

supported by a business friendly environment, favorable 

labour market conditions and strong consumer and business 

sentiments. Malaysia’s strong economic fundamentals, 

favourable labour market conditions, sustained current 

account surplus, flexible Ringgit exchange rate system and 

keep stability of the Ringgit against the backdrop of on-going 

global monetary tightening. This, coupled with steady growth 

supported by the private sector is expected to keep the 

monetary policy, the risk on yield spreads between M-REITs 

as relatively attractive investment option.

(Sources: Malaysian Ministry of Finance Economic Report 2018/2019, 

Bank Negara Malaysia updates)

In terms of sector outlook, the growth momentum for 

of affordable homes and industrial segments. However, 

the non-residential subsector projected to decline 

following oversupply and overhang of commercial spaces. 

Notwithstanding, demand for commercial buildings in prime 

areas is anticipated to remain stable supported by residential 

developments with available public transportation services. 

(Sources: Malaysian Ministry of Finance Economic Report 2018/2019)

commercial space and will be exacerbated if the current 

imbalances of the supply-demand widens. The banking and 

oil & gas sectors have traditionally bolstered the demand 

few years many of the businesses in these sectors have 

requirements. In this current environment, we anticipate 

sectors and start-ups.  The completion of Mass Rapid Transit 

established and upcoming decentralised office locations. 

and leasing activities in these areas are expected to remain 

buoyant. This is largely due to the high concentration of 

by good public transportation and accessibility. In addition, 

supply into the market and the anticipated softer demand in 

the coming year. This is likely to exert pressure on MQREIT’s 

operation in the coming year. Notwithstanding, we believe 

that MQREIT’s operation will be able to weather these 

uncertainties as we will continue to intensify our efforts to 

manage MQREIT’s operations efficiently underpinned by 

our proactive approach towards asset, portfolio and cost 

management. The focus will be on tenant retention and cost 

actively exploring acquisition opportunities. 

In terms of new investments, we will continue to expand 

MQREIT’s asset portfolio and increase market presence in 

line with its investment objective to acquire and invest in 

accretive commercial properties primarily in Malaysia.  We 

are adopting a prudent acquisition strategy and focus will be 

recurring rental income and potential for revenue and capital 

that meet our investment criteria will be essential to drive 

sustained growth going forward. All acquisition opportunities 

will be evaluated against stringent investment criteria, such 

as the following:

Rental yield;

Location;

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATION

(A) TRADING PERFORMANCE

 Unit Price Performance

 MQREIT’s Monthly Trading Performance for 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATION
(cont’d)

(A) TRADING PERFORMANCE  (cont’d)

 MQREIT’s Unit Price versus Performance Benchmarks 

 

Comparative Yields
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9.00%

MQREIT 10 yrs MGS 5 yrs MGS FTSE KLCI 12 mths FD Deposit

365
bps 
spread

Sources:  
1) Rates for 5-yrs MGS & 10-yrs MGS rate was obtained from HSBC Daily Commentary Report dated 31 December 2018.
2) 12 months FD rate is from Maybank.
3) Dividend Yield of FTSE Bursa Malaysia KLCI as at 31 December 2018 is from Bloomberg.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
- TRADING PERFORMANCE AND INVESTOR RELATION

(cont’d)

(A) TRADING PERFORMANCE  (cont’d)

Market Capitalisation

 Market Capitalisation, Unit Price and Units in Circulation
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(B) INVESTOR RELATIONS (“IR”) INITIATIVES

 We are committed to ensuring effective communication and proactive stakeholders’ engagement. It is crucial that we 

strengthen our communication with stakeholders especially in challenging times to allow stakeholders to make informed 

decisions.

 We continuously enhance our communication channels to cater to the growing needs of the stakeholders through the 

following communication channels:

Communication Channel Medium of Communication Stakeholders

one-on-one meetings

Property Tour

relation portal

www.mrcbquillreit.com

Research coverage

Media engagement

annual reports

 Unitholders’ Meetings

 Sixth Annual Unitholders’ Meeting

engage with unitholders regularly to ensure consistency in messages and understanding of the business and operating 

about the Trust’s performance and strategies.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(B) INVESTOR RELATIONS (“IR”) INITIATIVES  (cont’d) 

 Research coverage in 2018

quarter 2018 results:

Coverage Rating

Target Price 

(RM per unit)

Neutral

Hong Leong Investment

Hold

Maybank Investment

Hold 1.11

Hold

Market Perform

(C) AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

 8th Malaysian Investor Relations Association (MIRA) Awards 2018 

to arrive at the award results. 

No Category

1

2

 This nomination is a recognition of our continuous effort to engage with our unitholders, the investment community and 

other stakeholders.
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(C) AWARDS AND RECOGNITION  (cont’d)

 The Asia Pacific Best Of The Breeds REITs Awards

at The Sheraton Hotel, Singapore.

 The scoring methodology is based on several attributes with assigned weightages including credit ratings, gearing, 

market capitalisation, earnings yield, weighted asset lease expiry (WALE), quality of manager, year-to-date returns and 

TM

 

 

(D) CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR”)

 In line with MQREIT’s yearly focus in supporting the welfare of needy children, MQM has made contributions to Persatuan 

Sentosa.

donation helped to fund the operations cost of running these centres, which includes staff and teachers salaries, workbooks 

 Staff Participation in CSR Programmes Organisation by MQM

were required to participate at least twice a year by committing to be teachers’ aides for the duration of the programme. 

The aim is to cultivate and encourage staff to proudly support the company’s charitable initiatives and give back to the 

community. We are pleased to report that all staff have committed to the above target in 2018. The staff will continue with 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES

PROPERTY MARKET REPORT 2018 PREPARED BY NAWAWI TIE LEUNG PROPERTY CONSULTANTS SDN. BHD. (FORMERLY 

KNOWN AS DTZ NAWAWI TIE LEUNG PROPERTY CONSULTANT SDN. BHD.) FOR MQREIT DATED DECEMBER 2018.

1. ECONOMY

 The global economy continued its momentum in 2018, albeit at a slower pace; with less synchronised growth across 

economies amid the heightened downside risks such as escalating trade barriers, capital outflows from emerging markets 

and policy uncertainties. In Malaysia, the economy recorded slo f 2018 after achieving strong 

performance in the second

previou Q1 2018. Private sector expenditure continued to fuel the economy with y-o-y growth of 

 while public spending increased r-on-quarter seasonally adjusted basis, the 

economy gre

side, the growth of services sector remained the fastest in the country at 7.2 lowed 

). The contraction was mainly due to the decline of natural gas output; and the crude palm oil subsector, which 

experienced production constraints and detrimental weather conditions. In terms of sector composition, the services and 

manufacturing sectors have always been anchoring the economic activities, a

2017 respectively.

 The employment market remained stable with modera  of labour force was largely in line with 

net employment gains, with an unemployment gure 1.1).

 Figure 1.1: GDP Growth and Unemployment Rate
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 Source: Department of Statistics Malaysia, Bank Negara 

Malaysia, 2018

 Figure 1.2: Net FDI Inflows, RM billion
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 During the

lower ded during the corresponding . Services and manufacturing 

sectors  with net inflows of RM7.7 billion and RM7.0 billion in Q1

nited States is the leading sou  of 2018, 

followed by re for 2018 may lie below the 

 in 2017, given the presence of external risks in the global market, as well as the concerns on policy 

uncertainties posed by the newly-elected government.

 Headline inflation, as measured by the annual percentage change

third quarter  due to the broad-based d ion of 

be transitory, given the reintroduction of 

Sales and Services Tax (SST) in Septemb headline inflation is lik ial 

 in view of the three-month tax holiday.

on the back of improved economic conditions seen in 2017. This marke

average lending rate has in f the moderate economic outlook, an  

accommodative  monetary  policy  rather  than  taking  a  progressive normalisation approach.
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PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)

1. ECONOMY  (cont’d)

 Figure 1.3: Interest Rate
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 Figure 1.4: Exchange Rate, End of Quarter
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r in Q1 2018 

was in line with other regional currencies which was a result o  monetary 

policy. While the higher crude oil prices and sustained economy provide upside potential for the Ringgit, its future 

trajectory will also be dependent on the economic policies of the newly-elected government. In light of external 

uncertainties and a slowing glo owth forecast downwards to 

rt-term uncertainties, growth will remain supported by the sustained domestic demand, 

moving forward.

2. OFFICE

 The office market remained under the shadow of oversupply fears, and a recovery is still quite a distance. New 

completions continued to overtake net absorption, as tenants remain cautious in its rental commitments amid the 

moderating econo 7 million sq 

 in Petaling District) and 

ancy rate has been heading 2.2). This was 

due to the slower growth of occupiers’ demand compared to the escalating su  exuberance 

of developers in launching new commercial de

supply in nd growth 

averaged at 2.

 Figure 2.1: Office Stock in Klang Valley
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 Figure 2.2: Office Occupancy Rate in Klang Valley
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PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)

2. OFFICE  (cont’d)

mpur, major completions during the year include Mercu 2 and 

Sentral and Nucleus Tower in Mutiara Damansara were completed. 

The volume of development ft under construction, bringing total 

supply to 170 million sq ft ew developments are located i

 Figure 2.3: Selected New Office Developments in Kuala Lumpur

Office Buildings Location

Net Lettable 

Area (sq ft)

Expected 

Completion

Jalan Sultan Ismail 18

y

Exchange 106 2

Prudential Tower 2,000

YTL Headquarter Jala 201

Menara 2

Jalan Semarak 1,121,000 2020

Menara Hap Seng Jalan P Ramlee 2020

Sapura Tower 1,180,000 2020

Jalan Ampang 1,700,000 2020

Merd Jalan Hang Jebat 1,700,000 2020

Jalan Ampang 2020

Jalan Pudu ,000 2020

Exchange 2020

Tower 2020

etropolis 600,000 2021

2021

TOTAL 13,655,000

 Source: NTL Research & Consulting, 2018

 In June 2018, the newl fund the remaining infrastr

Exchange (TRX). The move has been widely welcomed, as developers and investors seek clarity on the status of the new 

i twithstanding the concerns on oversupply. This allowed TRX to continue its momentum 

ce buildings namely the Exchange 106, Prudential Tower,  Tower scheduled for 

completi n sq ft.

 developments are largely concentrated in Petaling Jaya, d for 

r 

the public sector.



MRCB-Quill REIT46

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)

2. OFFICE  (cont’d)

 Figure 2.4: Selected New Office Developments in Petaling Jaya

Office Buildings Location

Net Lettable 

Area (sq ft)

Expected 

Completion

Symphony Square Jalan Semangat, PJ 226,000  2018

er PJ Sentral 281,000

PJ Sentral

PJ sentral 862,000

1 Powerhouse 2

2020

TOTAL 2,988,000

 Source: NTL Research & Consulting, 2018

ty, Petrofac at Menara 

Prest  addition, several co-working space operators have also 

expanded their business in new a 

e making its Malaysia debut a  millennials and centred 

around the theme of collaboration and flexibility, co-working space has been dominating headlines globally in recent 

years. Nevertheless, its l demand remain to be seen.

 Rental rate continued to remain stable despite downward pressure. e rents are within the 

range of RM7 –

a Lumpur, gross prime rents

per sq ft respectively. Looking ahead, rental rates are expected to trend downward, as owners put in more effort to stay 

competitive in the market by providing attractive tenant incentives for major space users.

e remains stable with no selling pressure. Year-to-date, there were two notable tran

Singapore-based ARA Asset Managem to Saudi Arabia’s Al Rajhi family at RM670 psf, while 

While domestic funds continue to seek quality and 

strategically located assets, these players are in cautious mode, considering the current volatile environment fuelled by 

slowing economic growth and contagion threats from other parts vestors are likely to remain on 

the sidelines for the time being, as such volatile environment gave rise to heightened risk in emerging markets. Yield 

remain  is likely to be lower due to pressure on rental and occupancy relative to capital value.

 Table 2.3: Selected Major Office Transactions in Klang Valley

Office Buildings Location

Net Lettable 

Area (sq ft)

Transacted 

Price

(RM per sq ft)

J 670

antai 76

 
 Source: NTL Research & Consulting, 2018

remain favourable to tenants in the short and medium term, given the volume of incoming supply. 

andlords, short term pains and uncertainties will remain o a more equilibrium 

state. ce space is expected to only improve when there is more clarity on major new initiatives 

from the government on how it intends to drive mo nfortunately for the market, this may 

need some time before any impact can be felt.
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PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)

3. RETAIL

 The challenges persist in 2018, as Malaysian consumers remained prudent in their spending, registering 

retail sales du

optimistic in recent years, as evi its 100-point threshold 

lev  during the period betwee g 

but temporary hike in Q2 to a 21-year high point due mainly to the election euphori ints in 

mic growth and weakened Ringgit continued to batter consumers. 

ts 2018 retail sales forecast

, a level which was last achieved in 2

 Figure 3.1: Consumer Sentiments Index
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 Figure 3.2: Malaysia Annual Retail Sales, RM billion
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 During the ppes at 

 with other expected opening

stock of 67 million sq ft b  In the State of Penang, com

will bring total supply to

 Figure 3.3: Retail Stock in Klang Valley

 

m
ill

i
 100 

80 

60 

40 

20 

0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Kuala Lumpur Outside Kuala Lumpur 

2013
2014

2015
2016

2017

2018 f

2019 f

2020 f

2021 f

 Source: NTL Research & Consulting, 2018

 Figure 3.4: Retail Stock in Penang
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PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)

3. RETAIL  (cont’d) 

cted to reach 82 million sq ft, given the current pipeline of nearly 16 million sq 

ft. Majority of these are slated for completion during ).

 Figure 3.5: Selected New Retail Developments in Klang Valley

Retail Centres Location

Net Lettable 

Area (sq ft)

Expected 

Completion

Damansara Perdana 2

Mont

Datum Jelatek ,000

Empire Remix Subang Jaya

Trop Persiaran Surian, PJ 1,000,000

y Shah Alam 1,000,000

y Mall Phase 2 Setia Alam

ukit Jalil 1,800,000 2020

M Jalan Hang Jeb 1,000,000 2020

Pavilion Damansara Heights Damansara Heights 1,170,000 2021

LaLa 000 2021

TOTAL 12,061,000

 Source: NTL Research & Consulting, 2018

 *Note: Empire City was partially opened in 2017 for the SEA Games.

 In Penang, new developments are largely concentrated in Seberang Perai due to easier availability of larger land plots. 

 across six centres are slated for opening during the next three years, and this will 

increase the total supply to 22 million sq ft by

 Figure 3.6: Selected New Retail Developments in Penang

Retail Centres Location

Net Lettable 

Area (sq ft)

Expected 

Completion

all Tanjong Tokong 018

Penang Times Square Pha 2

00

Penang Sentral 2020

al Extension Seberang Prai ,000 2020

Seberang Prai 1,200,000 2021

TOTAL 2,916,000

 
Source: NTL Research & Consulting, 2018

 As re shopping mall options, new malls will likely to struggle in achieving their desired foot 

iven the diluted market share amid overlapping catchment. To make matters worse, retailers  are  cautious  on  

expanding  their  business,  given  the  subdued  consumer  sentiments.  Retail consolidation continued in 2018 with the 

closure of se n, a Malaysia-based departmental store operator, closed its outlets in Maju 

Juncti  also closed its Index Living Mall Malaysia (ILMM) furniture outlets in September. The 

outlets were presen



49Annual Report 2018

PROPERTY MARKET UPDATES
(cont’d)

3. RETAIL  (cont’d)

pancy rates have been und

es are unlikely, as market takes time to digest the incoming supply. Landlords are delaying 

completion of their projects, in order to achieve commendable occupancy at opening date.

 Figure 3.7: Retail Occupancy Rate in Klang Valley
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 Figure 3.8: Retail Occupancy Rate in Penang
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 Despite the retail market challenges, several foreign retailers have shown deeper interest in Mal

goods retailer, Sports Direct, has recently expanded and opened its flagship store in Petaling Jaya. Australian-based 

Harvey Norman announced n years. Similarly, A&W Malaysia 

is planning for seven new branches nationwide by year-end. Meanwhile, New York- Locker 

 its expansion plan in Asia.

n the volume of incoming supply, retailers who are in expansion mode will have more options to locate their new 

outlets, and they will ask for more incentives and longer rent-free period. Landlords are likely to be more willing to 

accommodate, as they compete for the limited pool of retailers in order to improve occupancy. This resulted in rental 

growth ranging from flat to low single digit, which has been the norm unlike in the past. An analysis of several retail 

properties owned by MREITs indicate that the overall monthly gross rental of ley is at between 

er sq 

sq ft respectively in 2017.

 The retail market was less active in 2018, with no notable transact g although the Setapak 

Sentral Mall in understand to be under offer. Revaluations at Pa

valued d RM812 per sq ft respectively. Prime retail yield remains sta

 External events and domestic policy uncertainties are set to continue to cast a shadow in 2

careful with their disposable income, the retail market will take time to digest the incoming supply. The journey to a 

more equilibrium state may take longer if developers continue to build malls without taking into account the changing 

landscape that will be moulded by new technologies and evolving consumer buying behaviours and demography.

DISCLAIMER

This report should not be relied upon as a basis for entering into transactions without see

professional advice. Whilst facts have been rigorously checked, Nawawi Tie Leung can take no responsibility for any 

damage or loss suffered as a result of any inadvertent inaccuracy within this report. Information contained herein should 

not, in whole or part, be published, reproduced or referred to without prior approval. Any such reproduction should be 

credited to Nawawi Tie Leung.
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MQREIT 6th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) on 11 April 2018

MQREIT’s 6th AGM was held on 11 April 2018 wherein the Audited Financial Statements for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2017 of MQREIT together with the Trustee’s Report to the Unitholders issued 

by Maybank Trustees Berhad, as trustee of MQREIT and the Statement issued by MRCB Quill 

Management Sdn. Bhd. (“MQM”) as the manager of MQREIT and the Independent Auditors’ Report 

thereon were duly laid.

The Ordinary Resolution on the authority to allot and issue new units pursuant to Clause 6.59(1A) of the 

MMLR was approved by the Unitholders by way of poll. This gives the mandate to the Manager of 

MQREIT to issue MQREIT units from time to time provided that the aggregate number of the new units to 

be issued, when aggregated with the number of units issued during the preceding 12 months must not 

exceed 20% of the approved fund size of MQREIT for the time being.

CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS & EVENTS
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Donation to Persatuan Kebajikan Kanak Kanak Kajang and Yayasan Ozanam’s Learning Centre Project at 

Ozanam Service Centre, Taman Sri Sentosa

In December 2018, the Management donated approximately RM105,000 and RM40,000 in cash to Persatuan 

Kebajikan Kanak Kanak Kajang and Yayasan Ozanam, respectively. Both organisations are registered voluntary 

welfare organisations that helps abused, abandoned, neglected, orphaned or at-risk children of all races between 

the ages of 5 to 17 years old. The cash donation helped to fund the operations cost of running these centres, which 

includes staff and teachers’ salaries, workbooks and study materials for the children, as well as rental, utilities, food 

and maintenance cost.

A cheque presentation ceremony was held on 7 December 2018 at Persatuan Kebajikan Kanak Kanak Kajang’s 

centre. Ms. Yong Su Lin, Chief Executive Officer of MQM presented the cheque to the Founder and President of 

Persatuan Kebajikan Kanak Kanak Kajang, Ms Susie Devaki.
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS & EVENTS
(cont’d)
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9 January 2018

22 January 2018

23 January 2018

11 January 2018

IN THE NEWS
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23 January 2018

18 May 2018

21 May 2018

12 April 2018

IN THE NEWS
(cont’d)
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10 August 2018

8 September 2018

8 September 2018

8 September 2018

IN THE NEWS
(cont’d)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

recognises the importance of having balanced, meaningful and comparable corporate governance disclosures which will allow 

stakeholders to appreciate the direction that MQREIT is heading towards and how the outcomes of good corporate governance 

will be delivered. 

certain corporate governance promulgations which may be better explained in the context of the respective statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE APPROACH 

As the manager of MQREIT, MQM has continued to instill good corporate governance ideals and practices into its core values. 

that for MQREIT to remain competitive and sustainable in the long-term, corporate governance is indispensable. MQM is 

and transparency. 

MQM’s overarching approach to corporate governance remains consistent and is aligned to MQREIT’s investment objectives and 

strategies. MQM’s overall corporate governance approach is to:

tenants, creditors and the community in which it operates.

MQM is governed by a robust yet fluid corporate governance framework which is developed to underpin the day-to-day 

to ensure that it is attuned with the evolving expectations of stakeholders, regulatory changes and market dynamics whilst 

spurring of growth in the REIT market through liberalisation but also an ecosystem that is characterised by good corporate 

developments provide additional safeguards for unitholders and are in line with internationally recognised standards of REIT 

regulations.
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Against this setting, MQM progressively reflects upon its corporate governance framework and has taken pragmatic steps to 

adhere to these enumerations. As improvement in corporate governance remains to be an unremitting and organic process, 

MQM will endeavour to undertake early adoption of selected enumerations and be at the forefront of corporate governance 

within the following governance framework: 

Management

Team

UNITHOLDERS

Board of

Directors

Chief Executive

Officer

Outsourced

Internal Audit

Function

Company

Secretaries

Responsible for ensuring robust 

and rigorous frameworks for the 

appointment and nomination of 

new Directors. Formulates and 

reviews the remuneration policies 

and procedures of Board members, 

Board Committees, and Senior 

Management.

Nomination

& Remuneration

Committee

Oversees financial reporting 

process, external audit, internal 

audit and compliance functions. 

Assesses the risks and internal 

control environment, ensuring 

that Management has 

implemented policies to 

address pertinent risks.

Audit Committee

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Types of

directorship

67% 

Non-Independent

Directors
33%

Independent

Directors

1 Female

Non-Independent

Non-Executive Director

Board

skill sets

Fund

Management

Property

Development

Architecture

Accounting

FinancePublic service

Oil and gas

Economics

SUMMARY OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES 

In seeking to actualise its corporate governance aspirations, a benchmarking of MQREIT’s practices against the relevant 

applied, save for:

 Practice 11.2 (the adoption of Integrated Reporting).

applying corporate governance practices, MQREIT has provided forthcoming and cogent explanations for their non-application. 

of the departed Practices as MQREIT would be better positioned to implement these Practices in substance at that juncture. 
1

disclosed measures that it has taken or intends to take to adopt the departed Practices as well as the timeframe for adoption 

1 Large Companies are companies on the FTSE Bursa Malaysia Top 100 Index; or companies with market capitalisation of RM2 

billion and above, at the start of the companies’ financial year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Board Responsibilities

collective leadership to MQM, sets strategic directions and oversees the competent management of MQREIT. In order to 

Director Board Audit Committee

Nomination & 

Remuneration 

Committee

Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors

- -

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. -

- -

Dato’ Thanarajasingam Subramaniam - -

Ann Wan Tee -

- -

Independent Non-Executive Directors

1/1

1/1

1/1

Legend

Member

governance structure with robust oversight on Management and matters such as approval and review of major transactions 

making.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Chairman

Responsible for the overall 

leadership and efficient 

functioning of the Board

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon

CEO

Responsible for the 

day-to-day management and 

businesses of MQM

Yong Su-Lin

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 

Secretaries who act as sound corporate governance counsels.

year under review, MQM has established an autonomous Whistleblowing Policy as this document was previously shared with 

perils of corruption, abuse of power and improper behaviour.

Board Composition

development, fund management, architecture, oil and gas, public service, economics and accounting.

As part of the aforementioned evaluation, the Independent Directors were also subjected to evaluation, which is based on a 

set of qualitative evaluation criteria, so as to ascertain their continued objectivity and impartiality. Recognising that long tenure 

particularly, Independent Directors.

During the year under review, Directors have fully optimised the opportunities to hone and enhance their skills and knowledge. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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The Directors of MQM have participated the following professional development programmes;

Name of Directors List of Training/Conference/Seminar/Workshop Attended/Participated in 2018

Analytics

Automation

18th

Public Policy in a Digital World

World

Dato’ Dr Low Moi Ing, J.P.

Ann Wan Tee 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Dato’ Thanarajasingam Subramaniam

Auditing

Remuneration

Senior Management. The formalised Remuneration Policy and Procedures for Directors and Senior Management is periodically 

reviewed to ensure that it is robust and competitive, designed to attract and retain the best of talents and is aligned to the long-

term strategies of MQREIT. 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is set to be commensurate with their responsibilities, time commitment, 

experience, expertise and the complexity of MQM’s activities and business and is in line with market norms. Directors are 

remunerated via fees and meeting allowances and these are paid by MQM, not MQREIT.

The detailed disclosure of the remuneration of individual Directors, on a named basis, is outlined, as below:

Name of Directors Directors’ Fee

Meeting 

Attendance 

Allowance Total

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. 60,000.00

18,000.00

18,000.00

Ann Wan Tee (Note 1) 60,000.00

Dato’ Thanarajasingam Subramaniam 60,000.00

108,000.00

101,000.00

70,000.00

Directors.

Audit Committee

the capabilities, independence and suitability of the external auditor on an annual basis. During the year under review, the 
external auditor has provided assurance that its personnel are and have been independent throughout the conduct of the audit 
in accordance to the terms of relevant professional and regulatory requirements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)



MRCB-Quill REIT62

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

As risks are inherent in the core businesses of MQREIT, effective risk management remains as the bedrock in realising its 
business objectives and strategies. The risk management framework put in place by MQM covers the structures, policies, 
processes and resources to identify, measure, evaluate, monitor, report and control or mitigate both internal and external 

the risk management and internal control framework to ensure its adequacy and effectiveness.

MQM has in place an internal audit function which is outsourced to a professional service provider to conduct regular reviews 

and is independent of Management. The internal auditor is accorded with unencumbered access to relevant records, properties 
and personnel.

Communication with stakeholders

feedback on the engagement efforts conducted alongside regular reports of substantial changes in unit holdings and reports of 
unit price movements.

Malaysia with a view of enhancing the visibility and promoting price discovery of MQREIT. It was an imperative engagement 

fund managers.

The Annual Report of MQREIT seeks to provide a balanced, comparable and meaningful assessment of its position and 

practices and sheds light to its commitment to corporate governance best practices.

Conduct of General Meetings

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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FOCUS AREAS ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DURING THE YEAR

reforms as corporate Malaysia witnessed a slew of regulatory changes. With corporate governance positioning itself under 

 Board Independence

The Board remains steadfast to its aim of increasing the 

prominence of Independent Directors on the Board. The Board 

seeks to fill the boardroom with greater objectivity and 

independence to facilitate more conducive environment for 

insightful deliberations and informed decision-making. 

During the financial year, the Nomination & Remuneration 

Committee has continued its search for an Independent 

Director candidate with a specialised acumen in fund 

management, property industry or the banking industry to 

further buttress the existing Board composition. In its scour, 

the Nomination & Remuneration Committee has kept a keen 

eye on potential candidates that may represent a good fit on 

the Board of MQM.

 Transparency

In line with the central tenets of MQM’s precepts which are 

acting honestly, with due care and diligence and in the best 

interest of the Unitholders, the Board has ensured that 

pertinent corporate governance documents are disclosed on 

the corporate website. Currently, the Corporate Governance 

Statement, Terms of Reference of Committees and the Board 

Charter are published at the Corporate Governance section of 

the Investor Relations page.

As transparency is inherently rooted in its corporate 

governance culture, MQREIT has on its own volition produced 

a Corporate Governance Report for this financial year albeit it 

being non-mandatory for REITs. MQREIT is one of the few 

leading REITs to initiate such an aspirational measure and go 

above and beyond the prescribed regulatory expectations.

 Internal control and 

 risk management framework

The Board, with the support of the AC, have continued to 

undertake rigourous deliberations on internal control and risk 

management with coverage on more nuanced risks such as 

reputational, performance and compliance risks. Taking 

corruption risk into account, MQM is also prepared for the 

implementation of the recently enacted corporate liability 

provision vide the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission 

(Amendment) Act 2018.

In fact, it is a standing agenda for the Board to discuss on risks 

associated to MQREIT’s business, finances and strategies. The 

Management of MQM also conducts regular briefing to the 

Board on the impact of key developments relating to the 

business, operations and regulatory environment. 

 Compliance

During the year, the Board and Management of MQM have 

extensively reflected and deliberated upon the newly revised 

REIT Guidelines issued by Securities Commission.

Compliance revision and strategic recalibration perceptibly 

intensified in Board meetings as the Board and Management 

of MQM seek to consolidate the opportunities and prospects 

accorded by the new rulings.  In this regard, key focus areas 

deliberated include MQREIT’s prospects in property 

development as well as announcement standards and related 

party transactions. Flowing from the said regulatory changes, 

MQM also appointed a compliance officer during the year who 

reports directly and functionally to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRIORITIES (2019 AND BEYOND)

Moving forward, MQM will continue to endeavour towards achieving high quality outcomes in the realm of corporate 

leadership stature in the corporate governance landscape:

Short and medium term plan (one to three years)

Boardroom diversity

The Board continues to recognise the importance that diversity bring to the 

boardroom in regards to offering fresh, agile and alternative perspectives and 

ideas for better decision-making.

At present, discussions and plans are underway to formalise a diversity policy as 

well as the targets and measures to achieve the diversity markers. On the 

dimension of gender, women candidacy will not only focus on new directorships 

but also key positions in Senior Management. 

Succession planning

In the near future, the Board intends to establish a clear and an orderly 

succession plan for Directors and Senior Management (including CEO) so as to 

maintain progressive refreshing of talent and leadership. 

The Board has emphasised on the need to develop in-house successors who 

have a deep-seated grasp of MQREIT’s business, strategies and principles. 

Complementing its long term plans for boardroom diversity, the Board, together 

with the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, are well-placed to capitalise 

on the strong female representation pipeline at the Senior Management level for 

future directorship positions.

Constitutional architecture

MQREIT is cognisant of the need for REITs to update their Trust Deeds pursuant to 

the release of a circular by Bursa Malaysia on the requirement for listed issuers to 

alter their constitutions pursuant to consequential regulatory changes. The 

Board and Management of MQM intend to undertake a revision of MQREIT’s Trust 

Deed simultaneously with any other corporate exercise venture, if embarked 

upon in the near future so as to optimise synergy and efficiency.

Board composition

The Board plans to reassess the current Board composition with the aim to 

balance the skill set and experiences of the Board members as well as to enhance 

its independence configuration. Intricate deliberations and discussions are 

already in place by the Board regarding the size and structure of the Board in 

tangent to the long-term aspirations and strategies of MQREIT. The Board 

believes this far-sighted move will not only add value to MQREIT’s business 

oversight and performance but will also strike a chord with the interests of 

Unitholders and other stakeholders of MQREIT. 

Long Term Plan (Three to Five Years)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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and two (2) are Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. 

Name of Directors Designations

Independent Director

Independent Director

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Ann Wan Tee Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

consideration and decision.

AUDIT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 To consider the appointment of the external auditor, the audit fee and the reason given for their resignation or dismissal;
 To review the audit plans and scope of audit examination of the external auditors;

> Any changes in accounting policies and practices
> 
> 
> The going concern assumption
> 

 To review the external auditor’s management letter and management’s response;
  To do the following, in relation to the internal audit function:

> Review the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function and that it 
has the necessary authority to carry out the work

> Review the internal audit programme, process, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or 
investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of the internal 
audit function

has not been satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach of the Main Market Listing Requirements;
  To review procedures established to address allegations raised by whistleblowers, to ensure independent investigations is 

conducted and follow-up action is taken;
 To review any related party transaction and conflict of interest situations that may arise including any transaction, 

procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity;
  To assess the risks and control environment, to determine whether management has implemented policies ensuring the 

auditors; and

www.mrcbquillreit.com.  

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Audit Committee Members Designations Attendance

Member

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. Member

Ann Wan Tee Member

Member

HOW THE AUDIT COMMITTEE SPENT ITS TIME IN 2018 

following: 

Financial results 

i) 

Internal Audit 

i) 

ii) 

iii) Reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of management’s corrective actions in response to the internal audit reviews 

conducted; 

iv) 

and

v) 

External Audit 

i) Reviewed and approved the Audit plan with the external auditor, Ernst & Young to understand its approach and scope of 

review prior to commencement of their annual audit; 

ii) Deliberated on matters arising from the audit of MQREIT in a meeting with the external auditor without the presence of 

iii) Deliberated on the external auditor’s reports on audit and accounting issues that arose from its audits; 

iv) Deliberated on updates of new developments on accounting standards issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards 

v) Assessed the performance of the external auditor, including their independence.

Risk Management 

i) 

Related Party Transactions

i) Reviewed the fairness, transparency of related party transactions with appropriate disclosures made as required under 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

responsibilities. The internal audit activities were carried out in accordance with the internal audit plan which comprise the 

following:

  Reviewed internal controls systems and ascertain the extent of compliance with the established policies, procedures and 

statutory requirements; and

  

actions are being taken to improve the current internal control systems.

disbursement).

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND INTERNAL AUDITOR

of Management, to discuss issues, problems and reservations (if any) that the External Auditor wished to highlight to the 

access information to carry out their functions effectively.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)
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December 2018. 

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

appropriate systems and policies in place to manage these risks; and reviewing the adequacy and integrity of these internal 

designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business strategies and objectives of MQREIT. It 

therefore can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatements, losses or fraud. 

particular the business and economic environment and the property industry risk to ensure that there are policies and 

processes appropriate to manage any potential risk when making property investment decisions and to consider MQREIT’s 

ability to respond to such changes. 

both the scope and frequency of the reports it receives and reviews during the year and for such reports to be accompanied 

failings or weakness. 

system is operating adequately and effectively, in all material aspect, based on the risk management and internal control system 

of MQREIT.

KEY RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES

The key processes that have been established in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the on-going system of risk 

management and internal control include the following: 

function is to conduct regular reviews on the system of risk management and internal control of MQREIT, and report 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL
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party transactions

services tax and disbursements) and is borne by the Manager.

financial and risk management issues raised by the external and internal auditors, regulatory authorities and 

management. The reviews include reviewing written reports from the internal and external auditors, to ensure that 

the attendance of the other directors and management/employees of the Manager (where necessary). The Audit 

 

works prepared by the management. The yearly budget which amongst others will entail revenue to be generated by 

MQREIT and operating expenses, trust expenses and capital expenditure to be incurred by MQREIT. The management 

renewal of tenancies/leases and other operational matters;

and provides a structured context for the Manager and personnel to undertake a review of the past performance and to 

(e) There is a set of risk management and internal control system which sets out the approval/authority limits imposed 

on directors and management for operating and capital expenditure, investments and divestments, bank borrowings, 

reports to ascertain that the guidelines and procedures established to monitor related party transactions have been 

complied with; 

 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL

(cont’d)
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(g) In order to deal with any potential conflict of interest situations that may arise, the Manager’s policy is that any such 

related party transaction, dealing, investment and appointment carried out for and on behalf of MQREIT are to be 

executed on terms that are best available to MQREIT and which are no less favourable to MQREIT than on arm’s length 

transactions between independent parties;

 

report on suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest practices or other similar matters relating to MQREIT and the Manager, 

and for independent investigation of any reports by employees and appropriate follow up action. The whistle-blowing 

policy is established to promote fraud awareness and the aim of this policy is to encourage the reporting of such matters 

protected from reprisal;

attend relevant trainings. A systematic staff performance appraisal mechanism has also been adopted to ensure adequate 

REVIEW OF THIS STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

integrity of the system of internal control.

CONCLUSIONS

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)



71Annual Report 2018

STATEMENT ON DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
FOR PREPARING THE ANNUAL AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

cash flows for the year then ended. 

  adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently;

  made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
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CEO Message

sustainable distribution of income, achieving long-term growth in the net asset value per unit. To achieve the above, a well-

sustainable business operations, drive business performance while taking into account the long-term impact of the operations 

on the stakeholders and communities that we serve. 

2017, we recognise the importance of instilling the right sustainability culture that starts within the organisation. In this regard, 

we will continue to strive to meet our objective through the practice of good corporate governance, sound and responsible 

business and asset management practices and a forward-looking strategy that will strengthen resiliency of MQREIT’s business. In 

order to ensure that these are encompassed in all business operations, we have in place various strategic initiatives as we forge 

Employees are the key to the success of our business. Hence, our key sustainability initiatives encompass employee attraction 

effect from 1 April 2018. 

MQREIT’s sustainability journey will require awareness from all our stakeholders and will be a continuous learning process. 

Moving forward, we will continue to learn from the best sustainability practices to improve our sustainability performance, 

sharing our achievement in subsequent reporting. 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)



MRCB-Quill REIT74

Introduction 

About the Report

Sustainability Report, where possible.

List of operations within the scope of the report

Wisma Technip

Platinum Sentral

Menara Shell

managed by the tenant.

Ms. Joyce Loh

About the Business

The core activities of MQREIT involve the acquisition of and investment in commercial properties in Malaysia with the ultimate 

goal to provide unitholders with long-term and sustainable distribution of income, as well as, to achieve long-term growth in 

MQREIT is also a longstanding member of the Malaysian REIT Managers Association (MRMA).

        

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

MAYBANK 

TRUSTEES BERHAD

(”TRUSTEE’’)

Investment in MQREIT

Management

Services

Management

Fees

Trustee’s Fees

Acts on behalf of 

Unitholders

UNITHOLDERS

Ownership of Assets 

(Vested in Trustee)

Rental and

other income

MRCB QUILL 

MANAGEMENT SDN. 

BHD. (’’MANAGER’’)

Property 

management

services

Property 

management

feesZAHARIN NEXCAP 

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT 

SDN. BHD.

(’’PROPERTY MANAGER’’)

REIT

PORTFOLIO ASSETS

SUBJECT PROPERTIES:

- Quill Building 1 – DHL1

- Quill Building 4 – DHL2

- Quill Building 2 – HSBC

- Quill Building 3 – BMW

- Wisma Technip

- Part of Plaza Mont’ Kiara

- Quill Building 5 – IBM

- Tesco Penang

- Platinum Sentral

- Menara Shell

Distribution in the form 

of dividends & other 

distributions

Background

of MQREIT

Investment

Objectives

 Listed as Quill Capita Trust on 8 

January 2007.

 Changed its name to its present 

name on 2 April 2015 following 

change in sponsors.

To acquire and invest in commercial 

properties primarily in Malaysia 

with a view to provide long-term 

growth and sustainable distribution 

of income to unitholders to achieve 

long-term growth in the net asset 

value (’’NAV’’) per unit.

Figure 2: MQREIT Structure



MRCB-Quill REIT76

6%
6%

17%

8%

63%

Penang

Mont’ Kiara

Cyberjaya

KL Sentral

Kuala Lumpur 

City Centre

Figure 3: Geographical Diversification (By Valuation)

Oil & Gas

IT/Electronics

Services

Insurance

FMCG

Manufacturing

Government 

Linked Office

Retail

Education

Banking

Automotive

15.5%

20%

1%

9%

3%

Logistics
10%

29%

5%

1%
6%

0.3%

0.2%

Figure 4: Tenancy Mix (By Net Lettable Area)

Highlights in 2018

We  s t r i v e  t o  e n s u r e  t h a t  t h e  Fu n d ’s  p o r t f o l i o  a s s e t s  p r o v i d e s  o u r
U n i t h o l d e r s  w i t h  l o n g - t e r m  a n d  s u s t a i n a b l e  d i s t r i b u t i o n  o f  i n co m e,
a c h i e v i n g  l o n g - t e r m  g r o w t h .

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS AWARDS HIGHLIGHTS

 

10
valued at RM2.2 billion as at

Realised net income of

RM84.65 mil

RM2.27 billion
Total asset value

8.08 sen
Distribution per unit

RM172.53 million

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Awarded the

Best of the Breeds REITs Award

2018 
th

17
employees receiving

an average of

25.3
hours of training for 

each staff
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Sustainability in MQREIT

Materiality Assessment

Stakeholder 

Inclusiveness stakeholders in allowing them to make informed decisions. See page 78 for details.

Sustainability 

Context

As a REIT with properties primarily in Malaysia, our sustainability context is national and regional. We 

track sustainability issues through engagements with local communities and the government.

Materiality Please refer to page 77 for details.

Completeness

Balance
The report is built upon disclosures that are transparent and fair, in ensuring meaningful information 

and data are provided to readers of the report.

Comparability
a level of comparability between peers in the industry.

Accuracy and 

Reliability

Internal processes, together with assigned responsibilities ensures that data are monitored on a 

regular basis.

Clarity
The report is developed with clarity in mind, such that readers can easily understand the information 

disclosed.

Timeliness
published as one of the segments in the Annual Report.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

1. Regulatory Compliance

2. Anti-Corruption

3. Governance

4. Talent Attraction and Retention

5. Turnover Rate of Senior Management

6. Health, Hygiene & Safety Protection of

     Tenants, Visitors and Local Communities

7. Employee Capacity Building

8. Quality of Assets and Services 9. Water Management
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Stakeholder Engagement

Manager will enhance their communication channels in attempts to better address the key concerns of its stakeholders. Table 1 

summarises our approach to stakeholder engagement.

Table 1: Stakeholder Engagement table

Stakeholder Objective Mode Frequency
Stakeholder’s key

concerns Our responses

Analysts  To provide 
information to 
allow analysts 
to disseminate 
accurate 
information to 
the investment 
community 

meetings

 Investor 
conferences

 Quarterly

 When required
 When required

 Timely and 
transparent 
disclosure of 
information and 
announcements

 Accessibility to 
management/
Investor 
Relations (IR) 
team

 Improved 
responsiveness 
towards feedback 
and queries

Employees  To provide fair and 
equal opportunity

 To ensure 
employee 
development and 
career progression 

 Quarterly employee 
appraisals

meetings
 Team meetings
 Staff retreat/team 

building retreat

 Quarterly

 As appropriate

 As appropriate
 As appropriate

 As appropriate

 Employee 
welfare & 

 Work 
opportunity 
and career 
advancement

 Transparent, open 
and consistent 
approach to 
appraisals 

with senior 
management 

 Trainings, team 
building and staff 
retreats

from government 
agencies on the 
guidelines under 
their purview

 To ensure 
compliance 
and proper 
administration of 
the legislations 
effecting the 
operations of the 
REIT 

meetings together 
with consultants/
advisers and 
industry 
associations

 Seminars and 
workshops

case basis

 As appropriate

 Adherence to 
legislations 
and guidelines 
affecting the 
REIT

 Professional 
consultants/advisers 
are appointed to 
assist us during the 
consultations

Industry 
Associations

 To be a 
contributing 
members to the 
industry sectors’ 
professional 
objectives

 To participate 
in consultation 
and feedback to 
regulators 

 As appropriate
representation of 
industry’s needs 
and demands to 
regulators

 Active membership 
involvement and 
contribution 
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Stakeholder Objective Mode Frequency
Stakeholder’s key

concerns Our responses

Investment 

Managers

 To engage 
existing and 
potential investors 
to provide 
information 
to allow these 
investors to make 
sound investment 
decisions in 
relation to MQREIT

meetings
 Investor 

conferences

 As appropriate

 As appropriate of MQREIT
 Timely and 

transparent 
disclosure of 
information and 
announcements

 Accessibility to 
management/IR 
team

 Improved 
responsiveness 
towards feedback 
and queries

Local  To give back to 
the community in 
which we operate, 

improve the 
welfare of needy 
children

 To contribute 
funds to meet 
the immediate 
needs of at least 1 

 To involve all staff 
in the fund raising 
event

to meet immediate 
needs 

 Annually  To provide 
sustained 
support after the 
completion of 

 Alignment of goals 
of charities with our 

relationship 
with charitable 
organisations

Tenants  To engage existing 
customers to 
ensure tenant 
satisfaction and 
high retention rate

 To forge new 
relationships with 
potential tenants

 Direct feedback 
from tenants at 
all stages of the 
tenancy

 Regular meetings 
and discussions

 As appropriate

 When required

 Maintenance of 
the properties

 Quick response 
time by property 
managers

 Scheduled 
maintenance for 
each property

 Notify and resolve 
disruptions caused 
to tenants promptly 

 Timely response to 
tenant’s queries

 To proactively 
provide up-to-date 
disclosures and 
information to 
allow unitholders 
to make informed 
decisions on their 
investments

Meetings
 Annual reports
 Website 

 (www.mrcbquillreit.
com)

 Announcements on 

 Interactions with IR 
personnel

 Annually

 Annually
 As appropriate

 As appropriate

 As appropriate

of MQREIT 
 Timely and 

transparent 
disclosure of 
information and 
announcements

 Sound investment 
and capital 
management 
strategy

 Tested leasing 
and property 
management 
capabilities

 Robust corporate 
governance 
procedures in place

 To have fair, proper 
and transparent 
dealings with 
vendors 

meetings
 As appropriate

transparent 
selection of 
vendors

 Professional 
approach in 
reviewing proposals 
from vendors
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Governance

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

 

(www.mrcbquillreit.com

Managing Sustainability 

close interaction with the relevant stakeholders, will champion and determine the key priorities for the sustainability initiatives 

that reported topics remain relevant and material to MQREIT and approves the yearly sustainability reports.

The Board considers the economic, environment and property industry risk, reviews and approves all investment decisions.

The management regularly reviews operations of the Manager and MQREIT 

to ensure appropriate controls are in place to manage risks. Such risks and 

controls are further monitored by the Audit Committee (”AC”) and Board.

To mitigate the potential loss of 

value of Unitholder’s investments in 

MQREIT, all transactions are 

rigorously analysed prior to 

execution i.e. in understanding the 

risks involved and for relevant 

controls and measures to be 

implemented within the guidelines 

and parameters set by the Board.

Where significant risks are identified 

for a particular property 

investment, independent and 

specialised consultants are brought 

in to conduct comprehensive due 

diligence exercise.

It is a pre-requisite for all major 

investment proposals to include a 

detailed risk assessment, and where 

appropriate, sensitivity analysis and 

management’s proposed risk 

mitigation or control strategies.

The AC addresses and acts on 

comments by the auditors of MQREIT 

and reports to the Board.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Manager

Board of Directors

Manager

CEO

Investor Relations 

Department

Leasing

Department

Asset Management

Department

Finance

Department

Investment

Department

Legal

Department

Sustainability Working Committee

 

 

 COURAGEOUS
We are courageous

in our actions.

We take responsibility,

challenge and question.

CREATIVE
We are forward thinkers.

We encourage new

ideas to help us enhance

value and stay ahead.

DRIVEN
We are a high

performance organisation

determined to deliver the

best to our customers.

ACCOUNTABLE
We are committed to

what we do, standing

accountable for every

decision we make.

CUSTOMER CENTRIC
Every decision must

ultimately contribute to

improving our

customers’ 

experience.

uphold strong organisation values and ensures that 

these values are cascaded to all new joiners during their 

orientation programme. The Manager regularly reminds its 

employees of these organisational values through e-mail 

lobby areas and during town hall meetings. 
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Regulatory Compliance

As a management company to a publicly listed REIT, the Manager strictly adheres to all applicable laws and regulations 

compliance.

in deliberation to include such compliance as a clause in all service agreements with our suppliers beginning of next year. 

controls are present to monitor MQREIT’s compliance performance. Additionally, to provide further guidance on the conduct of 

There are no known incidents of non-compliances for the past two years. We will strive to keep this up for the years ahead.

Yearly Targets Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in 

FY 2018

non-compliance with rules and 

regulations. the compliance of rules and regulations.

 Developed a compliance checklist.

 External consultant engaged as an internal auditor.

  
Achieved

To incorporate anti-child 

labour, human rights and 

anti-slavery as a clause in all 

supplier service agreements.

 Several discussions were held to formalise this as a 

pre-requisite with existing suppliers/vendors.

 This will be an on-going process whereby we will endevour 

to include this as a standard provision in all new service 

agreements with new suppliers/vendors.

 
In progress

 
and on-going

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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Economic

Anti-Corruption

operations. As the Manager, we take a serious view on corruption and will not hesitate to take appropriate action on any 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Anti-Corruption Policies

 All employees and stakeholder 
groups are urged to disclose any 
improper conduct that they 
become aware of. 

 All concerns should be raised in 
writing directly to CEO and 
Chairman at MRCB Quill 
Management Sdn Bhd, Level 33A, 
Menara NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun 
Sambanthan, 50470 Kuala Lumpur.

 All cases are to be treated in 
confidence and investigated in a 
prompt manner.

 All employees are prohibited from 
directly or indirectly receiving or 
providing any gifts, kickbacks or 
gratuities in any form that may 
compromise their judgement, with 
the exception of consumable gifts.

 Non-compliance will subject the 
employee to disciplinary action or 
dismissal, if required.

Whistleblowing Policy

Updated on 1 January 2018

Policy on Giving and Receiving Gifts

Updated on 1 August 2018

The aforementioned policies also apply to our service providers, suppliers, vendors, tenants and business customers, and they 

are communicated through an anti-corruption clause in all agreements that we execute. MQREIT is glad to share that the anti-

corruption clause has been well received by our tenants and business customers and has maintained its clean record of having 

Yearly Targets Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in  

FY 2018

To insert anti-corruption 

clause in the agreements to 

be entered by MQREIT with 

service providers and tenants.

 Inserted anti-corruption clause in tenancy agreements entered 

into between MQREIT and tenants beginning from year 2017.

 Inserted anti-corruption clause in service agreements entered 

into with service providers beginning from year 2018.

   
Achieved

signatories in acknowledging 

 Educated our employees through detailed information 

   
Achieved
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Environmental

Water Management 

Water is an extremely important natural resource and is used for essential building services such as air-conditioning, washroom 

we as the Manager is cognisant of the importance of conserving the use of water, and takes multiple proactive measures and 

system, being the largest contributor to overall water consumption levels, is operating at optimum levels at all properties. 
The Rainwater Harvesting System (RWHS) which collects and reuses rainwater for landscaping and flushing of toilets was fully 
installed in Platinum Sentral as part of its green building compliance. This year, the same system was proposed to be installed 

Property Managers of each building are responsible for the management of water in their respective buildings, recording 

consumption are promptly investigated and appropriate mitigation measures are taken in prevent reoccurrences. 

Yearly Targets1 Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in  

FY 2018

 Respective property managers were tasked to conduct regular 

checks in ensuring all equipments are in good conditions and 

to replace old pipes, install self-closing taps and repair any 

leaky pipes.

   
Achieved

Water management policy to  Asset management managers are tasked to contribute in 

drafting the Water Management Policy.    
In progress

2

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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We are once again pleased to report that we have exceeded our set target in reducing our aggregate water consumption this 

Social

Our People

We value our employees greatly as we believe that they are the key contributors in making MQREIT and MQM a success. It is 

committed to providing each and every one of our employees with a fair and conducive workplace where they can thrive in. We 
constantly strive to be an employer of choice by promoting diversity, equality, mutual trust and teamwork at the workplace and 

covered by collective bargaining agreements due to nature of our business.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

67%

33%

64%

36%

PERCENTAGE OF 

EMPLOYEES BY 

GENDER FOR

FY 2017

Total employees: 18

PERCENTAGE OF 

EMPLOYEES BY 

GENDER FOR

FY 2018

Total employees: 17

Female Male

Executive Senior Executive Middle

Management

FY 2017 FY 2018

Senior

Management

No. of Employees by Category
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

 

activities are performed by these appointed property managers who oversees all property operational matters such as proposed repair 

and replacement of mechanical and electrical works, attend to tenants’ complaints, monitor and supervise the performance of service 

92%

8%

86%

14%

PERCENTAGE OF 

WORKERS BY

GENDER FOR

FY 2017

Total employees: 34

PERCENTAGE OF 

WORKERS BY

GENDER FOR

FY 2018

Total employees: 36

Female Male Female Male

Turnover Rate of Senior Management 

Yearly Targets Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in  

FY 2018

management.

offered by public listed companies in Malaysia and other 

government-linked organisations, as well as based on 

external HR consultant compensation reports in deriving 

increase in maternity and paternity benefit was also 

are providing currently. 

   
Achieved
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Talent Attraction and Retention

unfortunate event a grievance arises, we have in place a grievance policy and detailed procedures for employees to seek redress 
with the aim to promptly resolve and maintain a harmonious employer-employee relationship.

such as the group term life insurance, disability and invalidity insurance coverage, parental leave, outpatient and inpatient 

st April 2018. These measures will help our 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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Yearly Targets Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in  

FY 2018

compliance with employment 

regulations or acts concerning 

employee rights.

company’s performance and also form as a forum for staff 

employment matters.

   
Achieved

cases which require escalation will be with the line managers or head of departments.    
Achieved

Quotations on: Maternity Leave

organisations are providing its employees. Longer maternity leave has allowed me to spend 

more time with my daughter. It also helped me to recover better and return back to work fully 

recharged.  Aside from that, the increased of the cash allowance per delivery also provided us 

- Christie Pun, Leasing Manager

opportunity to have a better mother-child bonding experience with my baby, which is vital for 

 

- Leong Foong Yin, Senior Finance Executive

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Employee Capacity Building

and development programmes to all employees that will commensurate with their competency, level and work requirements. 

parameters of work.
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To support our employees in upgrading their current skills sets, 
funds have been budgeted for external trainings engagements. 

platforms so that MQM staff are able to participate in or enroll 
themselves into the available training programmes which can 
help them obtain the skill sets necessary to perform their duties 
at work. These training platforms include: 

 MRCB Training Academy: Provides a year-round calendar 
of technical, functional, job-related and soft skills training 
programs open for all staff. New programs available will 
be made known to staff through email blasts.

 MRCB Learning Zone: Implemented since September 
2016, this digital learning platform is accessible both 
online and offline which aims to promote continuous 
learning at each individual’s pace and convenience whilst 
tailoring to their learning needs. It not only provides 
an extensive range of skill and personal development 
courses for free, but also readily available materials to 
provide guidance as needed.

 Environmental, Health and Safety (EHS) Trainings: 

where staff are given the opportunity to enroll for, as 
relevant and necessary, to meet requirements of their 
work.

 All employees are actively encouraged and periodically 
reminded to participate in the relevant training courses 
communicated via email by the training coordinators.

General Policy on Training 

and Development

Provide guidance on the administration of internal 

training and development programmes that are 

coordinated by the HR Department for MRCB and its 

subsidiaries. The policy is also applicable to training 

conducted by external trainers to enhance employee’s 

skills.

Training and Development Policy 

Guidelines (Internal In-House 

Training Programme)

Policies on eligibility and procedures for nomination 

for in-house training. 

Training and Development

Policy Guidelines

(Practical Industrial Training)

Policies on eligibility and procedures for application 

of practical training programmes.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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Yearly Targets Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in  

FY 2018

To achieve a minimum 

Representatives License 

Holders each year.

 In instilling in employees a sense of ownership over their 

for each employee to submit a self-declared training 

logbook on a half-yearly basis. This in turn, helps to 

highlight gaps and will be accordingly addressed. 

 To set the tone across the organisation on the importance 

of achieving an average of 20 hours of training per year, 

the management may take into consideration the total 

training hours as a parameter in assessing the performance 

of the staff. 

   
Achieved

To achieve an average of 20 

hours of training per year for 

each employee.
   

Achieved

Half the number of total staff 

force to attend Safety Training 

year.

 Invitation of an external qualified training consultant 

encourage full participation of employees.
   

Achieved

CASE STUDY: Safety Training and First Aider Course

during an emergency or in the event of an accident. Hence, we as the Manager has introduced the roll-out of an annual 

During the year, half of the staff force has attended this compulsory course, which is In line with the requirement 

set by the management for at least half the employees to attend this course on a yearly basis. The remaining half be 

scheduled to attend a similar course in the next year.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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Our Communities 

Health, Hygiene & Safety Protection of Tenants, Visitors and Local Communities

In developing a positive health and safety culture, we seek to create a collaborative effort by working hand-in-hand with 

tenants, visitors and communities to ensure that the buildings are properly maintained, and measures are in place to prevent 

As the Manager, we make a conscious effort to 

reviewing work procedures and practices and further, 

place particular attention when reports are raised on 

to this, we carry out regular inspections to ensure 

operational effectiveness and efficiency. Annual 

audits by external auditors are also carried out to 

maintain the integrity of equipment and buildings. 

Yearly Targets Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in  

FY 2018

legislations.

and visitors to ensure compliance with building safe work 

procedures.

 Routine inspection of building facilities, plants and other 

equipment to ensure that they are in optimal working 

condition.

   
Achieved

Engage only chargemen who 

are registered with Energy 

who comply with safe work 

procedures.

 Internal review process in place to ensure that only 

are engaged to manage electrical works for our portfolio’s 

properties.

   
Achieved

and evacuation exercises 

for MQREIT properties in 

coordination with tenants.

 (under strata 

management) during the year.

 Specifically for Menara Shell, the exercise was in 

during the year.

   
Achieved

To attain a full compliance for 

smoke-free building at Menara 

Shell.

are required to adhere to the smoke-free policy in the 

building, contractors are also warned that anyone caught 

smoking will have their work permit revoked.

 Spontaneous spot checks conducted.

 Signages have been installed throughout the premises as a 

reminder and designated smoking areas were created.

   
Achieved

Improve on the safety 

incidents rate.

 Support, promote and raise health and safety awareness 

and compliance at work place through joint training with 

tenants, employees and authorised visitors.
   

Achieved

 

Management Act.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Health and Safety Policy

All building management team, contractors, their employees, and 

our direct workforce are required to strictly adhere to the Provision 

of the Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1994 and all applicable 

regulations. They are also required to comply with periodic checks by 

Department of Occupational Safety and Health for office environment 

to ensure ongoing compliance.



93Annual Report 2018

further strengthen our efforts in managing the safety of our stakeholders, we are in the process of developing an emergency 

response plan to be introduced in the year ahead.

CASE STUDY: Fire evacuation and 

drill at Menara Shell

basement carpark. 

at Menara Shell for all tenants and occupants. 

With over 2000 occupants accounted for during 

the exercise, we are proud to say that the said 

exercise was carried in an orderly and prompt 

from the time the auxiliary police was informed 

to the point the building was announced safe to 

Two of our anchor tenants at Menara Shell, 

management team was invited to participate 

and conduct one session of building safety 

procedures with them. 

MQREIT has in place the following channels for external stakeholders to raise their concerns, including those involving health, 

hygiene and safety protection: 

Channel Description of Channel

Telephone

Email

Stakeholders can voice their grievance to Property Managers.

Every case will be acknowledged, investigated and followed up on before the case is closed. All cases will be duly addressed 

 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)



MRCB-Quill REIT94

Quality of Assets and Services

As the manager of MQREIT, we close attention is paid towards the quality of our assets and services as we believe that it 

we continually do our best to upkeep our properties in ensuring a comfortable and safe environment throughout their tenancy 

period.

Service Provider Pre-Qualification Policy*

Pre-qualification is required for all service providers 

to ensure the appointed service providers possess the 

financial, technical and manpower capability to carry 

out the appointed tasks

Service Contractors Evaluation Policy*

Standard Performance Appraisal is adopted to  

re-evaluate the performance of the service contractors 

and improvement on a yearly basis

Tenants Complaints Policy

Tenant Complaints Form is made available for tenant to 

express their improvement suggestions or complaints for 

improvement on the quality of services

Asset Enhancement Policy

Yearly asset enhancement plan is tabled to the Board to 

enhance the quality of the assets

We have adopted the following approaches in monitoring and tracking the quality of our assets and services offered:

Standard Performance Appraisal

 

to maintain high standards of service. In the following year, we intend to review the performance in relation to improvements 

made according to the action plan developed.

Tenant Complaint Form System

To ensure our tenants enjoy the highest level of satisfaction, all tenant complaints are collated through a complaint form system 

group which then holds monthly discussions on operational issues and on recommendations proposed by respective property 

managers in improving tenant satisfaction levels.

effective, MQREIT will consider rolling out this tracking system for its buildings with more than 10 tenants. In addition, further 

with unique numbers assigned for tracking purposes.

 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)

Performance of the service 

contractors are evaluated on an 

annual basis and are required to 

achieve the minimum score 

rating of 60%.

For service providers that 

achieved < 60%, a three months 

grace will be given to improve 

their performance before another 

appraisal is conducted. 

Termination will be considered 

should the service provides fail 

the second appraisal.

Additionally, a detailed action 

plan will be developed and 

periodically assessed for 

progressive improvement over 

the next few years.
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Current Process Narration

End

Raise Tenant 

Complaint Form 

for each complaint

Immediate/remedial 

action taken to 

address complaint

Review by PM

Tenant confirms 

complaint has been 

addressed

After rectification 

completed, update 

and inform Tenant 

via email

The tenant lodges a complaint to Property Management (”PM”) 

normally via phone or email. The standard Tenant Complaint Form 

is raised to specify the name of complainant, date/time of 

complaint and details of complaint.

The Technician immediately reviews the complaint and takes 

immediate/remedial action to address the complaint. The 

Technician will indicate in the Tenant Complaint Form the action 

that was taken and the date of action taken.

PM reviews and signs on the Tenant Complaint Form to confirm 

that remedial action has been taken to address the complaint and 

rectification work has been performed.

PM shall then inform the tenant via e-mail with the attached 

signed Tenant Complaint Form.

Subsequently, the tenant who lodged the complaint is required to 

acknowledge the Tenant Complaint Form and confirm that 

rectification work has been satisfactorily completed to address 

his/her complaint. The Form shall be filed and kept as reference 

and record.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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CASE STUDY: Wisma Technip - Illustration on the upgrade of driveway which was 
completed during the year

The upgrading work has enhanced the functionality of the driveway surrounding the building. Prior to the upgrade, the 
driveway required constant repairing which resulted in operations disruption. Homogeneous tiles were selected as it is 

In addition, the homogeneous tiles are also easy to maintain as it does not require heavy duty chemicals based cleaning 
products for the general cleaning. 

This is expected to improve the durability of the driveways and the base structure of the building parameter.

Property Certifications

Menara Shell.

Other Asset Enhancement Initiatives carried out in Year 2018

Item Building Asset Enhancement Initiatives Description

1 Platinum Sentral Solar panels were installed since 2011 on the rooftops to reduce electricity usage and 

to earn additional income from the generation. During the year, replacement works of 

2 Menara Shell

Wisma Technip

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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Yearly Targets Actions Taken in FY 2018

Performance in  

FY 2018

score rating on average in the 

assessment for the Standard 

Performance Appraisal.

a thrust for our service contractors to meet, if not outdo 

their existing service efforts.

 The building manager keeps regular communication with 

the service providers in order to facilitate consultation on 

issues that required improvement when service reports are 

being submitted. 

   
Achieved

To acknowledge and respond 

hour period.

tracking of complaints in a timely manner .    
Achieved

GRI Content Index

GRI Standard 

Disclosure 

Reference Description Section of Report

GRI 102: General Disclosures

102-1 Name of the organisation

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services

Location of headquarters

Location of operations

102-6 Markets served

102-7 Scale of the organisation

102-8 Information on employees and other workers Social: Turnover Rate of Senior Management

Supply chain

102-10

supply chain

102-11 Precautionary principle or approach

102-12 External initiatives Earth Hour

Membership of associations

Strategy

Statement from senior decision-maker

Ethics and integrity

102-16

behavior

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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GRI Standard 

Disclosure 

Reference Description Section of Report

102-18

102-20 Executive-level responsibility for economic, 

environmental, and social topics

102-21

environmental, and social topics

Sustainability in MQREIT: Materiality Assessment

Identifying and managing economic, 

environmental, and social impacts

Sustainability in MQREIT: Materiality Assessment

Review of economic, environmental, and social 

topics

Sustainability in MQREIT: Materiality Assessment

Highest governance body’s role in sustainability 

reporting

Stakeholder engagement

List of stakeholder groups Sustainability in MQREIT: Stakeholder Engagement

Social: Turnover Rate of Senior Management

Identifying and selecting stakeholders Sustainability in MQREIT: Stakeholder Engagement

Approach to stakeholder engagement Sustainability in MQREIT: Stakeholder Engagement

Sustainability in MQREIT: Stakeholder Engagement

Reporting practice

statements

Refer to Annual Report

Introduction: About the Report

List of material topics Sustainability in MQREIT: Materiality Assessment

Restatements of information No restatements were made for this report

Introduction: About the Report

Sustainability in MQREIT: Materiality Assessment

Reporting period Introduction: About the Report

Date of most recent report This is MQREIT’s second report

Reporting cycle Introduction: About the Report

Introduction: About the Report

Standards

Introduction: About the Report

External assurance Introduction: About the Report

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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GRI Standard 

Disclosure 

Reference Description Section of Report

Explanation of the material topic and its boundary Sustainability in MQREIT: Materiality Assessment

The management approach and its components

Social: Talent Attraction and Retention

Social: Turnover Rate of Senior Management

Evaluation of the management approach

Social: Talent Attraction and Retention

Social: Turnover Rate of Senior Management

Category: Economic

policies and procedures

taken

Category: Environmental

Water withdrawal by source Environmental: Water Management

Non-compliance with environmental laws and 

regulations

Category: Social

New employee hires and employee turnover Social: Turnover Rate of Senior Management

not provided to temporary or part-time employees

Social: Talent Attraction and Retention

Average hours of training per year per employee

Programs for upgrading employee skills and 

transition assistance programs

Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health 

and safety impacts of products and services

Social: Health, Hygiene & Safety Protection of 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
(cont’d)
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THE MANAGER’S REPORT

MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd. (“MQM”), being the manager (the “Manager”) of MRCB-Quill REIT (“MQREIT”), is pleased to 

present the Manager’s Report on MQREIT together with the audited financial statements of MQREIT for the financial year ended 

31 December 2018.

MQREIT, the Manager and their principal activities

MQREIT was constituted under a Deed dated 9 October 2006 (the “Trust Deed”), by MQM as the Manager and Maybank Trustees 

Berhad as the trustee (the “Trustee”); a Supplemental Deed dated 27 August 2007; a Second Supplemental Deed dated 28 May 

2013 and Third Supplemental Deed dated 2 April 2015, and is categorised as a real estate investment trust. MQREIT commenced 

its operations in 2006 and was listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) on 8 January 

2007.

The principal activity of MQREIT involves acquisition of and investment in commercial properties, primarily in Malaysia. The 

principal activity of each of the special purpose entities of MQREIT is to facilitate financing for MQREIT as disclosed in Note 26 to 

the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

The Manager is a company incorporated in Malaysia. The principal activity of the Manager is to manage MQREIT. There has been 

no significant change in the nature of this activity during the financial year.

Investment objective and strategies 

The investment objective of MQREIT is to acquire and invest in commercial properties primarily in Malaysia with a view to 

provide long-term growth and sustainable distribution of income to unitholders and to achieve long-term growth in the net 

asset value per unit of MQREIT.

The Manager plans to achieve the key investment objectives while seeking additional income growth and enhancement of 

MQREIT’s property portfolio over time through the strategies as mentioned below:

(a) Acquisition growth and portfolio management strategy

(b) Active asset management strategy

(c) Capital management strategy

There were no changes in the strategies adopted during the financial year, which are in line with those as stated in the 

prospectus dated 11 December 2006. 

As these strategies still remain relevant for MQREIT under the current market conditions, the Manager will continue to adopt 

them in the coming year.

Reserves and provisions

There were no material transfers to and from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the 

statement of changes in NAV.

Directors

The names of the directors of the Manager in office since the date of last report and at the date of this report are:

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun

Kwan Joon Hoe

Ann Wan Tee

Foong Soo Hah

Dr. Roslan Bin A. Ghaffar

Dato’ Thanarajasingam Subramaniam (resigned on 10 January 2019)     

Aminuddin Bin Mohd Arif
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THE MANAGER’S REPORT
(cont’d)

Directors’ benefit 

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the 

Manager was a party, whereby the directors of the Manager might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of units in or 

debentures of MQREIT or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Manager has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 

by reason of a contract made by MQREIT or a related corporation with any director of the Manager or with a firm of which 

the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest, except for units held in 

MQREIT as disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements and the related party transactions as disclosed in Note 34 to the 

financial statements.

Directors’ interests

 Units as at 

 1 January 

 2018 

Number of

 units 

 acquired/ 

 (disposed) 

 Units as at 

 31 December 

 2018 

Direct interest:

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.  50,000  -  50,000 

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun  55,000  -  55,000 

Kwan Joon Hoe  -  80,000  80,000 

Indirect interest:

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. (a)  117,040,000  (57,639,000)  59,401,000 

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun (b)  117,040,000  (57,639,000)  59,401,000 

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon (c)  -  185,000  185,000

  

(a) Deemed interest by virtue of her direct shareholding in Quill Properties Sdn. Bhd. (“QPSB”), Quill Land Sdn. Bhd. (“QLSB”) 

and Quill Estates Sdn. Bhd. (“QESB”).

(b) Deemed interest by virtue of his direct shareholding in QPSB, QLSB and QESB.

(c) Deemed interest by way of his substantial shareholding in Morningale Sdn. Bhd. and Jendela Elit Sdn. Bhd., which in turn 

are substantial shareholders of Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd.

Except for the direct and indirect directors’ interests disclosed above, none of the other directors of the Manager in office at the 

end of the financial year had any interest in MQREIT.

Soft commission

During the financial year, the Manager did not receive any soft commission (such as goods or services) from its broker, by virtue 

of transaction conducted by MQREIT. 

Utilisation of proceeds raised from issuance of new units

There were no proceeds raised as there was no issuance of new units during the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
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Particulars of all sanctions and/or penalties imposed on MQREIT, directors of the management company or the 

management company by the relevant regulatory bodies

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, there were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on MQREIT, its Manager 

and/or directors of its Manager by any of the relevant regulatory bodies.

Amount of non-audit fees incurred for services rendered to MQREIT by its auditors, or a firm of company affiliated to the 

auditors’ firm

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, there were non-audit fees of RM5,500 for the review of Statement of 

Risk Management and Internal Control services; tax agent fees of RM24,200 for the services rendered by Ernst & Young Tax 

Consultants Sdn. Bhd.; and professional fees of RM65,000 on the advisory services for sustainability reporting for FY 2018 by 

Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.

Manager’s responsibility for the annual audited accounts

The Manager is responsible for the preparation of the annual audited financial statements of MQREIT.

Other statutory information

(a) Before the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position of MQREIT were made out, the 

directors of the Manager took reasonable steps:

 (i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 

allowance for doubtful debts of receivables and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts and that 

adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

 (ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in 

the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the directors of the Manager are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

 (i) it necessary to write off any bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements 

of MQREIT inadequate to any substantial extent; and

 (ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of MQREIT misleading.

(c) At the date of this report, the directors of the Manager are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would 

render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of MQREIT misleading or inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the directors of the Manager are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 

report or financial statements of MQREIT which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e) At the date of this report, the directors of the Manager are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 

report or financial statements of MQREIT which would materially affect the interests of the unitholders.

(f ) At the date of this report, there does not exist:

 (i) any charge on the assets of MQREIT which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the liabilities 

of any other person; or

 (ii) any contingent liability of MQREIT which has arisen since the end of the financial year. 

THE MANAGER’S REPORT
(cont’d)
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Other statutory information  (cont’d)

(g) In the opinion of the directors of the Manager:

 (i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of 

twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of MQREIT to meet its 

obligations as and when they fall due; and

 (ii) the results of MQREIT’s operations during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction 

or event of a material and unusual nature; and 

 (iii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the 

financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of MQREIT 

for the financial year in which this report is made.

Significant events during the financial year

Significant events during the financial year are disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Manager, MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd.. 

          

           

           

           

           

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun Ann Wan Tee

Director Director

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

22 February 2019

THE MANAGER’S REPORT
(cont’d)

   

  

Dato’ Michael OnOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO g Leng

Director

    

Ann Wan Tee

Di t
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We, Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun and Ann Wan Tee, being two of the directors of the Manager, MRCB Quill Management 

Sdn. Bhd., do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 109 

to 168 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards 

and applicable provisions of the Trust Deed and Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities 

Commission so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of MQREIT as at 31 December 2018 and its financial 

performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Manager, MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd..       

    

           

           

           

           

           

           

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun Ann Wan Tee

Director Director

           

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia           

22 February 2019           

           

 

I, Yong Su-Lin, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of MQREIT, do solemnly and sincerely 

declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 109 to 168 are in my opinion correct, and I make this 

solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations 

Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by

the abovenamed Yong Su-Lin

at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory

on 22 February 2019. Yong Su-Lin   

           

           

Before me,           

Commissioner of Oath           

STATEMENT BY MANAGER

STATUTORY DECLARATION

  

  

  

  

 

  

Dato’ Michael OnOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO g Leng

Director

 

  

 

 

Ann Wan Tee

Yong Su-Lin
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TRUSTEE’S REPORT
to the Unitholders of MRCB-Quill REIT

We have acted as Trustee of MRCB-Quill REIT (“MQREIT”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. To the best of our 

knowledge, MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd. (“the Manager”) has managed MQREIT in the financial year under review in 

accordance to the following: 

(a) the limitation imposed on the investment powers of the Manager and the Trustee under the Trust Deed, other applicable 

provisions of the Trust Deed, the Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by Securities Commission 

Malaysia, the Capital Markets & Services Act 2007 and other applicable laws; and

(b) the valuation of MQREIT is carried out in accordance with the Trust Deed and other regulatory requirements.

An interim distribution of 4.23 sen per unit has been distributed to the unitholders of MQREIT on 19 September 2018 for the 

financial period from 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2018.  Proposed final gross income distribution of 3.85 sen per unit for the 

financial period from 1 July 2018 to 31 December 2018 will be payable on 28 February 2019 to all unitholders as at the book 

closure date of 8 February 2019.

We are of the view that the distributions are consistent with the objectives of MQREIT.

For and on behalf of MAYBANK TRUSTEES BERHAD        

(Company No.: 5004-P)

         

         

         

         

         

         

BERNICE K M LAU

Head, Operations

Kuala Lumpur

(Company No.: 5004-P)

        

   

      

  

        

       

BERNICE K M LAU

Head, Operations

Kuala Lumpur
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 

Opinion

 

We have audited the financial statements of MRCB-Quill REIT (“MQREIT”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement 

of changes in net asset value and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 109 

to 168.

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of MQREIT as at 31 

December 2018, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial 

Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the applicable 

provisions of the Deed and Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities Commission Malaysia.

 

Basis for Opinion

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 

Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

 

We are independent of MQREIT in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian 

Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the 

IESBA Code. 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 

statements of MQREIT for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements 

of MQREIT as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 

matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 

our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to 

respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 

including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis of our audit opinion on the accompanying 

financial statements.

 

Valuation of Investment Properties

 

MQREIT adopts the fair value model for its investment properties. The policy of MQREIT is that property valuations are 

performed by external experts at least once a year. The carrying value of the investment properties as at 31 December 2018 

of RM2,158,708,055 represents 95% of total assets of MQREIT and therefore the valuation exercise was significant to our audit. 

The areas that involved significant audit effort and judgement were the assessment of the basis and assumptions used by 

the external experts to derive the fair value of the investment properties. The basis and assumptions include amongst others, 

estimated rental revenues, yield rates and discount rates which are based on current and future market or economic conditions.  

 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, considering the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external 

appraisers. We furthermore assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology adopted, reviewed and assessed inputs 

related to the property for the valuations and considered the underlying assumptions against the market estimates. Further, 

we had discussions with the independent valuers to obtain an understanding of the property related data used as input to 

the valuation models which included, amongst others, rental income data and yield rate. We then tested the accuracy of rental 

income data applied in the valuation by comparing them with lease agreements and challenged the yield rate by comparing 

them with available industry data, taking into consideration comparability and market factors. For discount rate, we assessed 

whether the discount rate used to determine the present value of the cash flows reflects the estimated market rate of return for 

comparable assets with similiar profile.

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the unitholders of MRCB-Quill REIT
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)

Valuation of Investment Properties  (cont’d)

We also focused on the adequacy of MQREIT’s disclosures on those assumptions to which the outcome of the valuation is most 
sensitive, that is, those that have the most significant effect on the determination of the fair value of the investment properties. 
MQREIT’s disclosures on the investment properties, which also explains the effects on the valuation following any changes in 
key parameters used in determining the fair value are included in Note 4.2(a) and Note 15 to the financial statements. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
 
The directors of the Manager of MQREIT are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of MQREIT and our auditors’ report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of MQREIT does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of MQREIT, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of MQREIT or our 
knowldege obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report on this regard.

Responsibilities of Manager, Trustee and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
 
The directors the Manager of MQREIT is responsible for the preparation of financial statements of MQREIT that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with MFRS, IFRS and the requirements of the applicable provisions of the Deed and Guidelines on Listed 
Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities Commission Malaysia. The Manager is also responsible for such internal 
control as the Manager determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of MQREIT that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of MQREIT, the Manager is responsible for assessing MQREIT’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Manager either intends to liquidate MQREIT or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing MQREIT’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of MQREIT, as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards 
on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
									       
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

l	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of MQREIT, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. 

l	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of MQREIT’s internal control.

l	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Manager.

Independent auditors’ report
to the unitholders of MRCB-Quill REIT

(cont’d)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (cont’d)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on MQREIT’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of MQREIT or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause MQREIT to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of MQREIT, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements of MQREIT represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities 

within MQREIT to express an opinion on the financial statements of MQREIT. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of MQREIT’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial statements of MQREIT of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 

in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

OTHER MATTERS

 

This report is made solely to the unitholders of MQREIT, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to 

any other person for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young Tan Shium Jye 

AF: 0039 No. 2991/05/2020(J)

Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

22 February 2019

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the unitholders of MRCB-Quill REIT
(cont’d)

Ernst & Young T Shi J
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note  2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Total income

Revenue

- Realised 5  173,376,079  180,113,542 

- Unrealised (in relation to unbilled lease income receivable) 5  (849,536)  1,388,125 

 172,526,543  181,501,667 

Property operating expenses 6  (39,724,838)  (40,161,064)

Net property income  132,801,705  141,340,603 

Finance income 7  4,327,333  3,590,093 

Change in fair value of investment properties 

- As per valuation 15  (5,434,231)  (18,183,415)

- Unbilled lease income receivable 15  849,536  (1,388,125)

Gain on divestment of investment property  2,196,632  - 

 134,740,975  125,359,156 

Total expenditure

Manager’s fees 8  (13,253,725)  (13,458,072)

Trustee’s fee 9  (685,921)  (688,676)

Finance costs 10  (40,590,429)  (40,512,779)

Valuation fees  (357,043)  (298,491)

Auditors’ remuneration  (146,842)  (119,000)

Tax agent’s fee  (49,827)  (22,882)

Administrative expenses  (394,751)  (349,084)

 (55,478,538)  (55,448,984)

Income before taxation  79,262,437  69,910,172 

Income tax expense 11  (6,132,188)  - 

Income net of taxation  73,130,249  69,910,172 

Other comprehensive income

Gain on remeasurement of financial derivatives  237,709  317,488 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  237,709  317,488 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year  73,367,958  70,227,660 

Net income for the year is made up as follows:

- Realised  84,653,758  88,006,515 

- Unrealised  (11,523,509)  (18,096,343)

 73,130,249  69,910,172 
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Note  2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Total realised income net of taxation  84,653,758  88,006,515 

Distribution adjustments A  2,400,000  3,975,295 

Total Distributable Income  87,053,758  91,981,810 

Earnings per unit

After manager’s fees (sen) 12(a)  6.83  6.55 

Before manager’s fees (sen) 12(b)  8.07  7.81 

Earnings per unit (realised)

After manager’s fees (sen) 12(c)  7.91  8.24 

Before manager’s fees (sen) 12(d)  9.14  9.50 

Income distribution

Interim distribution of 4.23 sen paid on 18 September 2017 (RM) ¹ 13  -  45,176,400 

Final distribution of 4.16 sen payable on 28 February 2018 (RM) ² 13  -  44,428,800 

Interim distribution of 4.23 sen paid on 19 September 2018 (RM) 3 13  45,336,421  - 

Final distribution of 3.85 sen payable on 28 February 2019 (RM) 4* 13  41,263,646  - 

 86,600,067  89,605,200 

Interim distribution per unit

Gross (sen) 5  4.23  4.23 

Final distribution per unit

Gross (sen) 5  3.85  4.16 

Total distribution per unit

Gross (sen) 5  8.08  8.39 

         
1  Based on 1,068,000,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 January 2017 to 30 June 2017;

2  Based on 1,068,000,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017;

3  Based on 1,071,783,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 January 2018 to 30 June 2018;

4  Based on 1,071,783,000 units entitled to distribution, for the financial period from 1 July 2018 to 31 December 2018;

5  Income distributed to resident individuals, non-resident individuals, resident institutional investors, non-resident institutional investors 
and non-resident companies are subject to witholding tax.

* Final income distribution for the financial year 2018 was declared on 17 January 2019 and will be payable on 28 February 2019. The 
declared final income distribution will be recognised in the immediate subsequent financial year.

 Note A:
        

 2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Distribution adjustments comprise:

Manager’s management fee payable in units  -  3,975,295 

Amount previously not distributed  2,400,000  - 

 2,400,000  3,975,295 

 In accordance with the Trust Deed, the distributable income shall be the net income, adjusted by certain distribution 

adjustments as deemed necessary by the Manager in the interest of the REIT and the unitholders.

         

         

         

         

         

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(cont’d)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note  2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Assets

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 14  345,125  172,433 

Investment properties 15  2,158,708,055  2,159,459,119 

Investment properties - accrued rental income 18  18,891,945  19,740,881 

Lease receivables 17  1,326,763  2,014,930 

 2,179,271,888  2,181,387,363 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 18  5,969,634  5,232,685 

Lease receivables 17  688,167  730,820 

Deposits, cash and bank balances 19  85,775,603  76,041,326 

 92,433,404  82,004,831 

Non-current asset held for sale 20  -  25,000,000 

 92,433,404  107,004,831 

Total assets  2,271,705,292  2,288,392,194 

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 22  853,704,352  736,584,405 

Derivative liabilities 16  428,022  665,731 

Security deposits 24  11,168,217  16,194,911 

Other payables 21  1,825,879  221,866 

Deferred tax liabilities 23  6,132,188  - 

873,258,658  753,666,913 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21  16,114,325  20,304,048 

Borrowings 22  -  116,868,449 

Security deposits 24  10,042,778  12,828,214 

26,157,103  150,000,711 

Total liabilities  899,415,761  903,667,624 

Net assets value (“NAV”)  1,372,289,531  1,384,724,570 

         

         

         

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Note  2018  2017 

 RM  RM 

Unitholders’ funds 

Unitholders’ funds attributable to unitholders of MQREIT

Unitholders’ capital 25  1,235,876,768  1,231,914,544 

Undistributed and non-distributable income  136,412,763  152,810,026 

Total unitholders’ funds  1,372,289,531  1,384,724,570 

Net asset value (“NAV”) 28

Before income distribution 1  1,372,289,531  1,384,724,570 

After income distribution 2  1,331,025,885  1,340,295,770 

NAV per unit 28

Before income distribution 1  1.2804  1.2966 

After income distribution 2  1.2419  1.2550 

Number of units in circulation

As at 31 December (units) 25  1,071,783,000  1,068,000,000 

1  Before the proposed final income distribution of 3.85 sen per unit and 4.16 sen per unit for the financial year 2018 and 2017 respectively.

2  After the proposed final income distribution of 3.85 sen per unit and 4.16 sen per unit for the financial year 2018 and 2017 

respectively. 

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

         

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(cont’d)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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  Distributable 

Non-

distributable
 Total 

undistributed 

and non-

distributable 

 income 

 Unitholders’ 

 funds 

 Unitholders’ 

 capital 

 Undistributed 

 income 

 realised 

 Undistributed 

 income 

 unrealised 

 Cash flow 

 hedge 

 reserve* 

 RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

At 1 January 2018  1,231,914,544  60,034,963  93,440,794  (665,731)  152,810,026  1,384,724,570 

Issuance of new units  3,974,420 - - - -  3,974,420 

Expenses on issuance of new units 

(Note 25)  (12,196) - - -  -  (12,196)

Total comprehensive income for 

the financial year -  84,653,758  (11,523,509)  237,709  73,367,958  73,367,958 

 1,235,876,768  144,688,721  81,917,285  (428,022)  226,177,984  1,462,054,752 

Transactions with unitholders

Distribution to unitholders -  (89,765,221) - -  (89,765,221)  (89,765,221)

At 31 December 2018  1,235,876,768  54,923,500  81,917,285  (428,022)  136,412,763  1,372,289,531 

At 1 January 2017  1,231,939,861  17,204,848  111,537,137  (983,219)  127,758,766  1,359,698,627 

Expenses on issuance/placements 

of new units (Note 25)  (25,317)  -  -  -  -  (25,317)

Total comprehensive income  

for the financial year  -  88,006,515  (18,096,343)  317,488  70,227,660  70,227,660 

 1,231,914,544  105,211,363  93,440,794  (665,731)  197,986,426  1,429,900,970 

Transactions with unitholders

Distribution to unitholders  -  (45,176,400)  -  -  (45,176,400)  (45,176,400)

At 31 December 2017  1,231,914,544  60,034,963  93,440,794  (665,731)  152,810,026  1,384,724,570 

* The cash flow hedge reserve comprise the effective portion of the gain or loss on interest rate swap arrangements as disclosed in Note 

35.  

              

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN NET ASSET VALUE

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note  2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Cash flows from operating activities

Income before taxation  79,262,437  69,910,172 

Adjustments for:

Finance costs 10  40,590,429  40,512,779 

Depreciation of plant and equipment 14  76,758  69,456 

Changes in fair value of investment properties 15  4,584,695  19,571,540 

Unbilled lease income 5  849,536  (1,388,125)

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 18  899,357  504,017 

Reversal for impairment of trade receivables 18  (91,953)  (796,725)

Finance income  (4,327,333)  (3,590,093)

Gain on divestment of investment property  (2,196,632)  - 

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital  119,647,294  124,793,021 

Changes in working capital:

(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (980,243)  13,466,077 

Decrease in trade and other payables  (12,933,093)  (10,108,943)

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 105,733,958  128,150,155 

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to investment properties 15  (3,833,631)  (383,415)

Proceed from divestment of QB8  28,000,000  - 

Purchase of plant and equipment 14  (249,450)  (16,203)

Changes in lease receivable 17  730,820  692,759 

Changes in deposits in financial institution  (62,105,576)  (7,300,049)

Interest received  3,686,860  2,161,417 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (33,770,977)  (4,845,491)

Cash flows from financing activities

Distribution to unitholders  (89,765,221)  (72,623,712)

Proceeds from borrowings 22  117,000,000  189,744,653 

Repayment of borrowings 22  (117,000,000)  (190,000,000)

Proceeds from issuance/placements of new units 25  3,974,420  - 

Expenses paid on issuance/placements of new units 25  (12,196)  (25,317)

Finance costs paid 22  (38,531,283)  (35,710,292)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (124,334,280)  (108,614,668)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (52,371,299)  14,689,996 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  64,507,902  49,817,906 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 19 12,136,603  64,507,902

         

         

         

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. MQREIT, THE MANAGER AND THEIR PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

 MRCB-Quill REIT (“MQREIT”) was constituted under a Deed dated 9 October 2006 (the “Trust Deed”), by MRCB Quill 

Management Sdn. Bhd. as the manager (the “Manager”) and Maybank Trustees Berhad as the trustee (the “Trustee”), and a 

Supplemental Deed dated 27 August 2007, Second Supplemental Deed dated 28 May 2013 and Third Supplemental Deed 

dated 2 April 2015, and is categorised as a real estate investment trust. MQREIT commenced its operations in 2006 and 

was listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) on 8 January 2007.

 The principal activity of MQREIT involves acquisition of and investment in commercial properties, primarily in Malaysia. 

The principal activity of each of the special purpose entities of MQREIT is to facilitate financing for MQREIT as disclosed 

in Note 26 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the 

financial year.

 The Manager is a company incorporated in Malaysia. The principal activity of the Manager is to manage MQREIT. There has 

been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Manager in accordance with a resolution of its directors on 22 

February 2019.

2. TERM OF MQREIT

 MQREIT will continue its operations until such time as determined by the Trustee and the Manager as provided under 

Clause 26 of the Trust Deed.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 3.1 Basis of preparation

  The financial statements of MQREIT have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 

Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and applicable provisions of the Trust Deed 

and Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by Securities Commission (“SC REIT Guidelines”).

  The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 

policies below.

  The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018
(cont’d)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.2 Changes in accounting policies

  The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.

  On 1 January 2018, MQREIT adopted the following new and amended MFRS and IC Interpretations mandatory for 

annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018:

Description

Effective for

annual periods

 beginning on

 or after

MFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

MFRS 15: Clarification to MFRS 15 1 January 2018

MFRS 9: Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle (Amendments to MFRS 1, MFRS 12  

and MFRS 128) 1 January 2018

Amendments to MFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 

Transactions 1 January 2018

Amendments to MFRS 4: Applying MFRS 9: Financial Instruments with MFRS 4: Insurance 

Contracts 1 January 2018

Amendments to MFRS 140: Transfers of Investment Property 1 January 2018

IC Interpretation 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018

  The adoption of the above standards, amendments and interpretations did not have any material effect on the 

financial performance or position of MQREIT except as disclosed below.

  MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

  MFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. MFRS 

15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction 

Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

  The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue which depict the transfer of promised 

goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 

entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

  Under MFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” 

of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 

  Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2018 with early adoption permitted. 

  90% of the revenue of MQREIT is derived from rental income from its investment properties, which is scoped out of 

MFRS 15. Through assessment of the revenue recognition principles under MFRS 15, the policies currently applied 

by MQREIT is consistent with the requirements of MFRS 15. Hence, other than enhanced disclosures required, there 

is no impact to MQREIT upon the adoption of MFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

(cont’d)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.2 Changes in accounting policies  (cont’d)

  MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

  In November 2014, MASB issued the final version of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the 

financial instruments project and replaces MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and 

all previous versions of MFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, 

impairment and hedge accounting. MFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 

with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not 

compulsory. The adoption of MFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of MQREIT’s financial 

assets, but no impact on the classification and measurement of MQREIT’s financial liabilities. 

  Receivables of MQREIT are mainly represented by accrued rental and lease receivables, which is scoped out of MFRS 

9. Trade receivables represent only 0.07% of the total assets of MQREIT. Based on the management’s assessment, 

there is no impact to MQREIT upon adoption of MFRS 9.

 3.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 

  The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of MQREIT’s 

financial statements are disclosed below. MQREIT intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 

become effective.

Description

Effective for

annual periods

 beginning on

 or after

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle (Amendments to MFRS 3, MFRS 11,  

MFRS 112 and, MFRS 123) 1 January 2019

MFRS 16: Leases 1 January 2019

IC Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

Amendments to MFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019

Amendments to MFRS 128: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019

Amendments to MFRS 3 : Business Combination 1 January 2020

Amendments to MFRS 101 : Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2020

Amendments to MFRS 108 : Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 1 January 2020

MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 

and its Associate or Joint Venture Deferred
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018
(cont’d)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.3 Standards issued but not yet effective  (cont’d)

  The directors of the Manager expect that the adoption of the above standards and interpretations will have no 

material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application, other than those described below:

  MFRS 16 Leases

  MFRS 16 will replace MFRS 117 Leases, IC Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, 

IC Interpretation 115 Operating Lease-Incentives and IC Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 

Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. MFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation 

and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar 

to the accounting for finance leases under MFRS 117. 

  At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments and an asset 

representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term. The right-of-use asset is initially measured 

at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions), less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at 

present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for 

interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications.

  Classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments under MFRS 117 are presented as 

operating cash flows, whereas under MFRS 16, the lease payments will be split into a principal (which will be 

presented as financing cash flows) and an interest portion (which will be presented as operating cash flows). 

  Lessor accounting under MFRS 16 is substantially the same as the accounting under MFRS 117. Lessors will continue 

to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in MFRS 117 and distinguish between two types of 

leases: operating and finance leases. MFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures 

than under MFRS 117. 

  MFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted but not 

before an entity applies MFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a 

modified retrospective approach. MQREIT is currently assessing the impact of adopting MFRS 16.

 3.4 Basis of consolidation

  The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of MQREIT and its special purpose entities 

(“SPEs”) as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the SPEs used in the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as MQREIT. Consistent accounting policies are applied 

to like transactions and events in similar circumstances. The SPEs are established for the specific purpose of raising 

financing on behalf of MQREIT for the acquisition of real estate and are single-purpose entities.

  MQREIT controls the SPEs if and only if MQREIT has all the following:

  (i) Power over the SPEs (such as existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the SPEs);

  (ii) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the SPEs; and 

  (iii) The ability to use its power over the SPEs to affect its returns. 

  SPEs controlled by MQREIT were established under terms that impose strict limitations on the decision-making 

powers of the SPEs management resulting in MQREIT receiving all of the benefits related to the SPEs operations and 

net assets.

  All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in full. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

(cont’d)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.5 Plant and equipment

  All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of plant and equipment is 

recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

  Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced in 

intervals, MQREIT recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. 

Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and 

equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

  Depreciation of plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of each asset to its 

residual value over the estimated useful life, at the following annual rates:

Plant and machinery 20%

Office equipment 20% - 50%

Furniture and fittings 33%

  The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

  The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 

prospectively, if appropriate. 

  An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 

from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised.

 3.6 Sales tax 

  Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:

  (i) When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 

in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 

expense item, as applicable; and

  (ii) When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

  The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 

or payables in the statement of financial position.
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 3.7 Investment properties

  Investment properties consist of investment in real estate assets primarily in commercial properties. These 

properties are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both.

  Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the 

cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criterias 

are met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are measured at fair value which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Fair value 

is arrived at by discounting cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by 

the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible) by external evidence such as current 

market rent for similar properties in the same location and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current 

market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows. Valuations are performed by 

accredited independent valuers having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience 

in the location and category of the properties being valued. In determining the carrying amount of an investment 

property, under the fair value model, the accrued rental and/or advance rental arising from recognising rental 

income from operating lease on straight line basis over the lease term are deducted against fair value of investment 

property.

  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are recognised in the profit or loss 

in the year in which they arise including the corresponding tax effect. A property interest under an operating lease 

is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a property-by-property basis when MQREIT holds it to 

earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Any such property interest under an operating lease classified as an 

investment property is carried at fair value.

  Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently 

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. Any gain or loss on the 

retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 

The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or 

loss in the period of derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from 

the derecognition of investment property is determined in accordance with the requirements for determining the 

transaction price in MFRS 15.

  Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from 

investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value 

at the date of change in use. For a transfer from owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the 

property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy stated under plant and equipment as set out in 

Note 3.5 up to the date of change in use.

 3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

  MQREIT assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, MQREIT makes an estimate of 

the asset’s recoverable amount. 

  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the 

purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 

cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)). 

  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted 

to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 

the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of 

CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.  

  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
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 3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets  (cont’d)

  An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 

impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 

amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 

had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

 3.9 Financial assets

  Financial assets with the exception of trade receivables without significant financing component are measured 

initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 

transaction costs. Trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction 

price. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

  Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 

other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

  The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 

characteristics and MQREIT’s business model for managing them. MQREIT’s business model for managing financial 

assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines 

whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

  Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless MQREIT change their business 

model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the 

first reporting period following the change in the business model.

  (i) Financial assets at amortised cost

   Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they meet both of the following conditions and are not 

designated as at FVTPL:

   - The financial assets are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order 

to collect contractual cash flows; and

   - The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

   Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and are 

subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 

modified or impaired.

  (ii) Financial assets at FVOCI

   Debt instruments

   Debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if they meet both of the following conditions and are not designated 

as at FVTPL:

   - The financial assets are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect 

contractual cash flows and selling; and 

   - The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

   Subsequent to initial recognition, debt instruments at FVOCI are measured at fair value.    
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 3.9 Financial assets  (cont’d)

  (ii) Financial assets at FVOCI  (cont’d)

   Debt instruments  (cont’d)

   Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in 

profit or loss. Other net fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Fair value changes 

accumulated in other comprehensive income are recycled to profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

   Equity instruments

   Upon initial recognition of equity investments that are not held for trading, MQREIT may irrevocably elect to 

classify equity investments that are not held for trading as equity instruments designated at FVOCI and to 

present subsequent changes in the fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an 

investment-by-investment basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, equity instruments at FVOCI are measured 

at fair value. 

   Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of 

part of the cost of the investment in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. 

Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and are never recycled to profit or 

loss when the asset is derecognised. Equity investments designated at FVOCI are not subject to impairment 

assessment.

  (iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

   Financial assets are classified and measured at FVTPL if they are not classified and measured at amortised 

cost or FVOCI or are designated as such upon initial recognition. This includes all derivative financial assets. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value. 

   Dividend income, interest income and any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in 

profit or loss, except for changes in fair value on derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting.

   A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

derecognised where:

   - the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

   - MQREIT retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay 

them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or 

   - MQREIT has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

   Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 

the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular way 

purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that 

MQREIT commit to purchase or sell the asset.        
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 3.10 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

  MQREIT uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risks. Such 

derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 

entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair 

value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

  Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss, except for 

the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later reclassified 

to profit or loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss.

  For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

  - Fair value hedges, when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or 

an unrecognised firm commitment (except for foreign currency risk); or

  - Cash flow hedges, when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 

particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the 

foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment; or 

  - Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

  At the inception of a hedge relationship, MQREIT formally designates and documents the hedge relationship and 

the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification 

of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged and how MQREIT will assess 

whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of sources 

of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge 

accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness requirements:

  - There is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instruments

  - The effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic relationship

  - The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged 

item that MQREIT actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that MQREIT actually uses to 

hedge that quantity of hedged item.

  Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

  Cash flow hedges

  The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the cash flow hedge 

reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash flow 

hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative 

change in fair value of the hedged item.

  MQREIT uses forward currency contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk in forecast transactions 

and firm commitments, as well as forward commodity contracts for its exposure to volatility in the commodity 

prices. The ineffective portion relating to foreign currency contracts is recognised as other expense and the 

ineffective portion relating to commodity contracts is recognised in other operating income or expenses.

  MQREIT designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a hedging instrument. The forward element is 

recognised in OCI and accumulated in a separate component of equity under cost of hedging reserve. 
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 3.10 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting  (cont’d)

  Cash flow hedges  (cont’d)

  The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are accounted for, depending on the nature of the 

underlying hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial 

item, the amount accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component of equity and included in the 

initial cost or other carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and 

will not be recognised in other comprehensive income for the period. This also applies where the hedged forecast 

transaction of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability subsequently becomes a firm commitment for which 

fair value hedge accounting is applied.

  For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or 

loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit 

or loss. 

 3.11 Impairment of financial assets 

  MQREIT recognise loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) on financial assets measured at amortised cost 

and debt investments measured at FVOCI.

  ECL are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the 

cash flows that MQREIT expect to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The 

expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are 

integral to the contractual terms.

  ECL are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible 

within the next 12-months (a 12-month expected credit losses). For those credit exposures for which there has been 

a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 

over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime expected credit losses).

  For trade receivables and contract assets, MQREIT apply a simplified approach in calculating ECL. Therefore, MQREIT 

do not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit 

losses at each reporting date. MQREIT have established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

  For debt instruments at FVOCI, MQREIT apply the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting date, MQREIT 

evaluate whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable 

information that is available without undue cost or effort. 

  MQREIT consider a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain 

cases, MQREIT may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates 

that MQREIT are unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any 

credit enhancements held by MQREIT. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovering the contractual cash flows.

 3.12 Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, demand deposits, and short term highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value.
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 3.13 Financial liabilities 

  Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the 

definitions of a financial liability. 

  Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial 

liabilities.

  (i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

   Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 

liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

   Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by MQREIT that do not meet the hedge 

accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at fair 

value, with any resultant gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives include 

exchange differences.

  (ii) Other financial liabilities

   MQREIT’s other financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings.

   Trade and other payables, loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable 

transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

   Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the 

amortisation process. 

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 

derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

 3.14 Offsetting of financial instruments

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial 

position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 3.15 Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 

activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs 

are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use. 

  All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs 

consist of interest and other costs that MQREIT incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

 3.16 Revenue and other income

  Revenue and other income are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 

to MQREIT and they can be reliably measured regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue and other 

income are measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.
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 3.16 Revenue and other income  (cont’d)

  The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised.

  (i)  Rental income

   Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate costs of incentives 

provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

  (ii) Utilities recovery and others

   Utilities recovery and others (such as license and service charges) are recognised on an accrual basis taking 

into account contractually defined terms.

  (iii)  Car park operations

   Revenue from car park operations are recognised as and when the services are rendered.

  (iv)  Interest income

   Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 

 3.17 Leases - as lessor

  Leases in which MQREIT does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are 

classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and 

is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 

over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in 

which they are earned.

 3.18 Income taxes 

  (i) Current income tax

   Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 

to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted 

or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

   Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 

outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically 

evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are 

subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

  (ii) Deferred tax

   Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

   - where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

   - in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where 

the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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 3.18 Income taxes  (cont’d)

  (ii) Deferred tax  (cont’d)

   Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 

credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 

losses can be utilised except:

   - where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 

the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

   - in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 

assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 

the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can 

be utilised. 

   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 

tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 

recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 

assets to be utilised. 

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

   Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 

tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 

acquisition. 

   Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 

taxation authority. 

 3.19 Current versus non-current classification

  MQREIT presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current 

classification. An asset is classified as current when it is:

  (i) Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

  (ii) Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

  (iii) Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

  (iv) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period.

  All other assets are classified as non-current.  



128 MRCB-Quill REIT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018
(cont’d)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.19 Current versus non-current classification  (cont’d)

  A liability is classified as current when: 

  (i) It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

  (ii) It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

  (iii) It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

  (iv) There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period.

  All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

 3.20 Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when MQREIT has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 

is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When MQREIT expects some or all of a provision to 

be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually 

certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of any 

reimbursement. 

  Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer 

probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If 

the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, 

where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 

the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

 3.21 Fair value measurement  

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 

that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

  -  In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

  -  In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

  The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by MQREIT.

  The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 

pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

  A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

  MQREIT uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 

available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 

unobservable inputs.
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 3.21 Fair value measurement  (cont’d)

  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole:

  - Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

  - Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable

  - Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable

  For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, MQREIT determines 

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

  For the purposes of fair value disclosures, MQREIT has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 

the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or liabilities and the level of the of fair value hierarchy as explained 

above. 

 3.22 Unitholders’ capital and units issuance expenses

  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of MQREIT after deducting all of 

its liabilities. Units are equity instruments.

  Units are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. Units are 

classified as equity. Dividends on units are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.

 3.23 Non-current asset classified as asset held for sale

  Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through 

a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly 

probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual 

and customary. 

  Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the non-current assets is brought up-to-date 

in accordance with applicable MFRS. Then, on initial classification as held for sale, non-current assets (other than 

investment properties, deferred tax assets, employee benefits assets, financial assets and inventories) are measured 

in accordance with MFRS 5 that is at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any differences 

are included in the profit or loss.         
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

 The preparation of MQREIT’s financial statements requires the management to make judgements, estimates, and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosures at the 

reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require 

a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

 4.1 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

  In the process of applying MQREIT’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart 

from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements:

  Operating lease commitments – as lessor

  MQREIT has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. MQREIT has determined, 

based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements such as the lease term not constituting 

a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the fair value of the asset, that it retains all the 

significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating leases. 

 4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date 

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are discussed below:

  (a) Fair valuation of investment properties

   MQREIT carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair values being recognised in profit 

or loss. MQREIT had engaged independent professional valuers to determine the fair value and there are no 

material events that affect the valuation between the valuation date and financial year end. 

   The determined fair value of the investment properties by the independent professional valuers is most 

sensitive to the estimated yield rate and the discount rate. The range of the term yield rate and the discount 

rate used in the valuation is disclosed in Note 15.

   The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in estimated 

term yield rate and discount rate and its corresponding sensitivity result in a higher or lower fair value 

measurement:

 Fair value

 Increase/(decrease)

 2018  2017 

 RM  RM 

Yield rate

- 0.25% 69,148,007  82,661,875 

+ 0.25% (62,237,316)  (79,728,386)

Discount rate

- 0.25% 15,976,117  17,243,112 

+ 0.25% (16,464,257)  (15,262,885)

   The other key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the investment properties, are further 

explained in Note 15. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  (cont’d)

 4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty  (cont’d)

  (b) Impairment of loans and receivables

   MQREIT assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 

impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, MQREIT considers factors such as 

the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay 

in payments. Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows 

are estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying 

amount of the MQREIT’s loans and receivables at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 18. 

5. REVENUE

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Rental income and service charges

- Realised  155,817,922  162,128,220 

- Unrealised (in relation to unbilled lease income receivable)  (849,536)  1,388,125 

Car park income  13,169,151  12,780,577 

Utilities recovery  4,320,696  5,128,487 

Others  68,310  76,258 

 172,526,543  181,501,667

 The realised revenue comprises rental and service charges, car park income from properties and utilities costs recoverable 

from tenants. The unrealised revenue refers to the unbilled lease income receivable pursuant to requirements of MFRS 117 

Leases, recognised on straight-line basis.

6. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

 2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Quit rent and assessment  8,130,655  8,505,275 

Depreciation  76,758  69,456 

Insurance  908,376  1,002,142 

Property management fee  3,110,531  2,896,684 

Service contracts and maintenance  12,129,366  10,942,596 

Utilities  15,369,152  16,744,911 

 39,724,838  40,161,064

 The property management fee is inclusive of permissible discount in accordance with the Valuers, Appraisers and Estate 

Agents Act, 1981 and reimbursable site staff cost.
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7. FINANCE INCOME

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Realised:

Interest income on fixed deposit  3,139,252  2,108,627 

Interest on deposit paid to authorities  20,733  22,117 

Interest income on lease receivable  254,199  327,991 

Late payment interest charged to tenants  54,608  16,246 

 3,468,792  2,474,981 

Unrealised:

Amortisation of deferred lease income (Note 21 (c))  858,541  1,115,112 

 4,327,333  3,590,093

8. MANAGER’S FEES

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Base fee  9,140,124  9,185,249 

Performance fee  4,113,601  4,272,823 

 13,253,725  13,458,072 

 The Manager is entitled under the Trust Deed to a base fee of 0.4% per annum of the gross asset value, payable monthly 

in arrears and a performance fee of 3% per annum on the net investment income, payable semi-annually in arrears.

 The Manager is also entitled under the Trust Deed to an acquisition fee of 1% of the acquisition value of any asset, being 

authorised investments, acquired by MQREIT and divestment fee of 0.5% of the disposal value of any asset divested by 

MQREIT.

 The Manager was entitled to a divestment fee of RM148,400 (inclusive of 6% GST) in respect of the disposal of QB8-DHL 

(XPJ) which was disposed on 12 April 2018. The divestment was charged to the profit or loss and netted off against the 

gain on divestment of investment property.

 During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Manager was paid 3,783,000 units (2017: nil) in MQREIT or 

equivalent to RM3,974,420 (2017: nil), as part settlement of its Manager’s management fee for the period from 1 January 

2017 to 30 September 2017. The Manager disposed 926,000 units (2017: nil) in MQREIT as payment of dividend in specie 

to its 3 shareholders on 10 December 2018.

 The Manager’s remuneration is accrued and paid in accordance with the Trust Deed.

 During the financial year, the Manager did not receive any soft commission (such as goods or services) from its broker, by 

virtue of transactions conducted by MQREIT.
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9. TRUSTEE’S FEE

 Trustee’s fee accrued to the Trustee for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to RM685,921 (2017: 

RM688,676).

 Trustee’s fee is payable to the Trustee, which is computed at 0.03% per annum on the first RM2.5 billion of the gross asset 

value and 0.02% per annum on the gross asset value in excess of RM2.5 billion, payable monthly in arrears. 

10. FINANCE COSTS

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Realised:

Accretion of interest expense  1,176,352  1,959,469 

Amortisation of transaction costs incurred to obtain Commercial Papers (“CPs”)/ 

Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”)  499,440  488,487 

Amortisation of transaction costs incurred to obtain Term Loan  310,113  395,188 

Annual CPs/MTNs Programme expense  461,382  531,590 

Loss on interest rate swap arrangements  530,635  1,101,630 

Interest expense on CPs  18,896,986  17,648,827 

Interest expense on MTNs  6,580,000  6,092,548 

Interest expense on Term Loan  11,319,890  11,267,000 

 39,774,798  39,484,739 

Unrealised:

Unwinding of discount on security deposits (Note 24)  815,631  1,028,040 

 40,590,429  40,512,779 

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

 The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are:

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (Note 23)  6,132,188  - 

 6,132,188  - 

 Pursuant to Section 61A of the Income Tax Act 1967, the income of a REIT would be exempted from income tax provided 

that the REIT distributes 90% or more of its total income for the year. If the REIT is not able to meet the 90% distribution 

criteria, the entire taxable income of the REIT would be subject to income tax.

 As MQREIT has paid and declared income distribution of more than 90% of its total income to unitholders, the total 

income of MQREIT for the year of assessment 2018 shall be exempted from tax.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE  (cont’d)

 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to income before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to income 

tax expense at the effective income tax rate of MQREIT for the financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as 

follows:

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Income before taxation  79,262,437  69,910,172 

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2017: 24%)  19,022,985  16,778,441 

Income not subject to taxation  (19,393,300)  (20,941,685)

Unrealised income not subject to tax (10,298)  (20,897)

Exempt income not subject to tax  (1,280,612)  (506,070)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,661,225  4,690,211 

Deferred tax on Real Property Gains Tax (“RPGT”) on the fair value gain of investment 

properties  6,132,188  - 

Income tax expense for the year  6,132,188  - 

12. EARNINGS PER UNIT (“EPU”)

 (a) EPU after manager’s fees is based on net income for the year of RM73,130,249 (2017: RM69,910,172) divided by the 

weighted average number of units in circulation during the year of 1,070,808,748 (2017: 1,068,000,000).

 (b) EPU before manager’s fees is based on net income for the year of RM86,383,974 (2017: RM83,368,244) after adding 

back manager’s fees of RM13,253,725 (2017: RM13,458,072) divided by the weighted average number of units in 

circulation during the year of 1,070,808,748 (2017: 1,068,000,000).

 (c) EPU after manager’s fees (realised) is based on realised net income for the year of RM84,653,758 (2017: 

RM88,006,515) divided by the weighted average number of units in circulation during the year of 1,070,808,748 

(2017: 1,068,000,000). 

 (d) EPU before manager’s fees (realised) is based on realised net income for the year of RM97,907,483 (2017: 

RM101,464,587) after adding back manager’s fees of RM13,253,725 (2017: RM13,458,072) divided by the weighted 

average number of units in circulation during the year of 1,070,808,748 (2017: 1,068,000,000). 
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13. DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS

 Distribution to the unitholders is from the following sources: 

2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Realised:

Revenue (Note 5)  173,376,079  180,113,542 

Finance income (Note 7)  3,468,792  2,474,981 

Gain on divestment of investment property  2,196,632  - 

 179,041,503  182,588,523 

Less: Total expenses  (94,387,745)  (94,582,008)

Total realised income  84,653,758  88,006,515 

Add: Distribution adjustments

Manager’s management fee payable in units  -  3,975,295 

Amount previously not distributed  2,400,000  - 

Distributable income  87,053,758  91,981,810 

Distribution to unitholders  86,600,067  89,605,200 

Distribution per unit (sen) of which:

- taxable distribution of income (sen)  7.59  8.19 

- tax exempt distribution of income (sen)  0.49  0.20 

Gross distribution per unit (sen) *  8.08  8.39 

 * Income distribution to resident individuals, non-resident individuals, resident institutional investors, non-resident 

institutional investors and non-resident companies are subject to withholding tax as follows: 

 Withholding tax rate

 2018  2017 

Resident and non-resident individuals 10% 10% 

Resident and non-resident institutional investors 10% 10% 

Resident companies (flow through) 0% 0% 

Non-resident companies 24% 24%
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14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and

  machinery 

 Office

 equipment 

Furniture

 and fittings  Total 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

At 31 December 2018

Cost

At 1 January 2018  6,000  332,925  19,400  358,325 

Additions  -  249,450  -  249,450 

At 31 December 2018  6,000  582,375  19,400  607,775 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2018  5,998  160,495  19,399  185,892 

Depreciation charge for the financial year  -  76,758  -  76,758 

At 31 December 2018  5,998  237,253  19,399  262,650 

Net carrying amount  2  345,122  1  345,125 

At 31 December 2017

Cost

At 1 January 2017  6,000  316,722  19,400  342,122 

Additions  -  16,203  -  16,203 

At 31 December 2017  6,000  332,925  19,400  358,325 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2017  5,998  91,039  19,399  116,436 

Depreciation charge for the financial year  -  69,456  -  69,456 

At 31 December 2017  5,998  160,495  19,399  185,892 

Net carrying amount  2  172,430  1  172,433

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2018  2017

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  2,159,459,119  2,203,647,244 

Additions from assets enhancement 3,833,631  383,415 

Fair value adjustments  (4,584,695)  (19,571,540)

Transfer to non-current asset held for sale (Note 20)  -  (25,000,000)

At 31 December  2,158,708,055  2,159,459,119 
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES  (cont’d)

 The carrying value of the investment properties for the financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is based on the 

market value determined based on valuations, adjusted with accrued rental income as required by MFRS 140, as follows:

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Investment properties - fair value  2,177,600,000  2,179,200,000 

Investment properties - accrued rental income (Note 18)  (18,891,945)  (19,740,881)

Investment properties  2,158,708,055  2,159,459,119

 On 14 August 2008, the respective pieces of land on which QB1 and QB4 are situated have been amalgamated pursuant 

to the conditions imposed by the SC during the initial public offering of MQREIT. As such, the valuations for QB1 and QB4 

have since been carried out based on the amalgamated properties.

 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which are determined based on valuations performed by 3 external valuers, 

namely Nawawi Tie Leung Property Consultants Sdn. Bhd., C H Williams Talhar & Wong Sdn. Bhd. and Knight Frank 

Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.; independent firms of professional valuer, registered with the Board of Valuers, Appraisers & Estate 

Agents Malaysia using the investment method of valuation.

 On 12 April 2018, MQREIT disposed QB8-DHL XPJ with the carrying amount of RM25 million, for the sales consideration of 

RM28.0 million, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Sales and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) executed on 8 

January 2018. 

 Investment properties with net carrying amount totalling RM2,098,600,000 (2017: RM2,125,200,000) are pledged as 

securities for borrowings as disclosed in Note 22.

 The investment properties are carried at Level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy as defined in Note 3.21. There 

have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 

December 2017.

 The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within Level 3, as well as the 

significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models:

Valuation 

technique

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Range Inter-relationship between significant unobservable 

inputs and fair value measurement 

 2018  2017 

Investment 

method  

(refer below)

Office:

Market rental rate  

(RM/psf/month)

 - Term 

 - Reversion 

Outgoings  

(RM/psf/month)

 - Term 

 - Reversion 

Void rate (%)

Term yield (%)

Reversionary  

yield (%)

Discount rate (%)

 4.2 - 9.0 

 4.5 - 9.0

0.6 - 1.8

0.8 - 2.0

 5.0 - 15.0 

 5.5 - 6.5 

 6.0 - 6.8 

 6.3 - 6.8 

 2.5 - 10.0 

 2.5 - 11.0 

0.3 - 1.9

0.3 - 2.0

5.0 - 10.0

 5.5 - 6.5 

 6.0 - 6.8 

 5.5 - 6.8 

The estimated fair value would increase/(decrease) if: 

- expected market rental growth were higher/(lower) 

- expected market rental growth were higher/(lower) 

 

- expected inflation rate were lower/(higher) 

- expected inflation rate were lower/(higher) 

- void rate were lower/(higher) 

- term yield rate were lower/(higher) 

 

- reversionary yield were lower/(higher) 

- discount rate is lower/(higher) 
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES  (cont’d)

Valuation 

technique

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Range  Inter-relationship between significant unobservable 

inputs and fair value measurement 

 2018  2017 

Investment 

method (refer 

below)

Retail:

Market rental rate 

(RM/psf/month)

 - Term 

 - Reversion 

Outgoings  

(RM/psf/month)

 - Term 

 - Reversion 

Void rate (%)

Term yield (%)

Reversionary  

yield (%)

Discount rate (%)

 

1.5 - 18.9 

 1.5 - 18.9

0.3 - 1.8

0.3 - 2.0

    5.0

 5.5 - 6.5 

 

6.0 - 6.8 

6.3 - 6.8 

 

1.5 - 16.5 

 1.5 - 16.5 

0.3 - 2.1

0.3 - 2.0

5.0 - 10.0

 5.5 - 6.5

 

6.0 - 7.0 

5.5 - 6.8 

The estimated fair value would increase/(decrease) if: 

 

- expected market rental growth were higher/(lower) 

- expected market rental growth were higher/(lower) 

 

- expected inflation rate were lower/(higher) 

- expected inflation rate were lower/(higher) 

- void rate were lower/(higher) 

- term yield rate were lower/(higher) 

- reversionary yield were lower/(higher) 

- discount rate is lower/(higher) 

 Investment method entails the capitalisation of the net rent from a property. Net rent is the residue of gross annual rent 

less annual expenses (outgoings) required to sustain the rent with allowance for void and management fees. 

16. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES

Contract/ 

notional 

amount

 Fair value of 

 derivatives liabilities

 2018  2017 

 RM  RM  RM 

Non-current

Interest rate swap (Note 35 (i))  139.5 million  211,635  344,436 

Interest rate swap (Note 35 (ii))  139.5 million  216,387  321,295 

 428,022  665,731

 MQREIT entered into interest rate swap transactions to manage the risks associated with interest rate movement as 

disclosed in Note 35. 

17. LEASE RECEIVABLES

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Non-current

Lease receivables  1,326,763  2,014,930 

Current

Lease receivables  688,167  730,820 
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17. LEASE RECEIVABLES  (cont’d)

 In financial year 2016 and 2015, MQREIT entered into a finance lease arrangement with a tenant (QB3) to part finance 

RM2.6 million and RM1.5 million of fit-out costs upon the renewal of tenancy agreement for another 10 years and 7 years 

respectively. The amount will be recovered through the top up rentals cumulatively amounted to RM3.5 million (at the 

approximate internal rate of return of 10.4% per annum) and RM1.9 million (at the approximate internal rate of return of 

10.7% per annum) respectively.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Note  2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Non-current

Accrued rental income  18,891,945  19,740,881 

Current

Trade receivables

Trade receivables  2,476,483  1,331,251 

Less: Allowance for impairment  (862,335)  (54,931)

Trade receivables, net (a)  1,614,148  1,276,320 

Other receivables

Deposits  2,886,115  2,879,133 

Prepayments  507,081  666,361 

Sundry receivables (b)  962,290  410,871 

 4,355,486  3,956,365 

 5,969,634  5,232,685 

Total trade and other receivables  5,969,634  5,232,685 

Less: Prepayments  (507,081)  (666,361)

Add: Deposits, cash and bank balances (Note 19)  85,775,603  76,041,326 

Total loans and receivables  91,238,156  80,607,650

 (a) Trade receivables

  Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and are generally on 7 to 30 days term (2017: 7 to 30 days term). They are 

recognised at the original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

  Concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables arises mainly due to single tenancy of the majority of 

MQREIT’s properties. However, the risk is mitigated by the tenants which are engaged in diversified businesses and 

are of good quality and strong credit standing.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  (cont’d)

 (a) Trade receivables  (cont’d)

  Ageing analysis of trade receivables

  The ageing analysis of MQREIT’s trade receivables is as follows:

 2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Neither past due nor impaired  1,010,842  1,122,126 

1 - 30 days past due not impaired  -  73,847 

31 - 60 days past due not impaired  264,124  40,341 

61 - 90 days past due not impaired  152,009  - 

More than 90 days past due not impaired  187,173  40,006 

 603,306  154,194 

 1,614,148  1,276,320 

Impaired  862,335  54,931 

 2,476,483  1,331,251

  Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

  Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with 

MQREIT.

  

  Receivables that are past due but not impaired

  MQREIT has trade receivables amounted to RM603,306 (2017: RM154,194) that are past due at the reporting date 

but not impaired. 

  Trade receivables from tenants are secured by security deposits.  

  Receivables that are impaired

  MQREIT’s trade receivables that are individually impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance 

accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 

 2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Trade receivables - nominal amounts (after offsetting security deposits)  862,335  54,931 

Less: Allowance for impairment  (862,335)  (54,931)

 -  -
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  (cont’d)

 (a) Trade receivables  (cont’d)

  Receivables that are impaired  (cont’d)

  The movement of allowance accounts is as follows:

 2018 2017

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  54,931  347,639 

Charge for the financial year  899,357  504,017 

Reversal for the financial year  (91,953)  (796,725)

At 31 December  862,335  54,931 

  The Manager assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the trade receivable 

is impaired. The Manager makes an allowance for impairment after considering factors such as the probability of 

insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

 (b) Sundry receivables

  MQREIT has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a single debtor or group of 

debtors relating to sundry receivables.         

  

19. DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Deposits with licensed financial institutions  80,486,003  72,403,166 

Cash on hand and at banks  5,289,600  3,638,160 

Total deposits, cash and bank balances  85,775,603  76,041,326 

Less:

Deposits with licensed financial institution with maturity of more than 3 months  (68,490,041)  (6,448,766)

Debt service reserves accounts pledged  (5,148,959)  (5,084,658)

Cash and cash equivalents  12,136,603  64,507,902

 Included in deposits with licensed financial institutions is an amount of RM5,148,959 (2017: RM5,084,658) maintained in 

the debt service reserves accounts which are assigned for the borrowings as disclosed in Note 22.

 Included in cash on hand and at banks is an amount of RM4,444,246 (2017: RM3,165,235) maintained in the revenue and 

operations accounts which are assigned for the borrowings as disclosed in Note 22.
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19. DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK BALANCES  (cont’d)

 The weighted average effective interest rate of deposits at the reporting date is as follows:

 2018  2017

% % 

Deposits with licensed financial institutions (per annum)  3.82  3.51 

 Deposits with licensed financial institutions have an average maturity ranging from 31 to 184 days (2017: 23 to 184 days).

20. NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE

2018

 RM 

Investment properties

At 1 January  25,000,000 

Disposed on 12 April 2018  (25,000,000)

At 31 December  - 

 On 8 January 2018, MQREIT entered into SPA with Transmark Corporation Sdn. Bhd. (“TCSB” or “the Purchaser”) for the 

proposed disposal of Quill Building 8 (“QB8”), for a total cash consideration of RM28 million. 

 On 12 April 2018, the Proposed Disposal was completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the above 

SPA. 
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Note  2018  2017 

 RM  RM 

Non-current

Other payables

Deferred lease income (c)  1,825,879  221,866 

Current

Trade payables

Trade payables (a)  765,757  799,390 

Trade accruals  5,929,981  4,656,924 

 6,695,738  5,456,314 

Other payables

Amount due to the Manager (b)  2,847,805  7,594,920 

Other payables (a)  521,916  691,058 

Accruals  5,204,715  5,891,553 

Deferred lease income (c)  844,151  670,203 

 9,418,587  14,847,734 

 16,114,325  20,304,048 

Total trade and other payables  17,940,204  20,525,914 

Add: Borrowings (Note 22)  853,704,352  853,452,854 

Add: Security deposits (Note 24)  21,210,995  29,023,125 

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost  892,855,551  903,001,893

 (a) Trade and other payables

  Trade and other payables are normally settled between 30 to 90 days (2017: 30 to 90 days). 

 (b) Amount due to the Manager

  Amount due to the Manager is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  (cont’d)

 (c) Deferred lease income

  Deferred lease income relates to the difference between the fair value of non-current security deposits recognised 

on initial recognition and the nominal amount received, which is amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease 

terms ranging from 1 to 10 years (2017: 1 to 11 years).

  The movement of deferred lease income (current and non-current) is as follows:

 2018  2017

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  892,069  4,108,077 

Additions/(refunds) during the financial year  2,636,502  (2,100,896)

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 7)  (858,541)  (1,115,112)

At 31 December  2,670,030  892,069 

Representing:

Current  844,151  670,203 

Non-current  1,825,879  221,866 

 2,670,030  892,069 

22. BORROWINGS

Note  2018  2017 

 RM  RM 

Non-current

Secured:

Fixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million (a)  116,842,726  - 

Senior CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM290 million (b)  275,947,231  275,799,490 

Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan Facility of up to RM250 million (b)  109,833,591  109,690,760 

CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM3 billion (c)  351,080,804  351,094,155 

 853,704,352  736,584,405 

Current

Secured:

Fixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million (a)  -  116,868,449 

 -  116,868,449 

Total  853,704,352  853,452,854
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22. BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 The maturities of MQREIT’s borrowings as at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

 2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Less than 1 year  -  116,868,449 

More than 1 year and less than 5 years  853,704,352  736,584,405 

 853,704,352  853,452,854 

 Other information on financial risks of borrowings are disclosed in Note 39(a) and Note 39(c).

 (a) Fixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million (“RM150 million Term Loan”)

  The RM150 million 5-year Term Loan Facilities are analysed as follows:

  2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Term loan drawdown  117,000,000  117,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  (131,551)  (328,600)

Transaction costs incurred during the year  (168,500)  - 

 116,699,949  116,671,400 

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  142,777  197,049 

 116,842,726  116,868,449 

  On 18 July 2013, MQREIT through its SPE, Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“Trusmadi”), established a RM150 million Fixed 

Rate Term Loan Facility agreement for 5 years (“RM150 million Term Loan”).

  On 13 September 2013, Tranche 1 of the Facility of RM117 million at the interest rate of 4.60% per annum was 

drawdown to repay the RM117 million MTN outstanding under the RM134 million CP/MTN Programme which 

matured on 13 September 2013. Tranche 2 will be used for capital expenditure and investments at the interest rate 

of Reference Malaysian Government Securities (“MGS”) + 1.4% per annum.

  On 13 September 2018, the term loan facility was extended for a further term of five (5) years from 13 September 

2018 to 13 September 2023, at an interest rate of 4.75% per annum.

  The transaction costs relating to the programme are amortised over the tenure of the programme and are charged 

to profit or loss. 

  The RM150 million Term Loan is secured, inter-alia by the following: 

  (i) Third party first legal charge over WT, QB8 and QB5, respectively disclosed as investment properties in Note 

15 (collectively, the “Charged Properties”);

  (ii) Third party legal assignment of the SPA for the acquisitions of part of PMK, respectively disclosed as 

investment properties in Note 15 (the “Assigned Property”); 

  (iii) First party debenture over all present and future assets of Trusmadi; 
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22. BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 (a) Fixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million (“RM150 million Term Loan”)  cont’d

  The RM150 million Term Loan is secured, inter-alia by the following:  cont’d

  (iv) An undertaking from the Manager:

   (a) to deposit all income/insurance proceeds generated from the Charged and Assigned Property 

(collectively, the “Secured Properties”) into revenue accounts; and

   (b) that it shall not declare any dividends/distributions to unitholders if:

    - an event of default has occurred under the Transaction Documents, is continuing and has not 

been waived; or

    - the financial covenants are not met prior and after such distribution; 

  (v) First legal charge or third party assignment by the Trustee for the revenue accounts, operations accounts and 

a first party assignment by Trusmadi for the debt service reserves account;

  (vi) Third party legal assignment of all the proceeds under the tenancy/lease agreements of the Secured 

Properties;

  (vii) Third party assignment over all rights, title, interest and benefits under all the insurance policies in relation to 

the Secured Properties;

  (viii) First legal assignment over the REIT Trustee Financing Agreement entered into between Trusmadi and the 

Trustee; and

  (ix) Third party first legal charge over the entire shares of Trusmadi.

 (b) Senior CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM290 million (“Senior CP/MTN Programme”) and Fixed Rate 

Subordinated Term Loan Facility of up to RM250 million (“Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan”)

 2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Senior CPs/MTNs Programme

Face value of CP issued/rollover  279,000,000  279,000,000 

Discount  (2,844,959)  (2,671,062)

Cash proceeds  276,155,041  276,328,938 

Accretion of interest expense  125,053  88,057 

 276,280,094  276,416,995 

Transaction costs carried forward  (617,506)  (901,857)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  284,643  284,352 

 275,947,231  275,799,490 
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22. BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 (b) Senior CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM290 million (“Senior CP/MTN Programme”) and Fixed Rate 

Subordinated Term Loan Facility of up to RM250 million (“Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan”)  (cont’d)

 2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan

Term Loan drawdown  110,000,000  110,000,000 

Transaction costs carried forward  (309,240)  (451,925)

 109,690,760  109,548,075 

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  142,831  142,685 

 109,833,591  109,690,760 

Total  385,780,822  385,490,250 

  On 13 March 2015, MQREIT through its SPE, Murud Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“Murud”) established a RM290 million Senior 

CP/MTN Programme for 5 years.

  On 30 March 2015, RM279 million nominal values of Senior CP was issued at an interest rate of 4.13% per annum. 

On 30 September 2015, a Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan of RM110 million was established at the interest rate 

of 4.9% per annum.

  The CP/Term Loan outstanding as at 31 December 2018 are subject to interest at the following interest rates per 

annum as at the reporting date:

 2018  2017

 %  % 

RM279 million nominal value CP  4.09  3.84 

RM110 million nominal value Term Loan  5.35  5.35 

  The interest rates for the CP are subject to interest rate swap arrangements as disclosed in Note 35.

  The transaction costs relating to the programmes are amortised to profit or loss over the tenure of the programmes. 

  The programmes are secured, inter-alia by the following:

  (i) A third party first ranking legal charge over Platinum Sentral, disclosed as investment properties in Note 15 

(“Property”);

  (ii) A first party first ranking debenture over all present and future assets of Murud;

  (iii) An irrevocable and unconditional undertaking from the Manager: 

   (a) to deposit all rental, deposits, other income, insurance claim proceeds in relation to the Property and 

any proceeds generated from the Property into the revenue account; and    
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22. BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 (b) Senior CPs/MTNs Programme of up to RM290 million (“Senior CP/MTN Programme”) and Fixed Rate 

Subordinated Term Loan Facility of up to RM250 million (“Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan”)  (cont’d)

  The programmes are secured, inter-alia by the following:  (cont’d)

  (iii) An irrevocable and unconditional undertaking from the Manager:  (cont’d)

   (b) that it shall not declare any dividends/distributions to unitholders if:

    - an event of default has occurred under the Transaction Documents, is continuing and has not 

been waived or remedied, or following such declaration of dividends or distributions, an event of 

default would occur; or

    - the financial covenants are not met prior to and/or after such distribution;

  (iv) Third party legal assignment of the SPA entered into between MRCB Sentral Properties Sdn. Bhd. (“Vendor”) 

and the REIT Trustee on behalf of MQREIT in respect of the Property (“SPA”);

  (v) Assignment and charge over the Designated Accounts as follows:

   (a) third party assignment and charge over the revenue account and operations account by the Trustee; 

and

   (b) first party assignment and charge of the debt service reserves account by Murud; 

  (vi) Third party legal assignment of all the proceeds under the tenancy/lease agreements of the Property and any 

part thereof;

  (vii) Third party legal assignment over all rights, title, interest and benefits under all the insurance policies in 

relation to the Property;

  (viii) An irrevocable Power of Attorney to be granted by the Trustee in favour of the Security Trustee to manage and 

dispose of the Property upon declaration of a trigger event;

  (ix) Legal assignment over the REIT Trustee Financing Agreement entered into between Murud and the Trustee;

  (x) Third party first ranking legal charge over 100% of the shares of Murud; and

  (xi) Any other securities deemed appropriate and mutually agreed between Murud and the Lead Arranger prior to 

execution of all the Transaction Documents.
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22. BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 (c) Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme (“MTN Programme”) 

with aggregate combined limit of RM3.0 billion in nominal value (“RM3 billion Programme”)

  2018 2017

 RM  RM 

RM144 million in nominal value of CP and RM20 million in nominal  

value of MTN (“Issue 1”)

Face value of CP/MTN issued  164,000,000  164,000,000 

Discount  (3,159,320)  (2,986,994)

Cash proceeds  160,840,680  161,013,006 

Accretion of interest expense  190,948  164,121 

 161,031,628  161,177,127 

Transaction costs carried forward  (366,828)  (460,355)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  93,580  93,527 

 160,758,380  160,810,299 

RM61 million in nominal value of CPs and RM130 million in nominal  

value of MTN (“Issue 2”)

Face value of CPs/MTN issued  191,000,000  191,000,000 

Discount  (1,330,970)  (1,255,347)

Cash proceeds  189,669,030  189,744,653 

Accretion of interest expense  860,351  811,467 

 190,529,381  190,556,120 

Transaction costs carried forward  (272,264)  (326,670)

Amortisation of transaction costs during the year  65,307  54,406 

 190,322,424  190,283,856 

Total  351,080,804  351,094,155

  On 30 November 2016, MQREIT through its SPE, Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd. (“Kinabalu”) established a RM3.0 billion 

nominal value CP/MTN programme. The CP Programme shall have a legal tenure of seven (7) years from the date of 

the first issue of the CPs under the CP Programme, whereas the MTN Programme shall have a legal tenure of twenty 

(20) years from the date of the first issue of MTNs under the MTN Programme.

  On 22 December 2016, RM144 million in nominal value of CPs and RM20 million in nominal value of MTNs out of 

the respective programme were issued at the interest rate of 4.13% per annum and 4.30% per annum respectively. 

The proceeds raised from the issuance were utilised to part-finance the acquisition of Menara Shell together with a 

5-storey podium and a 4-storey basement car park.
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22. BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 (c) Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme (“MTN Programme”) 

with aggregate combined limit of RM3.0 billion in nominal value (“RM3 billion Programme”)  (cont’d)

  The CP/MTN outstanding as at 31 December 2018 are subject to interest at the following interest rates per annum 

as at the reporting date:

 2018 2017

 %  % 

RM144 million nominal value CP  4.40  4.16 

RM20 million nominal value MTN  4.30  4.30

  The transaction costs relating to the programmes are amortised to profit or loss over the tenure of the 

programme. 

  The Issue 1 is secured, inter-alia by the following:

  (i) A third party first ranking legal charge over Menara Shell, disclosed as investment properties in Note 15 (the 

“Secured Property - Issue 1”);

  (ii) An undertaking from the Manager:

   (a) to deposit all rental cash flows, deposits, other income, and insurance claim proceeds in relation to the 

Secured Property - Issue 1 and any proceeds generated from the Secured Property - Issue 1 into the 

relevant revenue account; and

   (b) that it shall not make or permit to make any withdrawal from the revenue account; operations account; 

debt service reserve account (“DSRA”) (collectively, the “Designated Accounts - Issue 1”) for the 

declaration of any dividends or distributions to unitholders, if: 

    - an event of default and/or trigger event under Issue 1 has occurred and is continuing or will occur 

as a result of such payment or distribution; or

    - the financial covenants under Issue 1 are not met prior to and/or after such distribution;

  (iii) First ranking legal charge and assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 

Designated Accounts - Issue 1 (i.e. third party legal assignment and charge by the Trustee over the Revenue 

Account and Operations Account; and a first party legal assignment by Kinabalu over the DSRA); 

  (iv) Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 

proceeds deriving from the tenancy/lease agreements in relation to the Secured Property - Issue 1, including 

the rights to sue and to recover such proceeds from the tenants or lessees;

  (v) Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 

insurance policies in relation to the Secured Property - Issue 1;

  (vi) An irrevocable Power of Attorney granted by the Trustee in favour of the Security Trustee to dispose the 

Secured Property - Issue 1 upon declaration of a trigger event under Issue 1;

  (vii) First party assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the REIT Trustee Financing 

Agreement entered into between Kinabalu; the Trustee and the Security Trustee for the provision of the inter-

company loan from Kinabalu to the Trustee from the proceeds raised from the Issue 1. 
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22. BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 (c) Commercial Papers Programme (“CP Programme”) and Medium Term Notes Programme (“MTN Programme”) 

with aggregate combined limit of RM3.0 billion in nominal value (“RM3 billion Programme”)  (cont’d)

  On 6 March 2017, RM61 million in nominal value of CPs and RM130 million nominal value of MTNs from the CP 

and MTN Programme were issued at the interest rate of 4.14% per annum and 4.40% per annum respectively. The 

proceeds raised from this issuance were utilised to redeem the existing RM60 million MTNs and RM130 million CPs 

under the RM270 million CP/MTN Programme which matured on 6 March 2017.

  The CPs/MTNs outstanding as at 31 December 2018 are subject to interest at the following interest rates per annum 

as at the reporting date:

 2018 2017

 %  % 

RM61 million nominal value CPs  4.40  4.15 

RM130 million nominal value MTN  4.40  4.40

  The transaction costs relating to the programme are amortised over the tenure of the programme and are charged 

to profit or loss.

  The Issue 2 is secured, inter-alia by the following:

  (i) A third party first legal charge by Trustee over QB1, QB4, QB2 and Tesco, disclosed as investment properties in 

Note 15 (collectively, the “Secured Properties - Issue 2”); 

  (ii) An undertaking from the Manager:

   (a) to deposit all rental cash flows, deposits, other income, and insurance claim proceeds in relation to 

the Secured Properties - Issue 2 and any proceeds generated from Secured Properties - Issue 2 into the 

relevant revenue accounts; and

   (b) that it shall not make or permit to make any withdrawal from the revenue account; operations accounts; 

debt service reserve account (“DSRA”) (collectively, the “Designated Accounts - Issue 2”) for the 

declaration of any dividends or distributions to unitholders, if:

    - an event of default and/or trigger event under Issue 2 has occurred and is continuing or will occur 

as a result of such payment or distribution; or

    - the financial covenants under Issue 2 are not met prior to and/or after such distribution;

  (iii) First ranking legal charge and assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 

Designated Accounts - Issue 2 (i.e. third party legal assignment and charge by the Trustee over the Revenue 

Account and Operations Account; and a first party legal assignment by the Kinabalu over the DSRA);

  (iv) Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 

proceeds deriving from the tenancy/lease agreements in relation to the Secured Properties - Issue 2, including 

the rights to sue and to recover such proceeds from the tenants or lessees;

  (v) Third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the 

insurance policies in relation to the Secured Properties - Issue 2;

  (vi) An irrevocable Power of Attorney granted by the Trustee in favour of the Security Trustee to dispose the 

Secured Properties - Issue 2 upon declaration of a trigger event under Issue 2; 

  (vii) First party assignment over all rights, titles, interests and benefits in and under the REIT Trustee Financing 

Agreement entered into between Kinabalu; the Trustee and the Security Trustee for the provision of the inter-

company loan from Kinabalu to the Trustee from the proceeds raised from the Issue 2.    
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23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

2018

 RM 

At beginning of financial year  - 

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 11)  6,132,188 

At end of financial year  6,132,188 

 The deferred tax liabilities relates to the provision of deferred tax liabilitities on RPGT on the fair value gain of investment 

properties.

24. SECURITY DEPOSITS 

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

At 1 January  29,023,125  26,130,815 

(Refunds)/additions during the financial year  (7,769,220)  2,979,382 

Recognised in profit or loss:

Deferred lease income (Note 21(c))  (858,541)  (1,115,112)

Unwinding of discount on security deposits (Note 10)  815,631  1,028,040 

At 31 December  21,210,995  29,023,125 

Representing:

Non-current  11,168,217  16,194,911 

Current  10,042,778  12,828,214 

 21,210,995  29,023,125 

25. UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL

 No. of units

 2018  2017 

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January  1,068,000,000  1,068,000,000 

Issuance of new units as part satisfaction of the Manager’s management fees (Note 8)  3,783,000  - 

At 31 December  1,071,783,000  1,068,000,000 
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25. UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL  (cont’d)

 Amount

 2018  2017 

 RM  RM 

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January  1,231,914,544  1,231,939,861 

Issuance of new units as part satisfaction of the Manager’s management fees (Note 8)  3,974,420  - 

Expenses on issuance of new units/placements  (12,196)  (25,317)

At 31 December  1,235,876,768  1,231,914,544

26. INVESTMENTS IN SPEs

 Details of SPEs are as follows:

Name of SPEs

Country of

incorporation Principal activity

 Proportion of

 ownership interest 

 2018  2017 

 %  % 

Murud Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for MQREIT  100  100 

Trusmadi Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for MQREIT  100  100 

Samwise Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for MQREIT  100  100 

Kinabalu Capital Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Facilitating financing for MQREIT  100  100 

 All the above subsidiaries are audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia.

27. COMMITMENTS

 (a) Capital commitments

  Capital expenditure as at reporting date is as follows:

 2018 2017

 RM  RM 

Capital expenditure approved and contracted for investment properties  2,056,500  4,136,075
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(cont’d)

27. COMMITMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

 2018 2017

 RM  RM 

As lessor

Future minimum rental receivable:

Not later than 1 year  141,031,880  148,609,413 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  420,349,604  408,786,430 

Later than 5 years  245,656,769  315,063,732 

 807,038,253  872,459,575

  MQREIT has entered into leases on its investment properties. The non-cancellable leases have remaining lease terms 

of between one to thirteen years (2017: between one to fourteen years). 

28. NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT

 The calculation of net asset value per unit is based on 1,071,783,000 units (2017: 1,068,000,000 units) in circulation as at 31 

December 2018.

29. TRANSACTIONS WITH STOCKBROKING COMPANIES

 No transactions with stockbroking companies were made during the financial year.

30. UNITHOLDINGS BY THE MANAGER

 On 4 April 2018, MQM received 3,783,000 new units (2017: nil) in MQREIT as part settlement of it’s Manager’s 

management fee.

 On 10 December 2018, MQM disposed 926,000 units (2017: nil) for the payment of dividend in specie to its 3 shareholders, 

as follows:

Units

(i) Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad  380,000 

(ii) Quill Resources Holding Sdn. Bhd.  361,000 

(iii) Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd.  185,000 

 926,000 

 As at 31 December 2018, the Manager held 2,857,000 units (2017: nil) in MQREIT. 
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31. UNITHOLDERS RELATED TO THE MANAGER

 MQREIT 

 No. of units  No. of units 

 Percentage 

 of total 

 units 

 Percentage 

 of total 

 units 

 Market 

 value 

 2018  2017  2018  2017  2018 

 %  %  RM 

Malaysian Resources Corporation 

Berhad (“MRCB”)  298,297,000  297,917,000  27.83  27.89  316,194,820 

HLIB Nominee (Tempatan)  

Sdn. Bhd. for:

Quill Properties Sdn. Bhd. (“QPSB”)  40,997,000  45,997,000  3.83  4.31  43,456,820 

Quill Land Sdn. Bhd. (“QLSB”)  767,000  48,767,000  0.07  4.57  813,020 

Quill Estates Sdn. Bhd. (“QESB”)  17,276,000  22,276,000  1.61  2.09  18,312,560 

MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd.  2,857,000  -  0.27  -  3,028,420 

Quill Resources Holding Sdn. Bhd. 

(“QRSB”)  361,000  -  0.03  -  382,660 

Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd.  185,000  -  0.02  -  196,100 

 360,740,000  414,957,000  33.66  38.85  382,384,400 

The Manager’s directors’ direct 

unitholding in MQREIT:

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P.  50,000  50,000 - -  53,000 

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun  55,000  55,000  0.01  0.01  58,300 

Kwan Joon Hoe  80,000  -  0.01  -  84,800 

The Manager’s directors’ indirect 

unitholding in MQREIT:

Dato’ Dr. Low Moi Ing, J.P. (a)  59,401,000  117,040,000  5.54  10.96  62,965,060 

Dato’ Michael Ong Leng Chun (b)  59,401,000  117,040,000  5.54  10.96  62,965,060 

Tan Sri Saw Choo Boon (c)  185,000  -  0.02  -  196,100 

 

 (a) Deemed interest by virtue of her direct shareholding in QPSB, QLSB, QESB and QRSB.

 (b) Deemed interest by virtue of his direct shareholding in QPSB, QLSB and QESB.

 (c) Deemed interest by way of his substantial shareholding in Morningale Sdn. Bhd. and Jendela Elit Sdn. Bhd., which in 

turn are substantial shareholders of Global Jejaka Sdn. Bhd..      
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32. PORTFOLIO TURNOVER RATIO

2018 2017

Portfolio Turnover Ratio (“PTR”) [times]  0.01  - 

 PTR is the ratio of the average of acquisitions and disposals of investments for the period to the average net asset value of 

MQREIT for the period calculated on a monthly basis.

 Since the basis of calculating the PTR can vary among the REITs, there is no sound basis for providing an accurate 

comparison of MQREIT against other REITs.

33. MANAGEMENT EXPENSE RATIO

2018 2017

 %  % 

Management Expense Ratio (“MER”)  1.09  1.07 

 MER is calculated based on the total fees including Manager’s fees, Trustee’s fees, auditor’s fees, tax agent’s fees, valuation 

fees and administration expenses charged to MQREIT divided by the average Net Asset Value during the financial year 

calculated on a monthly basis. 

 Since the basis of calculating MER can vary among real estate investment trusts, comparison of MQREIT’s MER with other 

REITs which use a different basis of calculation may not be an accurate comparison.
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34. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

 The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the 

financial year. 

 2018 2017

 RM  RM 

(i) Car park income from Semasa Parking Sdn. Bhd.

- Platinum Sentral  1,854,279  1,996,297 

- Menara Shell  2,170,473  2,079,857 

(ii) Auxiliary police services with Semasa Sentral Sdn. Bhd.

- Platinum Sentral  403,186  512,400 

- Menara Shell  710,238  807,345 

(iii) Supply of chilled water with Semasa District Cooling Sdn. Bhd.  2,963,261  2,888,419 

(iv) Lease of land at Platinum Sentral with Malaysian Resources Sentral Sdn. Bhd.  67,078  67,078 

(v) Reimbursement of insurance to Kuala Lumpur Sentral Sdn. Bhd.  15,582  14,022 

(vi) Reimbursements to 348 Sentral Sdn. Bhd. 2,401,040  2,910,114 

Reimbursement from 348 Sentral Sdn. Bhd.  (211,922)  - 

(vii) Reimbursement to Joint Management Body for Lot 348  208,055  9,611 

(viii) Provision of MSC Services

- Kuala Lumpur Sentral Sdn. Bhd.  50,022  50,000 

- MRCB Sentral Properties Sdn. Bhd.  359,857  371,022 

(ix) Event space charges to Malaysian Resources Corporation Berhad  3,000  - 

(x) Tenancy agreement with Prema Bonanza Sdn. Bhd. and charges on  

reinstatement works

 -  199,079 

(xi) Reimbursement of electricity charges to Country Annexe Sdn. Bhd.  -  15,055 

10,994,149  11,920,299

 Details of material contracts with related parties other than as disclosed in Note 8 are as follows: 

 (i) MQREIT renewed the car park operation agreement for Platinum Sentral with Semasa Parking Sdn. Bhd. (“SPSB”) 

for a period of 2 years commencing from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2018, at a monthly minimum guaranteed 

rental of RM150,000 with a profit sharing basis in the proportion of 80% (MQREIT): 20% (SPSB) ratio. The total 

amount received for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to RM1,854,279.

  On 22 March 2017, MQREIT appointed SPSB as the car park operator for Menara Shell for a period effective from 

22 March 2017 to 21 December 2019. The monthly fee for the period from 22 March 2017 to 21 December 2018 is 

at RM170,000 per month while the monthly fee for the period from 22 December 2018 to 21 December 2019 is at 

RM180,000. The total amount received for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to RM2,170,473.

  SPSB was incorporated in Malaysia on 6 August 1997 and its principal activity is operation and management of car 

parks and parking area.

  SPSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of MQREIT and also a major 

shareholder of MQM.
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34. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS  (cont’d)

 Details of material contracts with related parties other than as disclosed in Note 8 are as follows:  (cont’d)

 (ii) As announced on 22 August 2017, MQREIT appointed Semasa Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“SSSB”) to provide auxiliary police 

services at Menara Shell and Platinum Sentral for a period of two (2) years commencing from 1 September 2017 

to 31 August 2019 at the monthly rate of RM58,026 and RM32,940 respectively (excluding GST) with an option to 

extend for a further period of one (1) year.

  Auxiliary police services with SSSB for deployment of auxiliary police personnel from January 2018 up to December 

2018, at Platinum Sentral and Menara Shell amounted to RM403,186 and RM710,238 respectively.

  SSSB was incorporated in Malaysia on 4 May 1982 and its principal activity is maintaining, operating and 

management of the Kuala Lumpur Sentral Station and any other buildings within the vicinity of Kuala Lumpur 

Sentral.

  SSSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of MQREIT and also a major 

shareholder of MQM.

 (iii) Supply of chilled water by Semasa District Cooling Sdn. Bhd. (‘’SDCSB”) for installation, maintenance and meter 

reading for Platinum Sentral. The year to date charges for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to 

RM2,963,261.

  SDCSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of MQREIT and also a major 

shareholder of MQM.

 (iv) Lease agreement with Malaysian Resources Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“MRSSB”) on lease of 2 pieces of land located on 

Platinum Sentral, measuring total NLA of 156,959 sq. ft., for a rental amounting to RM67,078.

  MRSSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of MQREIT and also a major 

shareholder of MQM.

 (v) Reimbursement of insurance to Kuala Lumpur Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“KLSSB”) for Platinum Sentral Lot E deck from 1 

April 2018 to 31 March 2019 amounted to RM15,582. 

  KLSSB is a subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of MQREIT and also a major shareholder of MQM.

 (vi) Reimbursement of chilled water and telephone charges to 348 Sentral Sdn. Bhd. (“348 Sentral”) for Menara Shell 

amounted to RM2,400,757 and RM283 respectively. There were reimbursement costs from 348 Sentral for the repair 

costs to install the defective fan assisted terminals amounted to RM183,000 and other reimbursements on utilities 

charges amounted to RM28,922 for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

  348 Sentral is a subsidiary of MRCB, which in turn is a major unitholder of MQREIT and also a major shareholder of 

MQM. 

 (vii) Maintenance and sinking fund charged by Joint Management Body for Lot 348 (“JMB Lot 348”) for Menara Shell for 

the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 amounted to RM23,065 and reimbursement of quit rent and 

insurance amounted to RM184,990 respectively.

  JMB Lot 348 is established on 1 August 2017 under Section 17(2) of the Strata Management Act 2013. The 

committee of JMB Lot 348 consists of three (3) members of whom, 2 members are from MQREIT and 1 member from 

348 Sentral.
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34. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS  (cont’d)

 Details of material contracts with related parties other than as disclosed in Note 8 are as follows:  (cont’d)

 (viii) As announced on 15 December 2017, MQREIT appointed KLSSB and MRCB Sentral Properties Sdn. Bhd. (“MSP”) 

for the following services at Menara Shell for a period of two (2) years commencing from 22 December 2017 to 21 

December 2019:

  1.  KLSSB as Cybercentre Manager for the annual compliance audit fee of RM50,000 (excluding GST). Total 

amount incurred in 2018 amounted to RM50,022.

  2. MSP as MSC One-stop Centre Support Services Provider for the monthly service fee of RM30,000 (excluding 

GST). Total amount incurred in 2018 amounted to RM359,857.

   KLSSB, a 74% subsidiary of MRCB, was incorporated in Malaysia on 7 November 1994. The principal activity is 

sale of land and property development. Kuala Lumpur Sentral was granted MSC Malaysia Cybercentre Status 

on 9 February 2006 and KLSSB has been appointed as the Cybercentre Manager.

   MSP, a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRCB, was incorporated in Malaysia on 14 November 1990. The principal 

activity of MSP is property development and property management. MSP has been appointed by KLSSB as 

MSC One-stop Centre Support Services Provider for the designated premises located within Kuala Lumpur 

Sentral.

 (ix) Event space charges for MRCB town hall session at Menara Shell amounted to RM3,000, with MRCB.   

       

35. INTEREST RATE SWAP (“IRS”) ARRANGEMENTS

 As part of the active interest rate management strategy of MQREIT, the following IRS arrangements have been entered 

into:

 (i) On 21 April 2015, an IRS arrangement swapping floating rate for fixed rate for a notional amount of RM139.5 million 

(“IRS No. 7”) was entered into in relation to the RM279 million CP (Note 22(b)) with HSBC. Pursuant to IRS No. 7, 

MQREIT will pay a fixed rate of 3.82% per annum to HSBC whilst HSBC will pay a floating rate to MQREIT. IRS No. 7 

commenced on 21 April 2015 and will mature on 30 March 2020.

 (ii) On 21 April 2015, an IRS arrangement swapping floating rate for fixed rate for a notional amount of RM139.5 million 

(“IRS No. 8”) was entered into in relation to the RM279 million CP (Note 22(b)) with CIMB. Pursuant to IRS No. 8, 

MQREIT will pay a fixed rate of 3.82% per annum to CIMB whilst CIMB will pay a floating rate to MQREIT. IRS No. 8 

commenced on 21 April 2015 and will mature on 30 March 2020.

 The differences between the floating rate and the fixed rate of the respective IRS arrangements are settled between 

MQREIT and the banks (HSBC and CIMB) on a quarterly basis. These are charged or credited to profit or loss accordingly.

 The risk associated with the IRS arrangements above would be credit risk, which is the counterparty risk of the financial 

institutions with whom the IRS were contracted. However, the Manager has taken precaution to mitigate this risk by 

entering into the IRS contracts with reputable licensed financial institutions.

 The fair values of the IRS arrangements are the estimated amount that would be received or paid to terminate the IRS 

arrangements as at the reporting date, taking into account interest rate market conditions. The fair values are obtained 

based on quotes provided by the financial institutions. 

 MQREIT was eligible to apply hedge accounting for its IRS arrangements with effect from 1 October 2010, upon satisfying 

the requirements of the standard. The portion of the changes in fair values of the IRS arrangements that was determined 

to be an effective hedge was recognised in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion was recognised in 

profit or loss. Prior to adoption of hedge accounting, the fair value changes of the IRS arrangements were recognised in 

profit or loss. 
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35. INTEREST RATE SWAP (“IRS”) ARRANGEMENTS  (cont’d)

 The fair values of the derivative liabilities and the maturity profile as at the respective dates are as follows:

2018 2017

 RM  RM 

More than 1 year and less than 5 years  428,022  665,731

36. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

 (a) Proposed disposal of Quill Building 8 - DHL XPJ (“QB8”) to Transmark Corporation Sdn. Bhd. for a cash 

consideration of RM28 million (“Proposed Disposal”)

  As announced on 8 January 2018, Maybank Trustees Berhad (“MTB”), acting solely in the capacity as trustee for and 

on behalf of MQREIT, has entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 8 January 2018 (“SPA”) with Transmark 

Corporation Sdn. Bhd. (“TCSB” or “the Purchaser”) for the Proposed Disposal of a single storey detached warehouse 

annexed with a 3-storey office building, a refuse chamber and two guard houses located at No. 8, Jalan Pemaju 

U1/15, Hicom Glenmarie Industrial Park, Section U1, 40150 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan erected on a parcel 

of freehold land held under H. S. (D) 267028, PT 1955 in the Town of Bandar Glenmarie, District of Petaling, State of 

Selangor (“QB8” or “Property”), for a cash consideration of RM28 million.

  On 12 April 2018, the Board of Directors of MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd., the management company of 

MQREIT, is pleased to announce that the Proposed Disposal has been completed on the same day in accordance to 

the terms and conditions of the SPA executed on 8 January 2018.

 (b) Issuance of 3,783,000 new Units in MQREIT for the purpose of the payment of management fee to MQM

  On 4 April 2018, announcement was made to Bursa Malaysia on the issuance of 3,783,000 new Units in MRCB-Quill 

REIT (“MQREIT”) for the purpose of the payment of management fee to MRCB Quill Management Sdn Bhd, the 

management company of MQREIT, based on 5-day volume weighted average market price of RM1.0506 per Unit.

  As announced on 5 April 2018, the Board of Directors of the Manager concluded that the issuance has been 

completed with the listing of 3,783,000 new Units of the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on the 

same day.

  With the listing of the said new Units, the enlarged fund size of MQREIT is 1,071,783,000 Units.

37. SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENT

 There is no significant event subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2018.
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38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 (a) Determination of fair value

  Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and where carrying amounts are reasonable approximations 

of fair value

  The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 

reasonable approximations of fair value:

Note

Trade and other receivables 18

Lease receivables 17

Deposits, cash and bank balances 19

Borrowings 22

Trade and other payables (including security deposits) 21

  The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximations of fair values, either due 

to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are repriced to market interest rates on or 

near the reporting date.

  The fair values of long term borrowings and security deposits are estimated by discounting expected future cash 

flows at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the 

reporting date. 

 (b) Fair value measurement 

  MQREIT uses the hierarchy as disclosed in Note 3.21 in determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 

instruments.

  Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 

31 December 2017 are as follows:

  Total  Level 2  Level 3

 RM  RM  RM 

As at 31 December 2018

Assets measured at fair value

Investment properties  2,177,600,000  -  2,177,600,000 

Liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative liabilities

- non-current  (428,022)  (428,022)  - 

As at 31 December 2017

Assets measured at fair value

Investment properties  2,179,200,000  -  2,179,200,000 

Liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative liabilities

- non-current  (665,731)  (665,731)  - 
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38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Fair value measurement  (cont’d)

  Level 2 fair value

  Level 2 fair value of the derivatives has been derived by reference to mark-to-market values quoted by financial 

institutions as at the reporting date.

  Level 3 fair value

  Level 3 fair value of investment properties has been derived using the investment method as disclosed in Note 15.

  There were no material transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial year.

  Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair value of MQREIT’s financial instruments, 

other than those with carrying amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values:

 Note  Carrying

 amount  Fair value 

  RM  RM 

Financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2018

Fixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million 22(a)  116,842,726  117,117,904 

Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan Facility of up to RM250 million 22(b)  109,833,591 107,736,154

As at 31 December 2017

Fixed Rate Term Loan Facility of up to RM150 million 22(a)  116,868,449  117,000,000 

Fixed Rate Subordinated Term Loan Facility of up to RM250 million 22(b)  109,690,760  108,997,055

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

 MQREIT is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and use of financial instruments, including interest rate 

risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

 MQREIT has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the costs of risks occurring and the 

costs of managing the risks. The Manager continuously monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that 

an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies are reviewed regularly to reflect 

changes in market conditions and MQREIT’s activities.

 The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors the compliance with stated risk management policies and 

procedures, assisted by the internal auditor. The internal auditor undertakes regular review of risk management controls 

and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

 The following section provides details of MQREIT’s exposures to the above mentioned risks and the objectives and policies 

for the management of these risks:
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  (cont’d)

 (a) Interest rate risk

  MQREIT’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to borrowings as disclosed in Note 22. Interest rate 

is managed on an on-going basis with the primary objective of limiting the extent to which net interest expense 

could be affected by adverse movements in interest rates. IRS arrangements have been entered into to partially 

manage the exposure to interest rate risk. Details of the IRS arrangements are as disclosed in Note 35.

  Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

  At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 10 basis points (“bps”) lower/higher, with all other variables remain 

constant, MQREIT’s income net of taxation as a result of lower/higher interest income on short term deposits and 

interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings would have the following effects:

 Income, 

 net of taxation

 2018  2017 

 RM  RM 

Interest rate

- 10 bps  94,631  100,774 

+ 10 bps  (94,631)  (100,774)

 (b) Credit risk

  Credit risk is defined as the risk of potential financial loss resulting from failure of a customer or counterparty to 

settle its financial and contractual obligations to MQREIT as and when they fall due. 

  MQREIT’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade receivables. The risk is controlled by credit verification 

procedures before lease agreements are entered into with tenants to ensure creditworthy and good standing 

tenants are selected. MQREIT has a stringent collection policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is mitigated by 

diligent on-going monitoring of outstanding receivables and collection of security deposits from tenants. 

  For other financial assets, MQREIT minimises the credit risk by dealing with high credit rating counterparties and/or 

reputable and licensed financial institutions.

  As at 31 December 2018, MQREIT’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of its 

financial assets as follows: 

  Note 2018 2017

  RM  RM 

Trade and other receivables* 18 5,462,553  4,566,324 

Deposits, cash and bank balances 19  85,775,603  76,041,326 

Lease receivables 17  2,014,930  2,745,750 

  * trade and other receivables exclude prepayments

             

 (c) Liquidity risk 

  Liquidity risk is the risk that MQREIT will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of 

funds, which may potentially arise from mismatches of maturities of financial assets and liabilities. As the timing 

of funding arrangements can be critical, MQREIT may be exposed to the risk of its real estate properties being 

foreclosed in the interim.           
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  (cont’d)

 (c) Liquidity risk  (cont’d)

  To mitigate liquidity risk, the Manager maintains adequate level of cash and cash equivalents and arranges for 

refinancing of MQREIT’s borrowings on a timely basis to fund MQREIT’s operations and meet its financial obligations. 

In addition, the Manager also monitors and observes the SC REIT Guidelines concerning the limits to total 

borrowings and ensures compliance with stated financial covenants per terms of its borrowings.

  Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of MQREIT’s liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual 

undiscounted repayment obligations:

On demand

 or within 

 one year 

 One to five 

 years 

 Over five 

 years  Total 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

As at 31 December 2018

Trade and other payables*  13,444,295  -  -  13,444,295 

Borrowings  38,795,095  918,453,340  -  957,248,435 

Security deposits  10,042,778 6,289,656  7,749,849  24,082,283 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities  62,282,168 924,742,996  7,749,849  994,775,013 

As at 31 December 2017

Trade and other payables*  19,411,979  -  -  19,411,979 

Borrowings  153,563,373  812,646,954  -  966,210,327 

Security deposits  12,828,214  9,516,024  7,720,729  30,064,967 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities  185,803,566  822,162,978  7,720,729  1,015,687,273 

  * trade and other payables excludes deferred lease income    

             

 (d) Market risk

  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate and unit fund prices which will affect 

MQREIT’s financial results or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 

return on risk.
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40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 The Manager aims to optimise MQREIT’s capital structure and cost of capital within the borrowing limits set out in the 

SC REIT Guidelines and uses a combination of debt and equity to fund future acquisitions and improvement works. The 

strategies involve:

 (i) Adopting and maintaining an optimal gearing level; and

 (ii) Adopting an active interest rate management strategy to manage the risk associated with changes in interest rates,

 while maintaining flexibility in MQREIT’s capital structure to meet future investment and/or capital expenditure 

requirements.

 Pursuant to Clause 8.32 of the SC REIT Guidelines, the total borrowings of a real estate investment trust (including 

borrowings through issuance of debt securities), should not exceed 50% of its total asset value at the time the borrowings 

are incurred. 

 The Manager employs a combination of appropriate and flexible debt and financing policies to manage both current and 

future funding requirements of MQREIT. The Manager, on an on-going basis, manages the capital structure of MQREIT and 

makes adjustments to it when necessary, in the light of changes in economic conditions.

Note 2018  2017

 RM  RM 

Total borrowings 22  853,704,352  853,452,854 

Total assets  2,271,705,292  2,288,392,194 

Gearing ratio (%)  37.58  37.29

41. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

 No segmental reporting is prepared as MQREIT’s activities are predominantly in one industry segment and its properties 

are situated in Malaysia.
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DISTRIBUTION OF UNITHOLDINGS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018       

       

Unit Class

No. of

Unitholders

% of

Unitholders

No. of

Unitholdings

% of

Unitholdings

Less than 100  109  1.83  1,352  -   

100 - 1,000  975  16.36  673,848  0.06 

1,001 - 10,000  2,868  48.12  15,333,060  1.43 

10,001 - 100,000  1,697  28.47  57,738,740  5.39 

100,001 to less than 5% of issued units  308  5.17  455,353,900  42.49 

5% and above of issued units  3  0.05  542,682,100  50.63 

TOTAL  5,960  100.00  1,071,783,000  100.00 

CLASSIFICATION OF UNITHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

CATEGORY OF UNITHOLDERS

NO. OF UNITHOLDERS NO. OF UNITS

MALAYSIAN

FOREIGN

MALAYSIAN

FOREIGN
BUMIPUTRA

NON-

BUMIPUTRA
BUMIPUTRA

NON-

BUMIPUTRA

1. Individual  114  4,328  80  1,239,800  93,047,436  3,819,010 

2. Body Corporate

Banks/Finance Companies  10  -    -    180,971,200  -    -   

Investments Trusts/

Foundations/Charities  -    2  -    -    250,500  -   

Other Types of Companies  19  72  1  2,876,900  31,995,300  58,000 

3. Government Agencies/

Institutions  -    -    -    -    -    -   

4. Nominees  877  398  59  326,072,950  307,820,504  123,631,400 

5. Others  -    -    -    -    -    -   

TOTAL  1,020  4,800  140  511,160,850  433,113,740  127,508,410 

GRAND TOTAL 5,960 1,071,783,000

UNITHOLDINGS AND 30 LARGEST UNITHOLDERS
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LIST OF TOP 30 HOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

NO. NAME HOLDINGS %

1 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

MALAYSIAN RESOURCES CORPORATION BERHAD

297,917,000 27.80

2 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD

127,725,100 11.92

3 HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD

HSBC-FS FOR CAPITACOMMERCIAL TRUST

117,040,000 10.92

4 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR QUILL PROPERTIES SDN BHD (IB)

40,865,000 3.81

5 KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) 35,086,100 3.27

6 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA

35,000,000 3.27

7 VALUECAP SDN BHD 33,896,300 3.16

8 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA

22,919,300 2.14

9 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA 2

20,000,000 1.87

10 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR QUILL ESTATES SDN BHD (IB)

16,158,000 1.51

11 HONG LEONG ASSURANCE BERHAD

AS BENEFICIAL OWNER (LIFE PAR)

16,118,300 1.50

12 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD

HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR ALLIANZ LIFE INSURANCE MALAYSIA BERHAD (P)

15,627,000 1.46

13 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA 2 - WAWASAN

15,600,000 1.46

14 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD

GREAT EASTERN LIFE ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (PAR 3)

15,178,300 1.42

15 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD

GREAT EASTERN LIFE ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (PAR 1)

13,669,200 1.28

16 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR ZURICH LIFE INSURANCE MALAYSIA BERHAD (LIFE PAR)

11,138,600 1.04

17 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA 3

11,000,000 1.03

18 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

GREAT EASTERN LIFE ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (PAR 4)

9,304,900 0.87

19 CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

PAMB FOR PARTICIPATING FUND

5,196,900 0.48

20 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

EXEMPT AN FOR AIA BHD.

4,788,600 0.45

21 DB (MALAYSIA) NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD

DEUTSCHE TRUSTEES MALAYSIA BERHAD FOR EASTSPRING INVESTMENTSSMALL-CAP 

FUND

4,648,800 0.43

22 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) (AFFIN HWNG SM CF)

4,297,100 0.40

23 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR PERTUBUHAN KESELAMATAN SOSIAL (AFF HWG6939-403)

4,281,000 0.40

UNITHOLDINGS AND 30 LARGEST UNITHOLDERS
(cont’d)
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LIST OF TOP 30 HOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018  (cont’d)

NO. NAME HOLDINGS %

24 HSBC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

HSBC (M) TRUSTEE BHD FOR AFFIN HWANG SELECT OPPORTUNITY FUND (3969)

4,226,800 0.39

25 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

ASN EQUITY 2

3,900,000 0.36

26 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) (ESPG IV SC E)

3,281,600 0.31

27 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD

ASN UMBRELLA FOR ASN IMBANG (MIXED ASSET BALANCED) 2

3,269,500 0.31

28 CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

PAMB FOR PRULINK EQUITY INCOME FUND

3,000,000 0.28

29 DB (MALAYSIA) NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD

DEUTSCHE TRUSTEES MALAYSIA BERHAD FOR EASTSPRING INVESTMENTSEQUITY  

INCOME FUND

2,996,800 0.28

30 MRCB QUILL MANAGEMENT SDN BHD 2,857,000 0.27

TOTAL 900,987,200 84.06

UNITHOLDINGS AND 30 LARGEST UNITHOLDERS
(cont’d)
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REIT
MRCB-QUILL REIT

(Established in Malaysia under the Deed of Trust dated 9 October 2006, as amended by the first supplemental deed dated 27 August 

2007, the second supplemental deed dated 28 May 2013 and third supplemental deed dated 2 April 2015 entered into between MRCB 

Quill Management Sdn Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia and Maybank Trustees Berhad, a company incorporated in Malaysia 

under the Companies Ordinances, 1940 to 1946)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Seventh Annual General Meeting of MRCB-Quill REIT (“MQREIT”) will be held at the Grand 

Ballroom, Level 2, Aloft Kuala Lumpur Sentral, No. 5, Jalan Stesen Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 3 April 2019 at 

10.00 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof, for the following purposes:

AGENDA

As Ordinary Business:

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 of 

MQREIT together with the Trustee’s Report to the Unitholders issued by Maybank Trustees Berhad, 

as the trustee for MQREIT (“Trustee”) and the Statement by the Manager issued by MRCB Quill 

Management Sdn Bhd, as the Manager of MQREIT (“Manager”) and the Auditors’ Report thereon. 

(Please refer to 

Explanatory Note 1)

  

As Special Business:

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with or without modifications:

2. Proposed authority to allot and issue new units of MQREIT

 

 “THAT  subject to the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and 

the approval of the relevant regulatory authorities being obtained, authority be and is hereby given 

to the Directors of the Manager, to issue and allot new units in MQREIT (“New Units”) at any time 

until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting, in such number and to such person and 

upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors of the Manager, may in 

their absolute discretion, deem fit and expedient in the best interest of MQREIT, provided that the 

aggregate number of the New Units to be issued pursuant to this resolution, when aggregated 

with the number of units issued during the preceding 12 months must not exceed 20% of the total 

number of issued units of MQREIT for the time being comprising  1,071,783,000 units (“Proposed 

Authority”);

 THAT the New Units to be issued pursuant to the Proposed Authority shall, upon allotment and 

issue, rank pari passu in all respects with the existing units except that the New Units will not be 

entitled to any income distribution, right, benefit, entitlement and/or any other distributions that 

may be declared prior to the date of allotment and issuance of such New Units;

 THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Manager and the Trustee, acting for 

and on behalf of MQREIT, to give effect to the Proposed Authority with full powers to assent to any 

conditions, modifications, variations and/or amendments as they may deem fit in the best interest 

of MQREIT and/or may be imposed by the relevant authorities; 

 AND THAT the Directors of the Manager and the Trustee, acting for and on behalf of MQREIT, be 

and are hereby authorised to implement, finalise, complete and do all acts, deeds and things 

(including executing such documents as may be required) in relation to the Proposed Authority.”

Ordinary Resolution

NOTICE OF SEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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3. To transact such other business of which due notice shall have been given in accordance with the 

Trust Deed constituting MQREIT.

 

 

 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

MRCB Quill Management Sdn Bhd 

(The Manager of MRCB-Quill REIT)

 

 

Mohamed Noor Rahim bin Yahaya (MAICSA 0866820)

Ho Ngan Chui (MAICSA 7014785)

Company Secretaries

 

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 28 February 2019

Notes:

1. Only Unitholders whose name appear in the Record of Depositors of MQREIT on 29 March 2019 shall be eligible to attend in person or 

appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on their behalf at the Seventh Annual General Meeting.

2. A Unitholder who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint another person to attend and vote in his stead. A 

proxy may but need not be a Unitholder.

3. Where a Unitholder appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless it specifies the proportions of its holdings to be 

represented by each proxy.

4. Where a Unitholder is an exempt authorised nominee which holds the units for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account, 

there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it 

holds.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of its attorney duly authorised in writing or if 

the appointor is a corporation either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certified 

copy of such power or authority shall be deposited at the Registered Address of MRCB Quill Management Sdn Bhd at Level 33A, Menara 

NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time 

appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

NOTICE OF SEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Explanatory Notes on Ordinary and Special Business:

1. Item 1 of the Agenda

 The Audited Financial Statements under Agenda 1 are laid before the unitholders for discussion only in accordance with Clause 13.18(b) 

of the Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trust issued by the Securities Commission Malaysia on 15 March 2018, the audited 

financial statements do not require a formal approval of the unitholders and hence, the matter is not put forward for voting.

2. Item 2 of the Agenda – Proposed Authority

 The proposed ordinary resolution, if passed, will give a mandate to the Directors of the Manager to issue and allot units of MQREIT 

from time to time provided that the aggregate number of the New Units to be issued, when aggregated with the number of units issued 

during the preceding 12 months does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued units of MQREIT for the time being. This Proposed 

Authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of MQREIT.

 As at the date of this notice, MQREIT has not issued any units under the mandate which was approved at the 6th AGM held on 11 April 

2018 and which will lapse at the conclusion of the 7th AGM.

 The Proposed Authority will allow MQREIT the flexibility to allot and issue New Units to raise funds to finance future investments, 

acquisitions and capital expenditure projects to enhance the value of MQREIT and/or to refinance existing debt as well as for working 

capitals purposes without convening a general meeting, which may delay the capital raising initiatives and incur relevant costs in 

organising the required general meeting. 

NOTICE OF SEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(cont’d)
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PROXY FORM
(Please see the notes below before completing the form)

MRCB-QUILL REIT

Number of Unit(s) held CDS Account No.

– –

I/We (FULL NAME IN CAPITAL LETTERS) 

NRIC No./Passport No./Company No.  of (FULL ADDRESS) 

 

 

being a unitholder/unitholders of MRCB-Quill REIT hereby appoint:

Name of Proxy in capital letters

Proportion on Unitholdings to be represented by the Proxies:

Number of Units Percentage [%]

Proxy 1
NRIC No./Passport No.:

And/or failing him/her

Proxy 2
NRIC No./Passport No.:

Total

or failing him/her the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Seventh 

Annual General Meeting of MRCB-Quill REIT to be held at the Grand Ballroom, Level 2, Aloft Kuala Lumpur Sentral, No. 5, Jalan 

Stesen Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 3 April 2019 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

My/our proxies is to vote on the Resolution as indicated by an “X” in the appropriate spaces below. If this form is returned 

without any indication as to how the proxy shall vote, the proxy shall vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit.

No. Resolution For Against

1 Proposed Authority

Dated this  day of  2019

                 Signature of Unitholder

* DELETE IF NOT APPLICABLE

Notes:
Proxy
1. Only Unitholders whose name appear in the Record of Depositors of MQREIT on 29 March 2019 shall be eligible to attend in person or 

appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on their behalf at the Sixth Annual General Meeting.

2. A Unitholder who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint another person to attend and vote in his stead. A 
proxy may but need not be a unitholder.

3. Where a Unitholder appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless it specifies the proportions of its holdings to be 
represented by each proxy.

4. Where a Unitholder is an exempt authorised nominee which holds the units for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account, 
there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it 
holds.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of its attorney duly authorised in writing or if 
the appointor is a corporation either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certified 
copy of such power or authority shall be deposited at the Registered Address of MRCB Quill Management Sdn Bhd at Level 33A, Menara 
NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.
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1st fold here

Fold this flap for sealing

Then fold here

The Company Secretary

MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd.

The Manager of MRCB-Quill REIT 

Level 33A, Menara NU 2,

No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan,

Kuala Lumpur Sentral,

50470 Kuala Lumpur.



MRCB Quill Management Sdn. Bhd. (737252-X) 
(the Manager of MRCB-Quill REIT)

Level 35, Menara NU 2, No. 203, Jalan Tun Sambanthan,
Kuala Lumpur Sentral, 50470 Kuala Lumpur.
Tel : +603 2786 8080 / 2859 7070  
Fax : +603 2780 0098
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